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Special Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

Certain disclosures and analysis in this Form 10-K, including information incorporated by reference, may include forward-looking statements within
the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”), Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended
(the “Exchange Act”), and the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 that are subject to various risks and uncertainties. Opinions, forecasts,
projections, guidance, or other statements other than statements of historical fact are considered forward-looking statements and reflect only current views
about future events and financial performance. Some of these forward-looking statements include statements regarding:

* management’s plans and objectives for future operations;

»  existing cash flows being adequate to fund future operational needs;

» future plans related to budgets, future capital requirements, market share growth, and anticipated capital projects and obligations;
e therealization of net deferred tax assets;

+ the ability to curtail operating expenditures;

» global statutory tax rates remaining unchanged;

* the impact of future market changes due to exposure to foreign currency translations;

» the possibility of certain policies, procedures, and internal processes minimizing exposure to market risk;
* the impact of new accounting pronouncements on financial condition, results of operations, or cash flows;
* the outcome of new or existing litigation matters;

+ the outcome of new or existing regulatory inquiries or investigations; and

*  otherassumptions described in this report underlying such forward-looking statements.

Although we believe that the expectations included in these forward-looking statements are reasonable, these forward-looking statements are subject
to certain events, risks, assumptions, and uncertainties, including those discussed below and in the “Risk Factors” section in Item 1 A of this Form 10-K, and
elsewhere in this Form 10-K and the documents incorporated by reference herein. If one or more of these risks or uncertainties materialize, or if our underlying
assumptions prove to be incorrect, actual results and developments could materially differ from those expressed in or implied by such forward-looking
statements. For example, any of the following factors could cause actual results to vary materially from our projections:

» overall growth or lack of growth in the nutritional supplements industry;

»  plans for expected future product development;

* changes in manufacturing costs;

»  shifts in the mix of packs and products;

» the impact of our changes to global associate career and compensation plans or incentives or the regulations governing such plans and
incentives;

+ the ability to attract and retain independent associates and preferred customers;

* new regulatory changes that may affect operations, products or compensation plans and incentives;

* the competitive nature of our business with respect to products and pricing;

*  publicity related to our products or network marketing; and

» the political, social, and economic climate of the countries in which we operate.

Forward-looking statements generally can be identified by use of phrases or terminology such as “may,” “will,” “should,” “could,” “would,”
“expects,” “plans,” “intends,” “anticipates,” “believes,” “estimates,” “approximates,” “predicts,” “projects,” “hopes,” “potential,” and “continues” or other
similar words or the negative of such terms and other comparable terminology. Similarly, descriptions of Mannatech’s objectives, strategies, plans, goals, or
targets contained herein are also considered forward-looking statements. Readers are cautioned when considering these forward-looking statements to keep in
mind these risks, assumptions, and uncertainties and any other cautionary statements in this report, as all of the forward-looking statements contained herein
speak only as of the date of this report.

2 ” ” ” ” 2 G

Unless stated otherwise, all financial information throughout this report and in the Consolidated Financial Statements and related Notes include

Mannatech, Incorporated and all of its subsidiaries on a consolidated basis and may be referred to herein as “Mannatech,” “the Company,” “its,” “we,” “our,”
or “their.”

Our products are not intended to diagnose, cure, treat, or prevent any disease, and any statements about our products contained in this report have
not been evaluated by the Food and Drug Administration, also referred to herein as the “FDA”.

1
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PART I
Item 1. Business
Overview

Mannatech is a global wellness solution provider, which was incorporated and began operations in November 1993. We develop and sell
innovative, high quality, proprietary nutritional supplements, topical and skin care and anti-aging products, and weight-management products that target
optimal health and wellness. We currently sell our products in three regions: (i) the Americas (the United States, Canada, Colombia and Mexico); (ii)
Europe/the Middle East/Africa (‘EMEA”) (Austria, the Czech Republic, Denmark, Estonia, Finland, Germany, the Republic of Ireland, Namibia, the
Netherlands, Norway, South Africa, Spain, Sweden and the United Kingdom); and (iii) Asia/Pacific (Australia, Japan, New Zealand, the Republic of Korea,
Singapore, Taiwan, Hong Kong, and China).

We primarily sell our products through network marketing via our associates ("independent associate" or “associates”) and directly to our "preferred
customers", which we believe is the most cost-effective way to quickly and effectively introduce our products and communicate information about our
business to the global marketplace. Network marketing minimizes upfront costs, as compared to conventional marketing methods, and allows us to be more
responsive to the ever-changing overall market conditions, as well as continue to research and develop high quality products and focus on controlled
successful international expansion. We believe the network marketing channel also allows us to effectively communicate the potential benefits and unique
properties of our proprietary products to our consumers. In addition, network marketing provides our business-building associates with an avenue to
supplement their income and develop financial freedom by building their own business centered on our business philosophies and unique products. As of
December 31,2017, we had approximately 215,000 active associate and preferred customer positions held by individuals in our network associated with the
purchase of our products and packs and/or payment of associate fees within the last 12 months.

The Company also operates a non-direct selling business in mainland China. In 2016, we formed our China subsidiary, Meitai Daily Necessities &
Health Products Co., Ltd. (“Meitai”). Unlike Mannatech’s business operations in other markets, Meitai operates under a cross-border e-commerce model,
where consumers in China can buy Mannatech products manufactured overseas via Meitai's website. Meitai is currently not a direct selling company in
China nor will it operate under a multi-level marketing model in China. Products purchased on Meitai's website are for personal use and not for resale.

On July 1, 2017, we revised our 2017 Associate Compensation Plan (the "2017 Associate Compensation Plan"), which was designed to stimulate
business growth and development for our active business building associates and to maximize the buying experience for our preferred customers. In doing so,
the Company hopes to better utilize commission dollars to stimulate Company growth. The 2017 Associate Compensation Plan provides revised income
streams, new leadership levels and titles, and modified various volume requirements for our independent associates. In addition, the 2017 Associate
Compensation Plan re-designated members as preferred customers and modified their pricing structure.

Our common stock is currently trading on the NASDAQ Global Select Market (“Nasdaq”) under the symbol “MTEX”. Information for each of our
two most recent fiscal years, with respect to our net sales, results of operations, and identifiable assets is set forth in the Consolidated Financial Statements of
this report.

Available Information

On our website (https://www.mannatech.com), we make available free of charge our annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q,
current reports on Form 8-K, and certain other information filed or furnished with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) as soon as reasonably
practicable after electronically filing or furnishing such material. The SEC maintains a website that contains reports, proxy and information statements, and
other information regarding issuers, including Mannatech, that electronically file with the SEC at http://www.sec.gov. Additionally, such materials are
available in print upon the written request of any shareholder to our principle executive office located at 1410 Lakeside Parkway, Suite 200, Flower Mound,
Texas 75028, Attention: Investor Relations, or by contacting our investor relations department at (972) 471-6512 or IR@mannatech.com.

2
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Business Segment, Products and Product Development

Business Segment. The Company's sole reporting segment is one where we sell proprietary nutritional supplements, skin care and anti-aging
products, and weight-management and fitness products through network marketing distribution channels operating in twenty-five countries. Mannatech’s
subsidiary in China, Meitai, operates under a cross-border e-commerce model, where consumers in China can buy Mannatech products directly from Meitai
via the internet. For more information with respect to the financial results and conditions of this business segment, including financial information about
geographic areas, see Note 15 to our Consolidated Financial Statements, Segment Information.

Products. Scientists have discovered that a healthy body consists of many sophisticated components working in harmony to achieve optimal health
and wellness and requires cellular communication to function at an optimal level. Scientists also discovered that there are more than 200 monosaccharides
that form naturally. Specific monosaccharides are considered vital components for cellular communication in the human body. Furthermore, scientists
discovered that these monosaccharides attach themselves to certain proteins, which then form a molecule called glycoprotein. Harper’s Biochemistry, a
leading and nationally recognized biochemistry reference, has recognized that these molecules are found in human glycoproteins, and are believed to be
essential in helping to promote and provide effective cell-to-cell communication in the human body.

The history of our proprietary ingredients and products is as follows:

* In 1994, we developed and began selling our first products containing Manapol® powder, an ingredient formulated to support cell-to-cell
communication.

* In 1996, we enhanced our products based on the study of glycoproteins and our scientists developed our own proprietary compound,
Ambrotose® complex, which we patented. Our Ambrotose® complex is a blend of polysaccharides (composed of monosaccharides) that helps
provide support for the immune system.

* In 2001, we broadened our proprietary ingredients by developing the Ambroglycin® blend, a balanced food-mineral matrix which helps deliver
nutrients to the body and which is used in our proprietary Catalyst™ and Glycentials® vitamin/mineral supplements.

* In 2004, we introduced our proprietary blend of antioxidant nutrients, MTech AO Blend ® ingredient, which is used in our proprietary
antioxidant Ambrotose AO® product.

* In 2006, we introduced a unique blend of plant-based minerals, natural vitamins, and standardized phytochemicals for use in our proprietary
PhytoMatrix® product. We also introduced a compound used in reformulated Advanced Ambrotose ® complex. This compound allows a more
potent concentration of the full range of mannose-containing polysaccharides occurring naturally in aloe to be produced in a stable powdered
form.

* In 2007, we introduced into the United States market our skin care and anti-aging line of products that supports skin’s natural texture, beauty,
and elasticity. We also launched our PhytoMatrix ® caplets, Advanced Ambrotose ® capsules and MannasBears™ supplement into international
markets.

* In 2008, we introduced a proprietary proteolytic enzyme and phytosterol dietary supplement that supports the body’s natural recovery processes
associated with physical activity in our BounceBack® capsules. We also introduced a proprietary version of whey protein peptide technology
that assists targeted fat loss when combined with exercise and a healthy diet in our OsoLean™ powder.

* In 2009, we introduced our Omega-3, which features EPA/DHA essential acids, PhytoBurst™ Nutritional Chews formulated with vitamins,
minerals, and phytonutrients from food-sourced ingredients, and GI-ProBalance™ Slimstick, which is a synbiotic digestive product containing
probiotics, prebiotics, and digestive enzymes. In addition, we improved our Ambrotose® products to include beta-Carotene.

* In 2010, we launched our Mannatech LIFT™ Skin Care System, which is paraben-free and formulated to give skin a more natural youthful
appearance.

*  In2011, we introduced our reformulated version of our Omega-3 supplement, which now includes Vitamin D3 and features EPA/DHA essential
acids. We expanded several previously launched products from our domestic line to our international markets.
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In 2012, we launched our NutriVerus™ powder, a single product that features all of our core scientific technologies at a very affordable price.
This unique, ground-breaking product combines our core glyconutrient technologies with vitamins, minerals, antioxidants and stabilized rice
bran, all based on Real Food Technology solutions.

In 2013, we launched Uth™ skin cream, a breakthrough in anti-aging that incorporates Mannatech’s glyconutrient technology along with a
microsphere delivery system that supports more thorough delivery of the active ingredients to all levels of the skin.

In 2014, we launched GlycoBOOM™ Advanced Immune Support Supplement, packed with nutrients that are designed to support the body’s
natural defenses.

In 2015, Mannatech introduced a new brain supplement, Cognitate™, featuring a proprietary blend of natural ingredients to aid memory, recall
and cognition.

In 2016, Mannatech rebranded the Company, including all new packaging and labels, introduced a line of Essential Oils, along with an
innovative, natural fat-loss system, TruHealthTM. Comprised in the system is the TruPLENISHT™ Nutritional Shake, TruPURE™ Cleanse
Slimsticks and TruSHAPE™ Fat-Loss Capsules.

In 2017, Mannatech launched several new products, including: GinMAXTM, a fast-acting, long-lasting ginseng supplement that utilizes both
fermented red and fermented white ginseng, fortified with glyconutrients; GlycoCafé™, a glyconutritional coffee made with the whole coffee
fruit; and Luminovation, a line of mass-market and premium Korean beauty products.

Mannatech offers products, which include glyconutrients, a unique category of nutrients sourced from plants and designed to provide a variety of
health benefits. We focus on producing products that are from natural sources, as well as other scientifically based efficacious sources.

Integrative Health, which offers a variety of nutritional supplements that aid in optimizing overall health and wellness. This category includes a
variety of daily nutritional supplements, health solutions for children, and additional nutrients designed to help keep specific body systems at optimal levels.

Targeted Health. which gives bodies an extra edge with products designed to target specific areas and provide additional nutrients that help
support body system health.

Weight and Fitness, which offers products designed to curb appetite and burn fat, build lean muscle tissue, and support recovery from overexertion.

S|

kin Care, which offers several products formulated with more than 30 botanical ingredients that are designed to give the skin a more natural,

youthful appearance by moisturizing, hydrating and reducing the appearance of fine lines and wrinkles.

Home Living, a category of products designed to make homes a peaceful haven which supplement wellness.

The following table summarizes our products by category:

Product Category Representative Products

Ambrotose® complex, Ambrotose AO®, Advanced Ambrotose®, Catalyst™, Cognitate™, GinMAX™,

Integrative Health Manapol® Powder, MannaBears ™, Nutriverus™ Optimal Support Packets, PhytoBurst™ Nutritional Chews,

PhytoMatrix® and PLUS™.

BounceBack®, CardioBALANCE®, GI Pro Balance™ Slimstick, GI-Zyme®, GlycoCafe™, ImmunoSTART®,

T ted Health ™ ™ .. ™ . .. R
argeted Hea Manna-C ", MannaBOOM"" Slimsticks, MannaCLEANSE ", Omega-3 with Vitamin Dy and PhytAloe®.
. . AmbroStart®, OsoLean™, SPORT™, TruHealth Fat Loss System, including: TruPLENISH, TruPURE, TruSHAPE,
Weight and Fitness ™~ . ™~
Tru-C™ and TruCoffee Americano™.
Skin Care Emprizone ®, FIRM with Ambrotose ®, U th™ Facial Cleanser, U th™ Skin Rejuvenation Créme, U th™ Moisturizer,

FreshDen™, Gel Mask, Organt and Luminovation.

Home Living

Serenity Home Diffuser, Essential Oils: Eucalyptus, Fractionated Coconut and Aloe, Frankincense, Lavender,
Lemon, No. 1 Protective Blend, Orange, Peppermint, and Sweet Almond and Aloe.
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Asignificant portion of our revenue is derived from our Ambrotose ®, Advanced Ambrotose®, Manapol®, PLUS™ products and TruHealth™ products.
Revenue from these products were as follows for the years ended December 31,2017 and 2016 (in thousands, except percentages):

2017 2016
Sales by % of total Sales by % of total
product net sales product net sales
Advanced Ambrotose® $ 52,592 29.8% $ 55,863 31.0%
TruHealth™ 16,652 9.4% 9,220 5.1%
Manapol® Powder 11,183 6.3% 2,153 1.2%
Ambrotose® 8,459 4.8% 10,196 5.7%
PLUS ™ 7,461 4.2% 7,935 4.4%
Total $ 96,347 545% $ 85,367 47.4%

Product Development. Our product committee continues to focus on potential new products and compounds that help target or promote overall
health and wellness. When considering new products and compounds, our product committee considers the following criteria:

* marketability and proprietary nature of the product;
* demand for the product;

*  competitors’ products;

* regulatory considerations;

+ availability of ingredients; and

» data supporting claims of efficacy and safety.

To maintain a flexible operating strategy and the ability to increase production capacity, we contract with third-parties to manufacture all of our
products, which allows us to effectively respond to fluctuations in demand with minimal investment and helps control our operating costs. We believe our
suppliers and manufacturers are capable of meeting our current and projected inventory requirements over the next several years. However, as a safety
measure, we continue to identify and approve alternative suppliers and manufacturers to ensure that our global demands are met in a timely manner and to
help minimize any risk of business interruption.

We procure select products from single vendors who control certain product formulations, ingredients, or other intellectual property rights
associated with such products. Certain of our supply agreements contain exclusivity clauses for the supply of certain raw materials and products, some of
which are conditioned upon compliance with minimum purchase requirements. In the event we become unable to source any products or ingredients from our
suppliers, we believe that we would be able to replace those products with alternate suppliers.

Industry Overview

Nutrition Industry

We operate in the nutritional supplement industry and distribute and sell our products through our own global network marketing channel. The
nutritional supplement industry is fast-paced, highly fragmented, and intensely competitive. It includes companies that manufacture and distribute products
that are intended to support the body’s performance and well-being. Nutritional supplements include vitamins, minerals, dietary supplements, herbs,
botanicals, and compounds derived therefrom. Prior to 1990, all dietary supplements in the United States were tightly regulated by the FDA and only
included essential nutrients such as vitamins, minerals, and proteins. In 1990, the Nutrition Labeling and Education Act expanded the category to include
“herbs or similar nutritional substances”, but the FDA maintained control over pre-market approval. However, in 1994, the Dietary Supplement Health and
Education Act of 1994 (“DSHEA”) was passed in the United States, drastically changing the dietary supplement marketplace. The DSHEA was instrumental
in expanding the category of dietary supplements to further include herbal and botanical supplements and ingredients such as ginseng, fish oils, enzymes,
and various mixtures of these ingredients. Under DSHEA, vendors of dietary supplements are now able to educate consumers regarding the effects of certain
component ingredients.
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Nutritional supplements are available through mass-market retailers, drug stores, supermarkets, discount stores, health food stores, mail order
companies, and direct sales organizations. Direct selling, of which network marketing is a significant segment, has grown significantly and has been
enhanced in the past decade as a distribution channel due to advancements in technology and communications resulting in improved product distribution
and faster dissemination of information.

Direct Selling/Network Marketing Channel

Since the 1990s, the direct selling and network marketing sales channel has grown in popularity and general acceptance, including acceptance by
prominent investors and capital investment groups who have invested in direct selling companies. This has provided direct selling companies with
additional recognition and credibility in the growing global marketplace. In addition, many large corporations have diversified their marketing strategy by
entering the direct selling arena. Several consumer-product companies have launched their own direct selling businesses with international operations often
accounting for the majority of their revenues. Consumers and investors are beginning to realize that direct selling provides unique opportunities and a
competitive advantage in today’s markets. Businesses are able to quickly communicate and develop strong relationships with their customers, bypass
expensive ad campaigns, and introduce products and services that would otherwise be difficult to promote through traditional distribution channels such as
retail stores. Direct selling is a channel of distribution with healthy cash flow, high return on invested capital, and long-term prospects for global expansion.
According to the worldwide direct sales data published by the World Federation of Direct Selling Association, in 2016 approximately 107 million global
direct sellers collectively generated annual retail sales of $182.6 billion.

Operating Strengths

1. High-Quality, Innovative, Proprietary Products. We base our product concept on the scientific belief that certain glyconutrients, also known as
monosaccharides, are essential for maintaining a healthy immune system. We believe the addition of effective nutritional supplements to a well-
balanced diet, coupled with an effective exercise program, will enhance and help maintain optimal health and wellness. We focus on producing
products that are from all-natural sources with no synthetic or chemically derived additives. We formulate our products with predominately
naturally-occurring, plant-derived, carbohydrate-based, safe ingredients that are designed to use nutrients working through normal physiology to
help achieve and maintain optimal health and wellness, rather than developing common synthetic, carbohydrate-based products.

We believe that our patented blends and formulas distinguish us as a leader in the global nutritional supplements industry. We also believe
the use of unique compounds found in our products allows us to effectively differentiate and distinguish our products from those of our competitors.

2. Research and Development Efforts. We are steadfast in our commitment to quality-driven research and development. We use systematic processes
for the research and development of our unique proprietary product formulas, as well as the identification of quality suppliers and manufacturers. Our

research and quality assurance programs are outlined on our corporate websites www.mannatechscience.org, www.mannatech.com, and
www.allaboutmannatech.com.

Mannatech’s team of experienced researchers and scientists continually reviews the latest published research data, attends scientific
conferences, and draws upon its vast knowledge and expertise to develop new products and support existing ones. In addition, this team works in
collaboration with other research firms, universities, institutes, and scientists. Our products have been the focus of numerous pre-clinical and clinical
studies.

To support our research and development efforts, we have strategic alliances with our suppliers, consultants, and manufacturers that allow
us to effectively identify and develop high-quality, innovative, proprietary products that increase our competitive advantage in the marketplace.

These efforts include developing and maintaining quality standards, supporting development efforts for new ingredients and compounds,
and improving or enhancing existing products or ingredients. In addition, our research and development team identifies other quality-driven
suppliers and manufacturers for both our global and regional needs.
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Research and development costs — relating to new product development, enhancement of existing products, clinical studies and trials, FDA
compliance studies, general supplies, internal salaries, third-party contractors, and consulting fees — were approximately $1.2 million for the year
ended December 31,2017 and $1.4 million for the year ended December 31,2016.

3. Quality Assurance Program. Mannatech uses only qualified manufacturing contractors to produce, test, and package our finished products. These
contractors must be compliant and current with required certifications and they must strictly adhere to our own quality standards for all markets.
Certifications and guidelines that our contract manufacturers are required to carry and/or follow include:

* the FDA’s current Good Manufacturing Practices for manufacturing, packaging, labeling, and holding of dietary supplements;
* the FDA’s Good Manufacturing Practices for human food;

* the requirements of the Natural Health Products Directorate of Canada;

* the Korean Food and Drug Administration;

+ certification by the Therapeutic Goods Administration of Australia, when necessary;

* the European Union’s Food Supplement Directive and Nutrition and Health Claims Regulations, as well as individual member state
legislation;

+ the Taiwan Food and Drug Administration;

+  the Japan Ministry of Health Labor and Welfare;

+ the Singapore Health Sciences Authority;

* the South African Department of Health and Medicines Control Council;

+ the Hong Kong Food and Environmental Hygiene Department and Department of Health Drug Office; and
» the China Food and Drug Administration.

We have an established quality assurance program designed to ensure our manufacturers’ compliance with these certifications and
guidelines, and to ensure that proper controls are maintained during the manufacturing, evaluation, packaging, storage, and distribution of our
products. These controls include a comprehensive supplier audit and surveillance program, third-party certifications, and continuous product
monitoring.

A team of professionals, many of whom have extensive experience in the pharmaceutical industry, leads our in-house quality assurance
program and continually monitors the quality of our products, including the production process. In addition, they work with suppliers and
manufacturers to develop quality standards for raw material components and products, and perform tests and inspections to ensure that finished
products are safe and of high quality prior to release.

We require our dietary supplements to be packaged with seals to help minimize the risk of tampering. We also perform stability studies
under both controlled ambient and accelerated temperature storage conditions to ensure label claims throughout the shelflife of our products.

To further ensure product quality, we seek qualified independent organizations to conduct further product testing. To date, numerous
products have been tested, and:

* ten products are certified according to the NSF/ANSI 173 Dietary Supplement Standard—the only American National Standard for
dietary supplements. This certification ensures that this product contains only the ingredients indicated on the label and is free of
impurities, and that Good Manufacturing Practices were used in the manufacturing facility; and

+ all of Mannatech's dietary supplements have been confirmed to be gluten-free.

4. Global Scientific Advisory Board. A charter for an advisory board has been established and the board is filled by a combination of independent
scientists and doctors from multiple disciplines, along with two members of Mannatech staff. Members of the Global Scientific Advisory Board
("GSAB") review each new and reformulated product to ensure ingredients and products are up to Mannatech’s high standards and are in line with
the latest, viable research. The GSAB may also make ingredient and product suggestions for new products.
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5. High-Caliber, Industry-Leading Independent Associates. Our global team of independent associates is comprised of dedicated, hard-working, high-
caliber individuals, many of whom have been associated with the network marketing industry for decades and have been loyal to us since our
beginning in 1993. To capitalize on their wealth of knowledge and experience, we sponsor panels of independent associates in councils based
around the world which help identify and effectively relay the needs of our independent business-building associates to us. These advisory councils
meet periodically with our team of senior management to recommend changes, discuss issues, and provide new ideas or concepts, including a full
spectrum of innovative ideas for additional quality-driven nutritional supplements aimed at maintaining optimal health and wellness.

6. Support Philosophy for Our Independent Associates and Preferred Customers. We are fully committed to providing the highest level of support
services to our independent associates and preferred customers and believe that we meet expectations and build customer loyalty through the
following:

+ offering highly-personalized and responsive customer service;
+  offering a satisfaction guarantee product return policy;

» providing comprehensive corporate websites (www.mannatech.com, www.allaboutmannatech.com, www.mannatechscience.org,
www.library.mannatech.com, www.events.mannatech.com, www.mannafest.com and www.system.mannatech.com) that provide instant
access to Internet ordering, marketing, technical and educational information, and unique and innovative marketing tools;

* maintaining an extensive web-based downline management system called Success Tracker™ that provides access to web conferencing
and downline organization reporting for our independent associates at minimal costs;

* providing Mannatech+, an app and web-based platform to provide personalized web pages, to share videos, digital flyers, and more;
»  offering, in the United States and Canada, an effective compilation of online marketing and training tools;

+  offering updated training/orientation and compliance programs for our independent associates;

+ providing strategically based distribution fulfillment centers to ensure products are shipped on time and at minimal cost; and

* sponsoring marketing events, designed to provide information, education, and motivation for our dedicated business-building associates
and to help stimulate business development. These events provide an interactive venue for introducing new products and services and
allow interaction between our management teams, outside researchers, and independent associates.

7. Flexible Operating Strategy. We believe efficiency, focus, and flexibility are paramount to our operations. For more than a decade, we have
contracted with third parties to supply and manufacture our proprietary raw materials and products, which we believe allows us to minimize capital
expenditures, capitalize on such parties’ expertise, and build additional resources for strategic alliances in the areas of distribution and logistics,
product registration, and export requirements. By contracting with various suppliers and manufacturers and by outsourcing distribution for all of our
operations, we believe we can quickly adapt operations to current demands in a timely, efficient, and cost-effective manner. We monitor the
performance of our third party contractors to ensure they maintain a high quality of service. In addition, we identify alternative sources for our raw
materials suppliers and finished goods manufacturers to help prevent any risk of interruption in production should any existing contractors become
unable to perform satisfactorily.

8. Experience and Depth of Our Management Team and Board of Directors. We believe that our team of executives has extensive experience in every

aspect of business operations and is highly focused on our success. At December 31, 2017, our Board of Directors is composed of seven directors,
including five independent directors, and one advisory director. The advisory director does not have the authority to vote on matters coming before
the Board of Directors and his presence or absence does not affect the constitution of a quorum. We believe our board members have a wealth of
knowledge and experience in most aspects of our business operations and are especially well versed in network marketing, finance, nutritional
products, regulatory matters, and corporate governance. Our entire management team is committed to delivering high-quality products and superior
service.
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Business Strategy

Our long-term goal is to be one of the world’s leading network marketing companies founded on the best science-based proprietary products by
incorporating a powerful global independent network distribution model into our charitable giving program. To achieve our goal, we believe we must focus
on the following business priorities:

»  Strengthening our Financial Results and Adding Value to Our Shareholders and Independent Associates. We focus on improving financial
results by striving to increase our revenues in both our domestic and foreign operations and to control our operating costs.

*  Attracting New Independent Associates and Retaining Existing Independent Associates. We continually examine our global associate career
and compensation plan and periodically offer incentives in order to attract, motivate, and retain independent associates. We believe our global
associate career and compensation plan encourages greater associate retention, motivation, and productivity.

»  Carefully Planning and Executing New Market Entries. In order to expand efficiently around the globe, we must continue to present maximum
opportunity to our current independent associates as well as those who will join us in the future.

*  Developing New Products and Enhancing Existing Products. We continue to focus on new areas for future product development. We continue
our research efforts and strive to ensure that all of our products are made from high quality, effective ingredients that contain one or more of our
proprietary compounds, which we believe supports our goal to be a cutting-edge industry leader. We expect that any future products we develop
will further complement and enhance our existing products.

*  Provide Outstanding Product Value and Results to Customers. We work to ensure that all associates and their customers have a great
experience with each of our product. Products that deliver tangible results, are supported by science, and are backed by a powerful satisfaction
guarantee.

Intellectual Property

Trademarks. We pursue registrations for various trademarks associated with our key products and branding initiatives. As of December 31,2017, we
had 32 registered trademarks in the United States and seven trademark applications pending with the United States Patent and Trademark Office. As of
December 31, 2017, we had 463 registered trademarks in 38 countries and 44 trademark applications pending in 10 foreign jurisdictions. Globally, the
protection available in foreign jurisdictions may not be as extensive as the protection available to us in the United States. Where available, we rely on
common law trademark rights to protect our unregistered trademarks, even though such rights do not provide us with the same level of protection as afforded
by a United States federal trademark registration. Common law trademark rights are limited to the geographic area in which the trademark is actually used. A
United States federal trademark registration enables us to stop infringing use of the trademark by a third party anywhere in the United States provided the
unauthorized third party user does not have superior common law rights in the trademark within a specific geographical area of a particular state or region
prior to the date our mark federally registers. In the United States (and in many foreign jurisdictions) a registered trademark is valid for ten years and may be
renewed subject to the trademark owner demonstrating continued use of the mark in commerce.

Patents. The Company applies for patent protection in various countries for the technology related to our product formulations. As of December 31,
2017, we had 11 patents for technology related to our Ambrotose® formulation, two of which are in the United States and the remainder of which are in nine
foreign jurisdictions. Overall, as of December 31,2017, 85 patents have been assigned, issued, granted or validated to Mannatech in major global markets for
the technology relating to our
Ambrotose®, Ambrotose AO®, GI-ProBalance™, ImmunoSTART®, PhytoMatrix®, and NutriVerus™ product formulations, as well as in the field of biomarker
assays. Currently, we have 32 patent applications pending in various jurisdictions relating to the technology supporting many of the above listed products.
Patent protection means that the patented invention cannot be commercially made, used, distributed or sold without the patent owner's consent. These patent
rights are usually enforced in a court, which, in most jurisdictions, holds the authority to stop patent infringement. The protection is granted for a limited
period, generally 20 years. In most jurisdictions, renewal annuities or maintenance fees must be paid regularly during the term of the patent to keep the patent
in force.
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Associate Distribution System

Overview. Our sales philosophy is to distribute our products through network marketing channels where consumers purchase products for personal
consumption or resale. Independent associates and preferred customers purchase our products at a discounted wholesale value. Independent associates are
eligible to participate in our global associate career and compensation plan. All of our associates are independent contractors. We provide each new
independent associate with our policies and procedures that require the independent associates to comply with regulatory guidelines and act in a consistent
and professional manner.

Our revenues are heavily dependent upon the retention and productivity of independent associates who help us achieve long-term growth. We
believe the introduction of innovative incentives, such as travel incentives, will continue to motivate our independent associates and help expand our global
purchasing base. We remain actively committed to expanding the number of our independent associates through recruitment, support, motivation, and
incentives. We had approximately 215,000 active independent associate and preferred customer positions held by individuals purchasing our products or
packs during the 12 months ended December 31, 2017, and we had approximately 222,000 active independent associate and preferred customer positions
held by individuals purchasing our products or packs during the 12 months ended December 31,2016. We have a loyalty program through which consumers
earn loyalty points from qualified automatic orders, which can be applied to future purchases.

Independent Associate Development. Network marketing consists of enrolling individuals who build a network of independent associates, preferred
customers, and retail customers who purchase products. We support our independent associates by providing an array of support services that can be tailored
to meet individual needs, including:

«  offering educational meetings and corporate-sponsored events that emphasize business-building and compliance related information;
*  sponsoring various informative and science-based conference calls, web casts, and seminars;

» providing automated services through the Internet and telephone that offer a full spectrum of information and business-building tools;
* maintaining an efficient decentralized ordering and distribution system;

» providing highly personalized and responsive order processing and customer service support accessible by multiple communication channels
including telephone, Internet, or e-mail;

»  offering 24-hour, seven days a week access to information and ordering through the Internet;

+  offering Success Tracker™, a customized business-building genealogy system, which contains graphs, maps, alerts, reports, and web video
conferencing for our independent associates;

*  offering, in the United States and Canada, a compilation of online marketing and training tools, including personalized web pages; and
* providing a wide assortment of business-building and educational materials to help stimulate product sales and simplify enrollment.

We provide product and network marketing training and education for new independent associates. This includes a unique global
training/orientation program that uses audio, video and web components to familiarize new associates with the Company, and includes short, segmented
trainings on how to succeed as part of the sales force. We also regularly provide training on using online tools such social media and our own suite of web
marketing tools specifically designed for associates to use. We also offer a variety of brochures, monthly newsletters, and other promotional materials to
associates to assist in their sales efforts, training, and continuing education. We continually update our training and promotional materials to provide our
associates with the most current information and motivational tools.

Our global associate career and compensation plan consists of nineteen independent associate achievement levels; from lowest to highest, these
include Associate, Silver Associate, Gold Associate, Director, Silver Director, Gold Director, Executive, Silver Executive, Gold Executive, Presidential,
Bronze Presidential, Silver Presidential, Gold Presidential, Platinum Presidential, 1* Platinum, 2* Platinum, 3* Platinum, 4* Platinum and Crown Platinum
Ambassador. These achievement levels are determined by the growth and volume of the independent associates’ direct and indirect commissionable net sales,
as well as expanding their networks, which are all assigned a point volume. Promotional materials and training aids are not assigned a point volume. This
point volume system, referred to as our global seamless downline structure, allows independent associates to build their network by expanding their existing
downlines into all international markets except China. Our global associate career and compensation plan is intended to comply with all applicable
governmental regulations that govern the various aspects of payments to independent associates in each country.
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Based upon our knowledge of industry-related network marketing compensation plans, we believe our global associate career and compensation
plan remains strong in the industry. Together, our commissions and incentives range approximately from 39% to 43% of our consolidated net sales.

Our global associate career and compensation plan pays various types of commissions and incentives based upon a point system that calculates a
percentage of the independent associate’s commissionable direct and indirect net product sales and the attainment of certain associate achievement levels.
All payments to our independent associates are made after they have earned their commissions. We believe our global associate career and compensation
plan fairly compensates our independent associates at every stage of building their business by quickly rewarding an independent associate for both the
breadth and depth of their global seamless downline structure.

Our global associate career and compensation plan identifies and pays 6 types of commissions to our qualified independent associates, which are
based on the following:

*  generating product sales to preferred customers from an independent associate’s global downline to earn certain achievement levels;
» enrolling new independent associates or preferred customers who place a product order;

* obtaining certain achievement levels and enrolling other independent associates who place qualifying orders;

* obtaining and developing certain achievement levels within their downline organizations to qualify for additional bonuses; and

* various other incentive programs.

Management of Independent Associates. We actively monitor our independent associates’ activities related to sales of our products and the
promotion of certain business opportunities by requiring our independent associates to abide by our policies and procedures. However, we have limited
control over the actions of our independent associates. To aid in our monitoring efforts, we provide each independent associate with a copy of our policies
and procedures prior to or upon signing up as an independent associate. We also use various media formats to distribute changes to our mandatory policies
and procedures, including our corporate website, conference calls, educational meetings, corporate events, seminars, and webcasts.

Our program also provides our independent associates with a standardized and anonymous complaint process. When a complaint is filed against an
independent associate, our business ethics department conducts a mandatory investigation of the allegations to determine whether a violation of the policies
and procedures has occurred. If a violation is found, the complaint moves through the compliance process where the person against whom the complaint has
been filed has an opportunity to respond to the allegations. Depending on the nature of the violation, we may impose various sanctions, including written
warnings, mandatory training, probation, withholding commissions, and termination of associate status. We will terminate any associate’s agreement for
making claims that our products can treat, cure, mitigate or prevent any disease, unless such claim is found to be de minimus and isolated.
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Product Return Policy. We stand behind our packs and products and believe we offer a reasonable and industry-standard product return policy to all
of our customers. We do not resell returned products. Refunds are not processed until proper approval is obtained. Refunds are processed and returned in the
same form of payment that was originally used in the sale. Each country in which we operate has specific product return guidelines. However, we allow our
associates and preferred customers to exchange products as long as the products are unopened and in good condition. Our return policies for our retail
customers and our associates and preferred customers are as follows:

*  Retail Customer Product Return Policy. This policy allows a retail customer to return any of our products to the original associate who sold the
product and receive a full cash refund from the associate for the first 180 days following the product’s purchase if located in the United States and
Canada, and for the first 90 days following the product’s purchase in other countries where we sell our products. The associate may then return or
exchange the product based on the associate product return policy.

*  Associate and Preferred Customer Product Return Policy. This policy allows the associate or preferred customer to return an order within one year of
the purchase date upon terminating his/her account. If an associate or preferred customer returns a product unopened and in good condition, he/she
may receive a full refund minus a 10% restocking fee. We may also allow the associate or preferred customer to receive a full satisfaction guarantee
refund if they have tried the product and are not satisfied for any reason, excluding promotional materials. This satisfaction guarantee refund applies in
the United States and Canada, only for the first 180 days following the product’s purchase, and applies in other countries where we sell our products
for the first 90 days following the product’s purchase; however, any commissions earned by an associate will be deducted from the refund. If we
discover abuse of the refund policy, we may terminate the associate's or preferred customer’s account.

Information Technology Systems

Our information technology and e-commerce systems include a transaction-processing database, financial systems, an associate management system,
and comprehensive management tools that are designed to:

*  minimize the time required to process orders and distribute products;

* provide customized ordering information;

* quickly respond to information requests, including providing detailed and accurate information to independent associates about qualification
and downline activity;

* provide detailed reports about paid commissions and incentives;

»  support order processing and customer service departments; and

*  help monitor, analyze, and report operating and financial results.

To complement our transaction database, we developed a comprehensive management tool called Success Tracker ™ that is used both internally and
by our independent associates to manage and optimize their business organizations. With this tool, independent associates have constant access to graphs,
maps, alerts, and reports on the status of their individual organizations, which helps to optimize their earnings.

We also maintain a written business continuity plan, which was developed using the guidelines published by the National Institute of Standards of
Technology to minimize the risk of data loss due to any interruption in business. Our business continuity plan encompasses all critical aspects of our
business and identifies contacts and resources. Additionally, we perform daily backup procedures and proactively monitor various software, hardware, and
network infrastructure systems. We also perform routine maintenance procedures and periodically upgrade our software and hardware to help ensure that our
systems work efficiently and effectively and to minimize the risk of business interruption. Although we maintain an extensive business continuity plan, a
long-term failure or impairment of any of our information technology systems could adversely affect our ability to conduct day-to-day business. Please see
“Risk Factors - If our information technology system fails, our operations could suffer.”

We continue to enhance our information technology, websites, and e-commerce platforms to remain competitive and efficient.
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Government Regulations

Domestic Regulations. In the United States, governmental regulations, laws, administrative determinations, court decisions, and similar legal
requirements at the federal, state, and local levels regulate companies such as ours and network marketing activities. Such regulations address, among other
things:

+ direct selling and network marketing systems;

» transfer pricing and similar regulations affecting the amount of foreign taxes and customs duties paid;
* taxation of independent associates and requirements to collect taxes and maintain appropriate records;
* how a company manufactures, packages, labels, distributes, imports, sells, and stores products;

*  product ingredients;

*  product claims;

* marketing and advertising; and

» the extent to which companies may be responsible for claims made by independent associates.

The following governmental agencies regulate various aspects of our business and our products in the United States:

* the Food and Drug Administration (the “FDA”);

» the Federal Trade Commission (the “FTC”);

* the Consumer Product Safety Commission;

* the Department of Agriculture;

+ the Environmental Protection Agency;

¢ the United States Postal Service;

*  state attorney general offices; and

»  various agencies of the states and localities in which our products are sold.

The FDA regulates the formulation, manufacturing, packaging, storage, labeling, promotion, distribution, and sale of foods, dietary supplements,
over-the-counter drugs, medical devices, and pharmaceuticals. In January 2000, the FDA issued a final rule called “Statements Made for Dietary Supplements
Conceming the Effect of the Product on the Structure or Function of the Body”. In the rule and its preamble, the FDA distinguished between permitted claims
under the Federal Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act (the “FFDC Act”) relating to the effect of dietary supplements on the structure or functions of the body, and
impermissible direct or implied claims of the effect of dietary supplements on any disease. In June 2007, the FDA issued a rule, as authorized under the FFDC
Act that defined current Good Manufacturing Practices in the manufacture and holding of dietary supplements. Effective January 1, 2006, legislation
required specific disclosures in labeling where a food, including a dietary supplement, contains an ingredient derived from any of eight named allergens.
Legislation passed at the end of 2006 now requires us to report to the FDA any reports of “serious adverse events” associated with the use of a dietary
supplement or an over-the-counter drug that is not covered by new drug approval reporting. The FDA created the Office of Dietary Supplements (“ODSP”’) on
December21,2015. The creation of this new office elevates the FDA’s program from its previous status as a division under the Office of Nutrition and Dietary
Supplements. ODSP will continue to monitor the safety of dietary supplements.

The Dietary Supplement Health and Education Act of 1994, referred to as DSHEA, revised the provisions of the FFDC Act concerning the
composition and labeling of dietary supplements and statutorily created a new class entitled “dietary supplements.” Dietary supplements include vitamins,
minerals, herbs, amino acids, and other dietary substances used to supplement diets. A majority of our products are considered dietary supplements as
outlined in the FFDC Act, which requires us to maintain evidence that a dietary supplement is reasonably safe. A manufacturer of dietary supplements may
make statements concerning the effect of a supplement or a dietary ingredient on the structure or any function of the body, in accordance with the regulations
described above. As a result, we make such statements with respect to our products. In some cases, such statements must be accompanied by a statutory
statement that the claim has not been evaluated by the FDA and that the product is not intended to treat, cure, mitigate, or prevent any disease, and the FDA
must be notified of such claim within 30 days of first use.
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The FDA oversees product safety, manufacturing, and product information, such as claims on a company's website, product’s label, package inserts,
and accompanying literature. The FDA has promulgated regulations governing the labeling and marketing of dietary and nutritional supplement products.
The regulations include:

* theidentification of dietary or nutritional supplements and their nutrition and ingredient labeling;

* requirements related to the wording used for claims about nutrients, health claims, and statements of nutritional support;

» labeling requirements for dietary or nutritional supplements for which “high potency,” “antioxidant,” and “trans-fatty acids” claims are made;
* notification procedures for statements on dietary and nutritional supplements; and

*  pre-market notification procedures for new dietary ingredients in nutritional supplements.

We develop and maintain product substantiation dossiers, which contain the scientific literature pertinent to each product and its ingredients. An
independent scientist reviews these dossiers, which provide the scientific basis for product claims. We periodically update our substantiation program for
evidence for each of our product claims and notify the FDA of certain types of performance claims made in connection with our products.

In certain markets, including the United States, specific claims made with respect to a product may change the regulatory status of a product. For
example, a product sold as a dietary supplement but marketed as a treatment, prevention, or cure for a specific disease or condition would likely be
considered by the FDA or other regulatory bodies as unapproved and thus an illegal drug. To maintain the product’s status as a dietary supplement, its
labeling and marketing must comply with the provisions in DSHEA and the FDA’s extensive regulations. As a result, we have procedures in place to promote
and assure compliance by our employees and independent associates related to the requirements of DSHEA, the FFDC Act, and various other regulations.

Dietary supplements are also subject to the Nutrition, Labeling and Education Act and various other acts that regulate health claims, ingredient
labeling, and nutrient content claims that characterize the level of nutrients in a product. These acts prohibit the use of any specific health claim for dietary
supplements unless the health claim is supported by significant scientific research and is pre-approved by the FDA.

The FTC and other regulators regulate marketing practices and advertising of a company and its products. In the past several years, regulators have
instituted various enforcement actions against numerous dietary supplement companies for false and/or misleading marketing practices, as well as misleading
advertising of products. These enforcement actions have resulted in consent decrees and significant monetary judgments against the companies and/or
individuals involved. Regulators require a company to convey product claims clearly and accurately and further require marketers to maintain adequate
substantiation for their claims. More specifically, the FTC requires such substantiation to be competent and reliable scientific evidence and requires a
company to have a reasonable basis for the expressed and implied product claim before it disseminates an advertisement. A reasonable basis is determined
based on the claims made, how the claims are presented in the context of the entire advertisement, and how the claims are qualified. The FTC’s standard for
evaluating substantiation is designed to ensure that consumers are protected from false and/or misleading claims by requiring scientific substantiation of
product claims at the time such claims are first made. The failure to have this substantiation violates the Federal Trade Commission Act.

Due to the diverse scope of regulations applicable to our products and the various regulators enforcing these requirements, determining how to
conform to all requirements is often open to interpretation and debate. However, our policy is to fully cooperate with any regulatory agency in connection
with any inquiries or other investigations. We can make no assurances that regulators will not question our actions in the future, even though we continue to
make efforts to comply with all applicable regulations, inquiries, and investigations.
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International Regulations. We are also subject to extensive regulations in each country in which we operate. Currently we sell our products in three
regions: (i) the Americas (the United States, Canada, Colombia and Mexico); (ii)) EMEA (Austria, the Czech Republic, Denmark, Estonia, Finland, Germany,
the Republic of Ireland, Namibia, the Netherlands, Norway, South Africa, Spain, Sweden and the United Kingdom); and (iii) Asia/Pacific (Australia, Japan,
New Zealand, the Republic of Korea, Singapore, Taiwan, Hong Kong and China). Some of the country-specific regulations include the following:

» the National Provincial Laws, Natural Health Product Regulations of Canada, and the Federal Competition Act in Canada;

*  the Therapeutic Goods Administration and the Trade Practices Act in Australia;

» federal and state regulations in Australia;

* national regulations including the Local Trading Standards Offices in the United Kingdom;

» regulations from the Ministry of International Trade and Industry in Japan;

» regulations from the Commerce Commission and the Fair Trade Act 0f 1993 in New Zealand;

* the Fair Trade Commission, which oversees the Door to Door Sales Act and the Health and Functional Food Act enforced by the Korea Food and
Drug Administration in the Republic of Korea;

* the Fair Trade Law, which is enforced by the Taiwan Fair Trade Commission and the Administration of Food Hygiene, Health Food Products
Administration Act enforced by the Taiwan Department of Health;

* the Danish Health Board, the Danish Marketing Practice Act, the Danish Consumer Ombudsman, the Danish Executive Order on Dietary
Supplements, the Guidelines for food supplements, and the Danish Act on Foodstuffs in Denmark;

* the German Unfair Competition Act, German Regulation on food supplements, and German Law on food and feed;
» regulations governing business practices in South Africa;

+ the Consumer Protection Act, the Sale of Food Act, and various regulations that are governed by the Ministry of Trade and Industry in
Singapore;

* the Austrian Trade Law (1994), the Food Safety and Consumer Protection Law (2006), and the Food Code in Austria;

* the Food and Consumer Products and the Unfair Trade Practices Act, Door to Door Selling Act and Provisions of the General Dutch Civil Code
relating to terms and conditions and misleading advertising in the Netherlands;

* the Consumer Sales Act, Marketing Practices Act, Distance and Doorstep Sales Act, the Product Liability Act, Product Safety Act, the
Companies Act and the Food Act in Sweden;

* the Law on Marketing and Contract Conditions, the Law on Repentance Right, the Statutory Order on Self Inspection of Food Provisions, the
Law on Food products and Food Safety, and various guidelines from the Norwegian Consumers Agency on telephone selling and internet
marketing, in Norway;

» the Health Law and various Official Mexican Standards, the consumer protection law, the Mexican Corporate law, the Foreign Investment Law,
the Federal Labor law in Mexico, as well as various municipal and state regulations and codes;

* various Business, Civil, and Labor Codes in the Czech Republic as well as the Consumer Protection Act, and regulations and edicts of various
government agencies such as The Ministry of Health, National Institute of Public Health, State Institute of Drug Control and the Czech
Agriculture and Food Inspection Authority;

+ the Consumer Protection Act in Estonia, and in the area of food supplements the Veterinary and Food Board also enforces local legislation
including Estonia Food Act and Medicine Act;
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» the Finnish Food Act, the Finnish Food Packaging and Consumer Protection Acts, Act on Unfair Business Practice Act, Decrees and other
regulations in Finland;

» the Consumer Protection Act 0f2007, the Distance Selling Regulations Act 0f2001 in Ireland;

» various European Union (“EU”) regulations and pronouncements, subject to local statutes and regulations, address both our selling activities
and the sale of food supplements in EU member nations, including, primarily, the EU Food Supplement Directive (2002/46/EC) and Nutrition
and Health Claims Regulations (2006/1924/EC);,

» the Food and Drugs (Composition and Labeling) Regulations, the Pyramid Schemes Prohibition Ordinance, the Personal Data (Privacy)
Ordinance, and the Import and Export Ordinance in Hong Kong;

» the Retail Trade Act of January 15, 1996, regulating both multi-level marketing (article 22) and pyramid sales (article 23), and Spanish Law
1/2007 on Consumer Protection (“Spanish Consumers Act”), regulating consumer protection, including warranties and product liability, in
Spain;

* the Regulation of Act 1700 0of2013, Article 2.2.50 on December 27,2013 governs the Activities of Network Marketing or Multilevel Marketing
companies through monitoring compensation plans, contract conditions and enacting preventive suspension, in Colombia; and

* the Regulation on the Prohibition of Pyramid Selling, the Regulation on Administration of Direct Sales, the Law on Protection of Consumer
Rights, the Food Safety Law, and the Anti-Unfair Competition Law in China.

Regulations Regarding Network Marketing System and Qur Products. Our network marketing system and our global associate career and
compensation plan are also subject to a number of governmental regulations including various federal and state statutes administered by the FTC, various
state authorities, and foreign government agencies. The legal requirements governing network marketing organizations are directed, in part, to ensure that
product sales are ultimately made to consumers. In addition, earnings within a network marketing company must be based on the sale of products rather than
compensation for (i) the recruitment of distributors or associates, (ii) investments in the organization, or (iii) other non-retail sales-related criteria. For
instance, some countries limit the amount associates may earn from commissions on sales by other distributors or independent associates that are not directly
sponsored by that distributor or independent associate. Prior to expanding our operations into any foreign jurisdiction, we must first obtain regulatory
approval for our network marketing system in jurisdictions requiring such approval. To help ensure regulatory compliance, we rely on the advice of our
outside legal counsel and regulatory consultants in each specific country.

As a network marketing company, we are also subject to regulatory oversight, including routine inquiries and enforcement actions, from various
United States state attorneys general offices. Each state has specific acts referred to as Little FTC Acts. Each state act is similar to the federal laws. As a result,
each state may perform its own inquiries about our organization and business practices, including allegations related to distributors or independent
associates. To combat such industry-specific risk, we provide a copy of our published associate policies and procedures to each independent associate,
publish these policies on our corporate website, and provide educational seminars and publications. In addition, we maintain a legal and business ethics
department to cooperate with all regulatory agencies and investigate allegations of improper conduct by our independent associates.

In Canada, our network marketing system is regulated by both national and provincial laws. Under Canada’s Federal Competition Act, we must
make sure that any representations relating to compensation to our independent associates or made to prospective new independent associates constitute fair,
reasonable, and timely disclosure and that such representations meet other legal requirements of the Federal Competition Act. All Canadian provinces and
territories, other than Ontario, have legislation requiring that we register or become licensed as a direct seller within that province to maintain the standards of
the direct selling industry and to protect consumers. Some other Canadian provinces require that both we and our independent associates be licensed as direct
sellers.

In Colombia, our network marketing system is governed by the Regulation Act of 1700 of 2013 on Activities of Network Marketing or Multilevel
Marketing. It specifies requirements for our compensation plan, contracts, corporate governance and penalties for violations. Data processing is regulated by
Act No. 1581 of 2012 and Regulatory Decree No. 1377 of 2013 which protects personal data and requires that Mannatech to obtain authorization from the
owner to collect personal data. The distribution of nutritional supplement products is governed by Invima, which is in charge of inspecting and monitoring
the marketing and manufacturing of health products.
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In Mexico, as in many other markets, there are no specific regulations directly related to the direct selling or network marketing industry. However,
all product sales and business offerings must comply with the Consumer Protection Law, which is enforced by the Consumer Protection Agency. Food
supplements and medicines are subject to the Health Law and various Official Mexican Standards, which are enforced by the Health Ministry and The Federal
Commission for Protection Against Sanitary Risk. Mexican Customs Law and its regulations govern the general importation of our products into Mexico. We
are subject to the Mexican Corporate Law, which is enforced by the Mexican courts and to the Federal Labor Law enforced by the Labor Courts. In Mexico,
we are also subject to the Foreign Investment Law and its regulations administered by the Ministry of Economy. We are required to register before the
Mexican System for Business Information at the appropriate Business Chamber under the Organizations Law.

In Australia, our network marketing system is subject to Australia’s federal and local regulations. Our global associate career and compensation plan
is designed to comply with Australian law and the requirements of Australia’s Trade Practices Act. The Australian Trade Practices Administration and various
other governmental entities regulate our business and trade practices, as well as those of our independent associates. Australia’s Therapeutic Goods Act,
together with the Trade Practices Act, regulates any claims or representations relating to our products and our global associate career and compensation plan.

In New Zealand, our network marketing system and our operations are subject to regulations of the Commerce Commission and the Ministry of
Health, New Zealand Medical Devices Safety Authority, the Unsolicited Goods Act of 1975, the Privacy Act of 1993, and the Fair Trading Act of 1993. These
regulations enforce specific kinds of business or trade practices and regulate the general conduct of network marketing companies. The Commerce
Commission also enforces the Consumer Guarantees Act, which establishes specific rights and remedies with respect to transactions involving the provisions
of goods and services to consumers. Finally, the New Zealand Commerce Commission and the Ministry of Health both enforce the Door-to-Door Sales Act of
1967 and the NZ Medicines Act, which govern the conduct of our independent associates.

In Japan, our network marketing system, overall business operations, trade practices, global associate career and compensation plan, and our
independent associates are governed by Japan’s Door-to-Door Sales Law as enacted in 1976 by the Ministry of International Trade and Industry. Our global
associate career and compensation plan is designed to meet Japan’s governmental requirements. Our product claims are subject to the Pharmaceutical Affairs
Law, which prohibits the making and publication of “drug effectiveness” claims regarding products that have not received approval from Japan’s Ministry of
Health, Welfare and Labor.

In Singapore, the network marketing industry is governed by the Multi-Level Marketing and Pyramid Selling (Prohibition) (Amendment) Act and
the accompanying Pyramid Selling (Excluded Schemes and Arrangements) Order 2000 and Order 2001. General business practices and advertising are
regulated under the Consumer Protection (Fair Trading) Act 2003, as amended, and its accompanying regulations. The products are classified as food and
supplements of a food nature, which are governed by the Sale of Food Act and the Singapore Food Regulations. Cosmetics and products that rise to the level
of medicinal and other health-related products are regulated under various regulations such as the Medicines Act, the Poisons Act, the Sale of Drugs Act, the
Medicines (Advertisement and Sale) Act and the Misuse of Drug Regulations.

In the Republic of Korea, the primary body of law applicable to our operations is the Door-to-Door Sales Act, which governs the behavior of network
marketing companies and affiliated distributors. The Door-to-Door Sales Act is enforced by the Fair Trade Commission. In the Republic of Korea, our
products are categorized as health and functional foods and are regulated by the Health and Functional Food Act of 2004, with which the Company complies.

In Taiwan, our network marketing system, overall operations and trade practices are governed by the Fair Trade Law and the Consumer Protection
Law. Such laws contain a wide range of provisions covering trade practices. Our products are governed by the Taiwan Department of Health and various
legislation in Taiwan including the Health Food Control Act of 1999. This Act was enacted to enhance the management and supervision of matters relating
to health, food, protecting the health of people and safeguarding the rights and interests of consumers.

In Hong Kong, our network marketing system, overall operations and trade practices are governed by a number of Ordinances including the Sale of
Goods Ordinance, the Control of Exemption Clauses Ordinance, the Pyramid Schemes Prohibition Ordinance and the Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance.
Such Ordinances include a number of consumer protections (including data privacy) and regulate trading practices. Importation and registration of our
products permitting their sale in Hong Kong are controlled by the Import and Export Ordinance and its subsidiary legislation, the Import and Export
(Registration) Regulations.
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In China, multi-level marketing is prohibited by the Regulation on the Prohibition of Pyramid Selling. While selling products via a direct sales
channel is permitted, persons or entities conducting direct selling activities must have a direct selling license per the Regulation on the Administration of
Direct Sales. In addition, under the Food Safety Law, most of our dietary supplements are not allowed to be sold in physical stores unless registered with the
China Food Safety Administration. However, those products are allowed to be sold under a retail cross-border e-commerce model. Lastly, overall operations
and trade practices are governed by the Consumer Protection Law and the Anti-Unfair Competition Law.

In the United Kingdom, our network marketing system is subject to national regulations of the United Kingdom. Our global associate career and
compensation plan is designed to comply with the United Kingdom’s national requirements, the requirements of the Fair Trading Act of 1973, the Data
Protection Act 0of 1998, the Trading Schemes Regulations of 1997, and other similar regulations. The U.K. Code of Advertising and Sales Promotion regulates
our business and trade practices and the activities of our independent associates, while the Trading Standards Office regulates any claims or representations
relating to our operations. Our products are regulated by the Medicines and Healthcare Products Regulatory Agency.

In Denmark, the notion of door-to-door selling is prohibited. As a result, under Danish law, the trader is not allowed to contact the consumer at his
home, place of work, or other non-public place in order to conclude a contract on certain subjects. However, the prohibition has an exemption when the
consumer asks the trader for a contact in writing or upon written prior consent. In addition, the Danish Marketing Practices Act, the Guidelines from the
Danish Consumer Ombudsman and the rules contained in the Danish Consumer Contracts Act govern our network marketing system. There is no requirement
for pre-approval of our products in Denmark; however, our products are subject to a yearly inspection carried out by the Food authorities. Further, all our
activities are subject to Self Inspection, the results of which are also controlled once a year by the Food authorities. The rules for marketing and sale of dietary
supplements are covered by the Danish Executive Order on Food Supplements, as well as by the Danish Act on Foodstuffs and various EU-regulations.
Denmark also subjects the marketing of a company’s food supplements to a notification procedure (with a pre-market approval process for certain
substances), before a product may be lawfully marketed in Denmark. Full product compliance with all Danish provisions is reviewed by the Food authorities
once a year.

In Germany, there is no specific legal regulation covering network marketing company practices. However, under certain circumstances network
marketing systems may have to follow the German Unfair Competition Act. Our independent associates’ conduct is subject to the German statute that governs
the conduct of a commercial agent. In addition, direct selling operations are governed by the Industrial Code, which requires direct sellers to hold itinerant
trader’s cards. The German Regulation on food supplements and the German Law on food and feed govern vitamin and mineral substances and herbs and
other substances, respectively.

In Austria, the Austrian Trade Law of 1994 (Novelle 2002) prohibits the offer of direct sale to an individual consumer of food supplement and
cosmetic products. The provision, however, has generally not been enforced in recent years and sales made via the Internet or mail order or made to a non-
consumer distributor do not fall under this prohibition. The Austrian Trade Law is predominantly administered through the National Ministry of Economy
and Labor. Our business operations within Austria are conducted from beyond the borders of Austria, which is the common practice in our industry. Our
distributors qualify as “traders” for purposes of Austrian state and municipal laws. Traders are regulated by the local chambers of commerce and must obtain
licenses from the respective chambers of commerce. Regulation of food supplements and cosmetics is generally harmonized throughout the EU and must
conform to EU standards. Austrian-specific food regulations include the Food Safety and Consumer Protection Law (2006), supporting ordinances to this law,
the Food Supplement Law, and the Austrian Food Codex, which is primarily administered by the National Ministry of Health, Office for Health and Food
Security, and the Local Health Authority.

In Sweden, various provisions of the Consumer Sales Act (1990), the Marketing Practices Act (2008), the Distance and Doorstep Sales Act (2005),
the Product Liability Act (1992), the Product Safety Act (2004), and the Companies Act (2005) all serve to govern our multi-level marketing and business
activities. The Food Act (2006) provides regulations and guidelines for the sale of food and food supplements. We are subject to the authority of the Swedish
Consumer Office, the Swedish Companies Registration Office, the Swedish Tax Office, Swedish Customs, Medical Products Agency, and the National Food
Administration. As in all EU countries various EU regulations and guidelines apply.

In the Netherlands, the Food and Consumer Product and the Unfair Trade Practices Act are the most relevant legislations relating to our business
practices. The first is enforced by the Food and Consumer Product Safety Authority and the latter is enforced by the Consumer Authority. Furthermore,
various EU regulations apply as well as the Dutch Door to Door Selling Act, and all provisions of the Dutch Civil Code with particular emphasis to those
regulations dealing with general terms and conditions, and those regarding misleading advertising.
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Norway exercises a border control of products and their composition upon importation. Import products must be registered in an Import Reporting
Registry, and the regulations are enforced by the customs authorities. Our products must be compliant with Norwegian regulations in order to be admitted for
admission through customs into Norway. In Norway Door-to-Door Selling is allowed, provided the Guidelines from the Norwegian Consumer Agency are
followed. Likewise, telephone-selling is allowed provided the agency’s guidelines are followed. Home-selling in Norway is also allowed. All of our sales in
Norway are subject to a 14-day right to cancel by the consumers.

In the Czech Republic, there are no specific regulations or special legislation that limit the network marketing industry. Network marketing is
considered to be a specific form of general sale and is generally subject to various provisions of the Business Code (Act. Nr. 513/1992 Coll.), Civil Code (Act.
Nr. 40/1964 Coll.), Labor Code (Act. No. 262/2006 Coll.), Trade License Act (Act. Nr. 455/1991 Coll.), Consumer Protection Act (Act. Nr. 634/1992 Coll.)
and related legislation. The status of independent contractor/sales distributor is primarily regulated by the Trade License Act (Act. Nr. 455/1991 Coll), which
requires sales distributors to maintain a trade license. Additionally, the regulation of food supplements is harmonized throughout the EU and, therefore, the
supplements must conform to the EU standards. Enforcement of Czech-specific regulations is undertaken by the Ministry of Health, National Institute of
Public Health, State Institute of Drug Control and the Czech Agriculture and Food Inspection Authority.

In Estonia, there are no specific regulations governing the network marketing business, but the business is generally regulated under the Consumer
Protection Act. Also, independent distributors are required to register as sole proprietors with the Tax and Customs Board before entry into associate
agreements. Mannatech must also comply with various EU regulations. The Veterinary and Food Board also enforces local legislation including Estonia
Food Act and Medicine Act.

In Finland, the Finnish Food Act, the Finnish Food Packaging and Consumer Protection Acts, Act on Unfair Business Practice Act, Decrees and other
regulations, as well as applicable EU regulations, regulate Mannatech products, product information, and the way Mannatech promotes its products.
Additionally, certain principals applicable to multi-level marketing under the Money Collection Act (255/2006) apply to Mannatech’s activities. Lastly,
persons engaged in the manufacture, commission of manufacture or import of food supplements, must submit a written notification to the Finnish Food Safety
Authority when marketing and selling in Finland. A notification is also required when the composition of preparation changes in terms of characteristics of
substances or the preparation is withdrawn from the market.

In the Republic of Ireland, the primarily relevant legislation is the Consumer Protection Act of 2007, the Distance Selling Regulations Act of 2001,
and the codes of practice of the Direct Selling Association of Ireland and the Advertising Standards Authority for Ireland. There is no equivalent in Irish law
to the UK Trading Schemes Regulations, but the Direct Selling Association of Ireland codes, while not as prescriptive, contain many similar requirements.
Lastly, the regulation of food and food supplements are generally harmonized throughout the EU and must conform to EU standards.

In Spain, our network marketing system, overall operations, and trade practices are governed by the Retail Trade Act and the Spanish Consumers
Act. Such laws contain a wide range of provisions covering trade practices, including multi-level marketing, pyramid sales, warranties and product liability.
While regulation of food supplements and cosmetics is generally harmonized throughout the EU and must conform to EU standards, the Spanish Agency for
Medicines and Health Products oversees cosmetics and the Spanish Agency for Consumer Affairs, Food Safety and Nutrition oversees food supplements.

In South Africa, the Consumer Affairs Act 1988, the Competition Act 1998, and the Advertising Standards Authority Code of Advertising Practice (a

voluntary code enforced by the media) govern business practices. The products are classified as complementary medicines for which there are no specific
regulations. The Foodstuffs, Cosmetics and Disinfectants Act 1972, and the Medicines and Related Substances Act 1965 currently apply.

19



Table of Contents
Other Regulations. Our operations are also subject to a variety of other regulations, including:

*  social security taxes;

e value-added taxes;

* goods and services taxes;

e salestaxes;

*  consumption taxes;

e income taxes;

e customs duties;

+ employee/independent contractor regulations;
+ employment, service pay, retirement pay, and profit sharing requirements;
* import/export regulations;

e federal securities laws; and

*  antitrust laws.

In many markets, we are limited by the types of rules we can impose on our independent associates, including rules in connection with cooling off
periods and termination criteria. If we do not comply with these requirements, we may be required to pay social security, unemployment benefits, workers’
compensation, or other tax or tax-type assessments on behalf of our independent associates and may incur severance obligations if we terminate one of our
independent associates.

In some countries, including the United States, we are also govemed by regulations conceming the activities of our independent associates.
Regulators may find that we are ultimately responsible for the conduct of our independent associates and may request or require that we take additional steps
to ensure that our independent associates comply with these regulations. The types of conduct governed by these types of regulations may include:

* claims made about our products;

*  promises or claims of income or other promises or claims by our independent associates; and

* sales of products in markets where the products have not been approved or licensed.

In some markets, including the United States, improper product claims by independent associates could result in our products being overly
scrutinized by regulatory authorities. This review could result in our products being re-classified as drugs or classified into another product category that
requires stricter regulations or labeling changes.

We continuously research and monitor the laws governing the conduct of our independent associates, our operations, our global associate career and
compensation plan, and our products and sales aids within each of the countries in which we sell our products. We provide education for our independent
associates regarding acceptable business conduct in each market through our policies and procedures, seminars, and other training materials and programs.
However, we cannot guarantee that our independent associates will always abide by our policies and procedures and/or act in a professional and consistent
manner.
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Competition

Other Nutritional Supplement Companies. The nutritional supplement industry is steadily gaining momentum and is intensely competitive. Our
current direct competitors selling similar nutritional products include:

AdvoCare International

GNC Holdings, Inc.;

Herbalife Ltd.;

Nature’s Sunshine Products, Inc.;

NOW Foods;

Nu Skin Enterprises, Inc.;

Reliv’ International, Inc;

Solgar Vitamin and Herb Company, Inc.;
Swanson Health Products;

Usana Health Sciences, Inc.; and

Vitamin Shoppe Industries, Inc.

Network Marketing. Nutritional supplements are offered for sale in a variety of ways. Network marketing has a limited number of individuals

interested in

participating in the industry, and we must compete for those types of individuals. We believe network marketing is the best sales approach to

sell our products for the following reasons:

our products can be introduced into the global marketplace at a much lower up-front cost than through conventional methods;

our key ingredients and differential components found in our proprietary products can be better explained through network marketing;
the network marketing approach can quickly and easily adapt to changing market conditions;

consumers appreciate the convenience of ordering from home, through a sales person, by telephone, or on the Internet; and

network marketing enables independent associates to earn financial rewards.

We compete with other direct selling and network marketing companies for new independent associates and for retention of continuing independent
associates. Some of our competitors have longer operating histories, are better known, or have greater financial resources. These companies include:

Amway Corporation;

Forever Living Products, Inc.;
Herbalife International, Inc.;
Mary Kay, Inc.;

Nature’s Sunshine Products, Inc.;
Nu Skin Enterprises, Inc.;
Shaklee Worldwide; and

Usana Health Sciences, Inc.
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The availability of independent associates decreases when other network marketing companies successfully recruit and retain independent
associates for their operations. We believe we can successfully compete for independent associates by emphasizing the following:

» ourexclusive, proprietary blend of high-quality products;

*  our24 year track record in the business of selling nutritional products;

* ourmodel which does not require our independent associates to carry inventory or accounts receivable;

* ourunique and financially rewarding global associate career and compensation plan;

» ourinnovative marketing and educational tools; and

* oureasy and convenient delivery system.

Employees

At December 31,2017 and 2016, we employed 252 and 290 people, respectively, as set forth below:

2017 2016
Americas 162 185
Asia/Pacific 79 80
EMEA 11 25
Total 252 290

2017 2016
Full-time employees 250 281
Part-time employees 2 9
Total 252 290

These numbers do not include our independent associates, who are independent contractors and are not employees.
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Item 1A. Risk Factors

In addition to the other risks described in this report, the following risk factors should be considered in evaluating our business and future prospects:

1. Ifwe are unable to attract and retain independent associates, our business may suffer.

Our future success depends largely upon our ability to attract and retain a large active base of independent associates and preferred customers. We
cannot give any assurances that the number of our independent associates will continue at their current levels or increase in the future. Several factors affect
our ability to attract and retain independent associates and preferred customers, including:

* on-going motivation of our independent associates;

» general economic conditions;

» significant changes in the amount of commissions paid;

* public perception and acceptance of the wellness industry;

*  public perception and acceptance of network marketing;

*  public perception and acceptance of our business and our products, including any negative publicity;
* the limited number of people interested in pursuing network marketing as a business;

* ourability to provide proprietary quality-driven products that the market demands; and

*  competition in recruiting and retaining independent associates.

2. The loss of key high-level independent associate leaders could negatively impact our associate growth and our revenue.

As of December 31, 2017, we had approximately 215,000 active independent associates and preferred customer positions held by individuals who
purchased our products within the last 12 months, of which 116 occupied the highest associate levels under our global compensation plan. These
independent associate leaders are important in maintaining and growing our revenue. As a result, the loss of a high-level independent associate or a group of
leading associates in the independent associates’ networks of downlines, whether by their own choice or through disciplinary actions by us for violations of
our policies and procedures, could negatively impact our associate growth and our revenue.

3. Changes to our associate compensation arrangements could be viewed negatively by some independent associates, could cause failure to achieve
desired long-term results and have a negative impact on revenue.

Our associate compensation plan includes components that differ from market to market. We modify components of our compensation plan from
time to time in an attempt to remain competitive and attractive to existing and potential independent associates including such modifications:

*  to address changing market dynamics;

* to provide incentives to independent associates that are intended to help grow our business;
*  to conform to local regulations; and

*  to address other business needs.

We launched the first phase of a new associate compensation plan in July 2017 and will make adjustments to the plan as part of the second phase in
2018. The 2017 Associate Compensation Plan was designed to stimulate business growth and development for our active business-building associates and to
maximize the buying experience for our preferred customers. In doing so, the Company hopes to better utilize commission dollars to stimulate Company
growth. The 2017 Associate Compensation Plan provides revised income streams, new leadership levels and titles, and modified various volume
requirements for our associates. Because of the size of our associate force and the complexity of our compensation plans, it is difficult to predict how
independent associates will view such changes and whether such changes will negatively impact our revenue and profitability.
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4. An increase in the amount of commissions and incentives paid to independent associates reduces our profitability.

The payment of commissions and incentives, including bonuses and prizes, is our most significant expense. Together, our commissions and
incentives range approximately from 39% to 43% of our consolidated net sales. We closely monitor the amount of commissions and incentives as a
percentage of net sales, and may periodically adjust our compensation plan to better manage these costs. There can be no assurance that changes to the
compensation plan will be successful in achieving target levels of commissions and incentives as a percentage of net sales and preventing these costs from
having a significant adverse effect on our earnings. Furthermore, such changes may make it difficult to attract and retain independent associates or cause us to
lose some of our existing independent associates.

5. The loss of key management personnel could adversely affect our business.

We depend on the continued services of our executive officers and senior management team as they work closely with independent associate leaders
and are responsible for our day-to-day operations. Our success depends in part on our ability to retain our executive officers, to compensate our executive
officers at attractive levels, and to continue to attract additional qualified individuals to our management team. Although we have entered into employment
agreements with certain senior executive officers, and do not believe that any of them are planning to leave or retire in the near term, we cannot assure that
our senior executive officers or members of our senior management team will remain with us. The loss or limitation of the services of any of our executive
officers or members of our senior management team, including our regional and country managers, or the inability to attract additional qualified management
personnel could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations, or independent associate relations.

6. If government regulations regarding network marketing change or are interpreted or enforced in a manner adverse to our business, we may be
subject to new enforcement actions and material limitations regarding our overall business model.

Network marketing is always subject to extensive governmental regulations, including foreign, federal, and state regulations. Any change in
legislation and regulations could affect our business. Furthermore, significant penalties could be imposed on us for failure to comply with various statutes or
regulations. Violations may result from:

* ambiguity in statutes;
» regulations and related court decisions;
» the discretion afforded to regulatory authorities and courts interpreting and enforcing laws; and

* new regulations or interpretations of regulations affecting our business.

On January 4, 2018, The Federal Trade Commission (the “FTC”) issued “Business Guidance Concerning Multi-Level Marketing” a non-binding
guidance in question-and-answer format clarifying the FTC’s enforcement position regarding multi-level marketing. The guidance focuses on the
characteristics of multi-level marketing and delineates the factors that the FTC staffis likely to consider in assessing whether or not a compensation structure
is problematic. The FTC has broad enforcement authority and while it issues guidance on how it interprets the applicable law, that guidance is not ultimately
binding on the FTC. As a result, the FTC could decide to investigate or bring an enforcement action regarding practices that we interpret to be in line with
applicable law and/or FTC guidance. For example, the FTC has challenged the distributor compensation plans used by other multi-level-marketing
companies over the last few years. The FTC obtained consent decrees with those companies requiring those companies to (i) discontinue using all, or certain
components of, their compensation plans; and (ii) implement a compensation plan that received prior approval from the FTC. While we prioritize ensuring
that our business and compensation model are compliant, we cannot be certain that the FTC or similar regulatory body in another country, will not modify or
otherwise amend its guidance, laws, or regulations or interpret in the same way that would render our current practices inconsistent with the same.
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7. Independent associates could fail to comply with our associate policies and procedures or make improper product, compensation, marketing or
advertising claims that violate laws or regulations, which could result in claims against us that could harm our financial condition and operating
results.

We sell our products worldwide to a sales force of independent associates. The independent associates are independent contractors and, accordingly,
we are not in a position to provide the same direction, motivation, and oversight as we would if associates were our own employees. As a result, there can be
no assurance that our associates will participate in our marketing strategies or plans, accept our introduction of new products, or comply with our associate
policies and procedures. All independent associates sign a written contract and agree to adhere to our policies and procedures, which prohibit associates from
making false, misleading or other improper claims regarding products or income potential from the distribution of the products. However, independent
associates may from time to time, without our knowledge and in violation of our policies, create promotional materials or otherwise provide information that
does not accurately describe our marketing program. There is a possibility that some jurisdictions could seek to hold us responsible for independent
associate activities that violate applicable laws or regulations, which could result in government or third party actions or fines against us, which could harm
our financial condition and operating results.

8. We may be held responsible for certain taxes or assessments relating to the activities of our independent associates, which could harm our
financial condition and operating results.

Our independent associates are subject to taxation and, in some instances, legislation or governmental agencies impose an obligation on us to
collect taxes, such as value added taxes, and to maintain appropriate tax records. In addition, we are subject to the risk in some jurisdictions of being
responsible for social security and similar taxes with respect to our distributors. In the event that local laws and regulations require us to treat our independent
distributors as employees, or if our distributors are deemed by local regulatory authorities to be our employees, rather than independent contractors, we may
be held responsible for social security and related taxes in those jurisdictions, plus any related assessments and penalties, which could harm our financial
condition and operating results.

9. Challenges by private parties to the form of our network marketing system could harm our business.

We may be subject to challenges by private parties, including our independent associates and preferred customers, to the form of our network
marketing system or elements of our business. In the United States, the network marketing industry and regulatory authorities have relied on the
implementation of distributor rules and policies designed to promote retail sales to protect consumers, prevent inappropriate activities, and distinguish
between legitimate network marketing distribution plans and unlawful pyramid schemes. We have adopted rules and policies based on case law, rulings of
the FTC, discussions with regulatory authorities in several states, and domestic and global industry standards. As a member of the U.S. Direct Selling
Association (the “DSA”), we are required to adhere to a code of ethics that protects our associates and their customers, and ensures all DSA members remain
accountable to regulators, consumers, independent distributors, and the public. Legal and regulatory requirements concerning network marketing systems,
however, involve a high level of subjectivity, are inherently fact-based, and are subject to judicial interpretation. Because of this, we can provide no
assurance that we would not be harmed by the application or interpretation of statutes or regulations governing network marketing, particularly in any civil
challenge by a current or former independent associate or preferred customer.

10. If our network marketing activities do not comply with government regulations, our business could suffer.

Many governmental agencies regulate our network marketing activities. A government agency’s determination that our business or our independent
associates have significantly violated a law or regulation could adversely affect our business. The laws and regulations for network marketing intend to
prevent fraudulent or deceptive schemes. Our business faces constant regulatory scrutiny due to the interpretive and enforcement discretion given to
regulators, periodic misconduct by our independent associates, adoption of new laws or regulations, and changes in the interpretation of new or existing laws
or regulations.

In addition, in the past, and because of the industry in which we operate, we have experienced inquiries regarding specific independent associates.
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11. Ifwe violate governmental regulations or fail to obtain necessary regulatory approvals, our operations could be adversely affected.

Our operation is subject to extensive laws, governmental regulations, administrative determinations, court decisions, and similar constraints at the
federal, state, and local levels in our domestic and foreign markets. These regulations primarily involve the following:

* the formulation, manufacturing, packaging, labeling, distribution, importation, sale, and storage of our products;

» the health and safety of dietary supplements, cosmetics and foods;

+ trade practice laws and network marketing laws;

*  ourproduct claims and advertising by our independent associates;

*  ournetwork marketing system;

*  pricing restrictions regarding transactions with our foreign subsidiaries or other related parties and similar regulations that affect our level of
foreign taxable income;

+ the assessment of customs duties;

+ further taxation of our independent associates, which may obligate us to collect additional taxes and maintain additional records; and

+ export and import restrictions.

Any unexpected new regulations or changes in existing regulations could significantly restrict our ability to continue operations, which could
adversely affect our business. For example, changes regarding health and safety and food and drug regulations for our nutritional products could require us to
reformulate our products to comply with such regulations.

On November 14,2017, we received a Warning Letter from the FDA citing improper claims for our BOUNCEBACK® supplement and labeling issues
pertaining to other products. We sent our response to the FDA on December 5, 2017 noting that we removed the problematic claims from our websites and
provided revised renderings of the cited product labels. We believe this response meets the concerns raised by the FDA and do not anticipate further action.

In some foreign countries, nutritional products are considered foods, while other countries consider them drugs. Future health and safety or food and
drug regulations could delay or prevent our introduction of new products or suspend or prohibit the sale of existing products in a given country or
marketplace. In addition, if we expand into other foreign markets, our operations or products could also be affected by the general stability of such foreign
governments and the regulatory environment relating to network marketing and our products. If our products are subject to high customs duties, our sales and
competitive position could suffer as compared to locally produced goods. Furthermore, import restrictions in certain countries and jurisdictions could limit
our ability to import products from the United States.
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12. Increased regulatory scrutiny of nutritional supplements as well as new regulations that are being adopted in some of our markets with respect to
nutritional supplements could result in more restrictive regulations and harm our results if our supplements or advertising activities are found to
violate existing or new regulations or if we are not able to effect necessary changes to our products in a timely and efficient manner to respond to
new regulations.

There has been an increasing movement in the United States and other markets to increase the regulation of dietary supplements, which could
impose additional restrictions or requirements on us and increase the cost of doing business. The FDA created the Office of Dietary Supplements (“ODSP”) on
December21,2015. The creation of this new office elevates the FDA’s program from its previous status as a division under the Office of Nutrition and Dietary
Supplements. ODSP will continue to monitor the safety of dietary supplements.

In several of our markets, new regulations have been adopted, or are likely to be adopted, in the near-term that will impose new requirements, make
changes in some classifications of supplements under the regulations, or limit the claims we can make. In addition, there has been increased regulatory
scrutiny of nutritional supplements and marketing claims under existing and new regulations. In Europe, for example, we are unable to market supplements
that contain ingredients that have not been previously marketed in Europe without going through an extensive registration and approval process. Europe is
also expected to adopt additional regulations in the future to set new limits on acceptable levels of nutrients. South Africa has also implemented new
“complementary medicine” legislation, which requires a significant dossier in order to register current and new products. Mannatech is working toward
complying with the new legislation and is in contact with the Direct Selling Association in South Africa. In August 2016, the FDA published its revised draft
guidance on Dietary Supplements: New Dietary Ingredient Notifications and Related Issues. If a company sells a dietary supplement containing an ingredient
that FDA considers either not a dietary ingredient or a new dietary ingredient (“NDI”) that needs an NDI notification, the agency may threaten or initiate
enforcement against the Company. For example, it might send a warning letter that can trigger consumer lawsuits, demand a product recall, or even work with
the Department of Justice to bring a criminal action. Our operations could be harmed if new guidance or regulations require us to reformulate products or
effect new registrations, if regulatory authorities make determinations that any of our products do not comply with applicable regulatory requirements, if the
cost of complying with regulatory requirements increases materially, or if we are not able to effect necessary changes to our products in a timely and efficient
manner to respond to new regulations. In addition, our operations could be harmed if governmental laws or regulations are enacted that restrict the ability of
companies to market or distribute nutritional supplements or impose additional burdens or requirements on nutritional supplement companies.

13. Ifwe are unable to protect the proprietary rights of our products, our business could suffer.
Our success and competitive position largely depends on our ability to protect the following proprietary rights:

*  our Ambrotose® complex, a glyconutritional dietary supplement ingredient consisting of a blend of monosaccharides, or sugar molecules, used
in the majority of our products;

*  the MTech AO Blend® formulation, our proprietary antioxidant technology used in the Ambrotose AO® complex; and

* acompound used in our reformulated Advanced Ambrotose® complex that allows for a more potent concentration of the full range of mannose-
containing polysaccharides occurring naturally in aloe.

We have filed patent applications for the technology relating to our Ambrotose ®, Ambrotose AO®, PhytoMatrix®, NutriVerus™, PhytoBurst®, and
GI-ProBalance® products in the United States and certain foreign countries. As of December 31, 2017, we had 11 patents for the technology relating to our
Ambrotose formulation, two of which were issued in the United States and the remainder of which were issued, granted, and validated in 9 foreign
jurisdictions. In addition, we have entered into confidentiality agreements with our independent associates, suppliers, manufacturers, directors, officers, and
consultants to help protect our proprietary rights. Nevertheless, we continue to face the risk that our pending patent applications for our products may not
issue or that the patent protection granted is more limited than originally requested. As a precaution, we consult with outside legal counsel and consultants to
help ensure that we protect our proprietary rights. However, our business, profitability, and growth prospects could be adversely affected if we fail to receive
adequate protection of our proprietary rights.

27



Table of Contents

Although several patents pertaining to Ambrotose® technology have expired, Mannatech continues to actively explore additional patent protection
of'its technology and pursue expanded patent protection strategies. Our Ambrotose® product formulation has proprietary elements and we have contractual
arrangements with certain suppliers affording us exclusive access to certain ingredients in those formulations. We have a number of pending patent
applications for additional protection of Ambrotose®-related technology. Four of these patents have already issued, and the remaining patent applications
are at various stages of processing, depending on the timeline of each market’s patent offices.

Most of our patents for the Ambrotose AO®, GI-ProBalance®™, PhytoMatrix®, NutriVerus™, and PhytoBlend® formulations and our patents in the
field of biomarker assays do not expire for another seven or more years.

14. Our inability to develop and introduce new products that gain independent associate, preferred customer, and market acceptance could harm our
business.

A critical component of our business is our ability to develop new products that create enthusiasm among our independent associates and preferred
customers. If we are unable to introduce new products, our independent associate productivity could be harmed. In addition, if any new products fail to gain
market acceptance, are restricted by regulatory requirements or have quality problems, this would harm our results of operations. Factors that could affect our
ability to continue to introduce new products include, among others, government regulations, the inability to attract and retain qualified research and
development staff, the termination of third-party research and collaborative arrangements, proprietary protections of competitors that may limit our ability to
offer comparable products, and the difficulties in anticipating changes in consumer tastes and buying preferences.

15. Our failure to appropriately respond to changing consumer preferences and demand for new products or product enhancements could
significantly harm our relationship with independent associates and preferred customers, our product sales, as well as our financial condition and
operating results.

Our business is subject to changing consumer trends and preferences, including rapid and frequent changes in demand for products, new product
introductions, and enhancements. Our failure to accurately predict these trends could negatively impact consumer opinion of our products, which in turn
could harm our independent associate and preferred customer relationships and cause the loss of sales. The success of our new product offerings and
enhancements depends upon a number of factors, including our ability to:

* accurately anticipate consumer needs;

* innovate and develop new products or product enhancements that meet these needs;

»  successfully commercialize new products or product enhancements in a timely manner;
*  price our products competitively;

* manufacture and deliver our products in sufficient volumes and in a timely manner; and

» differentiate our product offerings from those of our competitors.

If we do not introduce new products or make enhancements to meet the changing needs of our independent associates and preferred customers in a
timely manner, some of our products could be rendered obsolete, which could negatively impact our revenues, financial condition, and operating results.

16. If our outside suppliers and manufacturers fail to supply products in sufficient quantities and in a timely fashion, our business could suffer.

Outside manufacturers make all of our products. Our profit margins and timely product delivery are dependent upon the ability of our outside
suppliers and manufacturers to supply us with products in a timely and cost-efficient manner. Our ability to enter new markets and sustain satisfactory levels
of sales in each market depends on the ability of our outside suppliers and manufacturers to provide required levels of ingredients and products and to
comply with all applicable regulations. As a precaution, we have approved alterate suppliers and manufacturers for our products. However, the failure of our
primary suppliers or manufacturers to supply ingredients or produce our products could adversely affect our business operations.
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We believe we have dependable suppliers for all of our ingredients and we have identified alternative sources for all of our ingredients, except
Arabinogalactan. Due to the unique nature of Arabinogalactan, an important component used in the formulation of our Ambrotose ® complex, we are unable
to identify an alternative supplier at this time. If our suppliers are unable to perform, any delay in replacing or substituting such ingredients could affect our
business.

17. The loss of suppliers or shortages of raw materials could have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition, or results of operations.

We depend on outside suppliers for raw materials. Our contract manufacturers acquire all of the raw materials for manufacturing our products from
third-party suppliers. In the event we were to lose any significant suppliers and have trouble in finding or transitioning to alternative suppliers, it could result
in product shortages or product back orders, which could harm our business. There can be no assurance that suppliers will be able to provide our contract
manufacturers the raw materials in the quantities and at the appropriate level of quality that we request or at a price that we are willing to pay. We are also
subject to delays caused by any interruption in the production of these materials including weather, crop conditions, climate change, transportation
interruptions and natural disasters or other catastrophic events.

18. Ifwe are exposed to product liability claims, we may be liable for damages and expenses, which could affect our overall financial condition.

We could face financial liability from product liability claims if the use of our products results in significant loss or injury. We can make no
assurances that we will not be exposed to any substantial future product liability claims. Such claims may include claims that our products contain
contaminants, that we provide our independent associates and consumers with inadequate instructions regarding product use, or that we provide inadequate
warnings concerming side effects or interactions of our products with other substances. We believe that we, our suppliers, and our manufacturers maintain
adequate product liability insurance coverage. However, a substantial future product liability claim could exceed the amount of insurance coverage or could
be excluded under the terms of an existing insurance policy, which could adversely affect our overall future financial condition.

In recent years a discovery of Bovine Spongiform Encephalopathy, (“BSE”), which is commonly referred to as “Mad Cow Disease”, has caused
concern among the general public. As a result, some countries have banned the importation or sale of products that contain bovine materials sourced from
locations where BSE has been identified. We have changed the vast majority of our capsules to a vegetable base. However, if a vegetable base is not available
or practical for use, certifications are required to ensure the capsule material is BSE-free. The higher costs could affect our financial condition, results of
operations, and our cash flows.

19. Concentration Risk

Asignificant portion of our revenue is derived from our Ambrotose ®, Advanced Ambrotose®, Manapol®, PLUS™ products and TruHealth™ products.
A decline in sales value of such products could have a material adverse effect on our eamings, cash flows, and financial position. Revenue from these
products were as follows for the years ended December 31,2017 and 2016 (in thousands, except percentages):

2017 2016
Sales by % of total Sales by % of total
product net sales product net sales
Advanced Ambrotose® $ 52,592 298% $ 55,863 31.0%
TruHealth™ 16,652 9.4% 9,220 5.1%
Manapol® Powder 11,183 6.3% 2,153 1.2%
Ambrotose® 8,459 4.8% 10,196 5.7%
PLUS™ 7,461 4.2% 7,935 4.4%
Total $ 96,347 545% $ 85,367 47.4%

Our business is not currently exposed to customer concentration risk given that no independent associate has ever accounted for more than 10% of
our consolidated net sales.
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20. If we incur substantial liability from litigation, complaints, or enforcement actions or incur liabilities or penalties resulting from misconduct by
our independent associates, our financial condition could suffer.

Routine enforcement actions and complaints are common in our industry. Although we believe we fully cooperate with regulatory agencies and use
various means to address misconduct by our independent associates, including maintaining policies and procedures to govern the conduct of our
independent associates and conducting training seminars, it is still difficult to detect and correct all instances of misconduct. Violations of our policies and
procedures by our independent associates could lead to litigation, formal or informal complaints, enforcement actions, and inquiries by various federal, state,
or foreign regulatory authorities against us and/or our independent associates in each country. Because we have expanded into foreign countries, our policies
and procedures for our independent associates differ depending on the different legal requirements of each country in which an independent associate does
business. Any future litigation, complaints, and enforcement actions involving us and/or our independent associates could consume considerable amounts of
financial and other corporate resources, which could have a negative impact on our business, profitability, and growth prospects.

21. The global nutrition and skin care industries are intensely competitive and the strengthening of any of our competitors could harm our business.

The global nutrition and skin care industries are intensely fragmented and competitive. We compete for independent associates with other network
marketing companies outside the global nutrition and skin care industries. Many of our competitors have greater name recognition and financial resources,
which may give them a competitive advantage. Our competitors may also be able to devote greater resources to marketing, promotional, and pricing
campaigns that may influence our continuing and potential independent associates and preferred customers to buy products from competitors rather than
from us. Such competition could adversely affect our business and current market share.

22, A downturn in the economy could affect consumer purchases of discretionary items such as the health and wellness products that we offer, which
could have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition, profitability, and cash flows.

We appeal to a wide demographic consumer profile and offer a broad selection of health and wellness products. A downturn in the economy could
adversely impact consumer purchases of discretionary items such as health and wellness products. In past years, the United States and global economies
slowed dramatically as a result of a variety of problems, including turmoil in the credit and financial markets, concerns regarding the stability and viability of
major financial institutions, the state of the housing markets, and volatility in worldwide stock markets. In the event of such economic downturn, the U.S. and
global economies could become significantly challenged in a recessionary state for an indeterminate period of time. These economic conditions could cause
many of our existing and potential associates to delay or reduce purchases of our products for some time, which in turn could harm our business by adversely
affecting our revenues, results of operations, cash flows and financial condition. We cannot predict these economic conditions or the impact they would have
on our consumers or business.
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23. If our international markets are not successful, our business could suffer.

We currently sell our products in the international markets of Canada, Mexico, Colombia, Austria, the Czech Republic, Denmark, Estonia, Finland,
Germany, the Republic of Ireland, Namibia, Netherlands, Norway, South Africa, Spain, Sweden, the United Kingdom, Australia, Japan, New Zealand, the
Republic of Korea, Singapore, Taiwan, Hong Kong and China. We operate in China on a non-direct selling business model instead of our traditional network
marketing model. In China, multi-level marketing is prohibited by the Prohibition of Pyramid Selling and direct selling without a license is prohibited by the
Regulation on the Administration of Direct Sales. Our international operations could experience changes in legal and regulatory requirements, as well as
difficulties in adapting to new foreign cultures and business customs. If we do not adequately address such issues, our international markets may not meet
growth expectations. Our international operations and future expansion plans are subject to political, economic, and social uncertainties, including:

» inflation;

+ the renegotiation or modification of various agreements;

e increases in custom duties and tariffs;

* changes and limits in export controls;

* complex U.S. and foreign laws, treaties and regulations, including without limitation, tax laws, the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (“FCPA”),
and the Bribery Act 0f2010 (“U.K. Anti-Bribery Act);

+ trademark availability and registration issues;

+ changes in exchange rates;

* changes in taxation;

e wars, civil unrest, acts of terrorism and other hostilities;

* political, economic, and social conditions;

» changes in the perception of network marketing; and

» risk of our independent associates offering business opportunities in China.

The risks outlined above could adversely affect our ability to sell products, obtain international customers, or to operate our international business
profitably, which would have a negative impact on our overall business and results of operations. Furthermore, any negative changes in our distribution
channels may force us to invest significant time and money related to our distribution and sales to maintain our position in certain international markets.
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24. Adverse or negative publicity could cause our business to suffer.

Our business depends, in part, on the public’s perception of our integrity and the safety and quality of our products. Any adverse publicity could
negatively affect the public’s perception about our industry, our products, or our reputation and could result in a significant decline in our operations and/or
the number of our independent associates. Specifically, we are susceptible to adverse or negative publicity regarding:

the nutritional supplements industry;

skeptical consumers;

competitors;

the safety and quality of our products and/or our ingredients;
regulatory investigations of our products or our competitors’ products;
the actions of our independent associates;

the direct selling/network marketing industry; and

scandals within the industries in which we operate.

25. If our information technology system fails or if the implementation of new information technology systems is not executed efficiently and
effectively, our business, financial position, and our operating results could be adversely affected.

Like many companies, our business is heavily dependent upon our information technology infrastructure to effectively manage and operate many of
our key business functions, including:

order processing;

supply chain management;
customer service;

product distribution;
commission processing;

cash receipts and payments; and

financial reporting.

These systems and operations are vulnerable to damage and interruption from fires, earthquakes, telecommunications failures, and other events.
They are also subject to break-ins, sabotage, intentional acts of vandalism and similar misconduct. Although we maintain an extensive security system and
business continuity program that was developed under the guidelines published by the National Institute of Standards of Technology, a long-term failure or
impairment of any of our information technology systems could adversely affect our ability to conduct day-to-day business.

Occasionally information technology systems must be upgraded or replaced and if this system implementation is not executed efficiently and
effectively, the implementation may cause interruptions in our primary management information systems, which may make our website or services
unavailable thereby preventing us from processing transactions, which would adversely affect our financial position or operating results.
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The regulatory climate for data privacy and protection continues to grow in scope and complexity both domestically and in the international
markets in which we operate. Although there is no single federal law in the United States imposing a cross-sectoral data breach notification obligation,
virtually every state has enacted breach notification requirements. Additionally, many of the international countries in which we operate have proposed or
enacted laws or regulations on the appropriate use and disclosure of financial and personal data. Currently, there is proposed draft regulation in Canada that,
if adopted, will require companies based in Canada that experience a data breach to provide information to the Office of the Privacy Commission of Canada
and to record data breaches. The European Union (“EU”) adopted the General Data Protection Regulation (“GDPR”) on April 27,2016. The GDPR goes into
effect on May 25, 2018. The GDPR applies to organizations based in the EU and organizations based outside of the EU that offer products or services to
individuals in the EU or that otherwise monitor individuals in the EU. While U.S. state laws generally cover specific categories of sensitive personal data
(e.g., social security numbers, bank account numbers, and credit card numbers), the GDPR notification requirements will apply to incidents involving any
personal data, meaning any data related to an identified person. Our failure or inability to comply with data protection regimes domestically and in foreign
countries could result in fines, penalties, injunctions, or material litigation expenditures.

With increased frequency in recent years, cyber-attacks against companies have resulted in breaches of data security. Our business requires the
storage and transmission of suppliers’ data and our independent associates’ and customers’ personal, credit card, and other confidential information. Our
information technology systems are susceptible to a growing and evolving threat of cybersecurity risk. Any substantial compromise of our data security,
whether externally or internally, or misuse of associate, customer, or employee data, could cause considerable damage to our reputation, cause the public
disclosure of confidential information, and result in lost sales, significant costs, and litigation, which would negatively affect our financial position and
results of operations. Although we maintain policies and processes surrounding the protection of sensitive data, which we believe to be adequate, there can
be no assurances that we will not be subject to such claims in the future.

26. Taxation and transfer pricing affect our operations and we could be subjected to additional taxes, duties, interest, and penalties in material
amounts, which could harm our business.

As a multinational corporation, in many countries, including the United States, we are subject to transfer pricing and other tax regulations designed
to ensure that our intercompany transactions are consummated at prices that have not been manipulated to produce a desired tax result, that appropriate
levels of income are reported as earned by the local entities, and that we are taxed appropriately on such transactions. Regulators closely monitor our
corporate structure, intercompany transactions, and how we effectuate intercompany fund transfers. If regulators challenge our corporate structure, transfer
pricing methodologies or intercompany transfers, our operations may be harmed and our effective tax rate may increase. Scrutiny has increased with the
advent of the OECD Base Erosion and Profit Shifting project.

On December 22, 2017, the U.S. enacted the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act ("Act"). The estimated effects based upon current
implementation of the Act have been incorporated into our financial results. As additional data is prepared and analyzed and as additional clarification and
implementation is issued on the new tax law, it may be necessary to adjust the provisional amounts. Any adjustments could have a material impact on our
profitability. In addition, there is a risk that states and foreign jurisdictions may amend their tax laws in response to the Act, which could have a material
impact on our future results. Our existing tax structure was designed prior to this legislation. Under the Act, our future taxes might be higher, which may have
a material impact on our profitability.

We are subject to income taxes in the U.S. and numerous international jurisdictions. Our income tax provision and cash tax liability in the future
could be adversely affected by changes in eamnings in countries with differing statutory tax rates, changes in the valuation of deferred tax assets and
liabilities, changes in tax laws and the discovery of new information in the course of our tax return preparation process. We are also subject to ongoing tax
audits. These audits can involve complex issues, which may require an extended period of time to resolve and can be highly judgmental. Tax authorities may
disagree with certain tax reporting positions taken by us and, as a result, assess additional taxes against us. We regularly assess the likely outcomes of these
audits in order to determine the appropriateness of our tax provision. The amounts ultimately paid upon resolution of these or subsequent tax audits could be
materially different from the amount previously included in our income tax provision, and, therefore, could have a material impact on our profitability.
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27. Currency exchange rate fluctuations could reduce our overall profits.

For the year ended December 31,2017, we recognized 72.2% of net sales in markets outside of the United States and 63.7% in markets outside of the
Americas. For the year ended December 31, 2016, we recognized 70.5% of net sales in markets outside of the United States and 61.1% in markets outside of
the Americas. In preparing our consolidated financial statements, we are required to translate certain financial information from foreign currencies to the
United States dollar using either the spot rate or the weighted-average exchange rate. If the United States dollar changes relative to applicable local
currencies, there is a risk our reported sales, operating expenses, and net income could significantly fluctuate. For example, while our 2017 net sales declined
3.3% on a Constant dollar basis (see Item 7, Non-GAAP Financial Measures), favorable foreign exchange caused a $2.3 million increase in GAAP net sales as
compared to 2016. In other words, sales would have been $2.3 million lower, except for the impact of foreign exchange. There can be no assurance that
foreign currency fluctuations will not have a material adverse effect on our business, assets, financial condition, liquidity, results of operations or cash flows.
We are not able to predict the degree of exchange rate fluctuations, nor can we estimate the effect any future fluctuations may have upon our future
operations. To date, we have not entered into any hedging contracts or participated in any hedging or derivative activities.

28. Our stock price is volatile and may fluctuate significantly.

The price of our common stock is subject to sudden and material increases and decreases. Decreases could adversely affect investments in our
common stock. The price of our common stock and the price at which we could sell securities in the future could significantly fluctuate in response to:

*  broad market fluctuations and general economic conditions;

e fluctuations in our financial results;

» future securities offerings;

» changes in the market’s perception of our products or our business, including false or negative publicity;
* governmental regulatory actions;

* the outcome of any lawsuits;

» financial and business announcements made by us or our competitors;

» the demand and daily trading volume of our shares;

+ the general condition of the industry; and

* the sale of large amounts of stock by insiders.

In addition, the stock market has experienced extreme price and volume fluctuations in recent years that have significantly affected the quoted
prices of the securities of many companies. The changes sometimes appear to occur without regard to specific operating performance. The price of our
common stock in the open market could fluctuate based on factors that have little or nothing to do with us or that are outside of our control. For example,
general economic conditions, such as recession or interest rate or currency rate fluctuations in the United States or abroad, could negatively affect the market
price of our common stock in the future.

29. Certain shareholders, directors, and officers own a significant amount of our stock, which could allow them to influence corporate transactions
and other matters.

As of December 31, 2017, our directors and executive officers collectively with their families and affiliates, beneficially owned approximately
17.9% of our total outstanding common stock. As a result, if two or more of these shareholders choose to act together based on their current share ownership,
they may be able to control a significant percentage of the total outstanding shares of our common stock, which could affect the outcome of a shareholder
vote on the election of directors, the adoption of stock option plans, the adoption or amendment of provisions in our articles of incorporation and bylaws, or
the approval of mergers and other significant corporate transactions.
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30. We have implemented anti-takeover provisions that may help discourage a change of control.

Certain provisions in our articles of incorporation, bylaws, and the Texas Business Organizations Code help discourage unsolicited proposals to
acquire our Company, even if the proposal may benefit our shareholders. Our articles of incorporation authorize the issuance of preferred stock without
shareholder approval. Our Board of Directors has the power to determine the price and terms of any preferred stock. The ability of our Board of Directors to
issue one or more series of preferred stock without shareholders’ approval could deter or delay unsolicited changes of control by discouraging open market
purchases of our common stock or a non-negotiated tender or exchange offer for our common stock. Discouraging open market purchases may be
disadvantageous to our shareholders who may otherwise desire to participate in a transaction in which they would receive a premium for their shares.

In addition, other provisions may also discourage a change of control by means of a tender offer, open market purchase, proxy contest or otherwise.
Our charter documents provide for three classes of directors on our Board of Directors with members of each class serving staggered three year terms. Our
bylaws provide that directors are elected by a plurality vote and that directors can only be removed for cause upon the affirmative vote of the holders of a
majority of the issued and outstanding shares entitled to be cast for the election of such directors. Furthermore, our bylaws establish advance notice
requirements for nominations for election to our board of directors or for proposing matters that can be acted on by shareholders at shareholder meetings. In
addition, the Texas Business Organization Code restricts, subject to exceptions, business combinations with any “affiliated shareholder.” Any or all of these
provisions could delay, deter or help prevent a takeover of our Company and could limit the price investors are willing to pay for our common stock.

31. Our failure to comply with the NASDAQ Global Select Market continued listing standards may adversely affect the price and liquidity of our
shares of common stock as well as our ability to raise capital in the future.

Our common stock is currently listed on the NASDAQ Global Select Market. Continued listing of a security on Nasdaq is conditioned upon
compliance with various continued listing standards. There can be no assurance that we will continue to satisfy the requirements for maintaining listing on
Nasdagq. If we are unsuccessful in maintaining compliance with the continued listing requirements of Nasdaq, then our common stock could be delisted. If our
common stock is delisted and we cannot obtain listing on another major market or exchange, our common stock’s liquidity would suffer, and we would likely
experience reduced investor interest. Such factors may result in a decrease in our common stock’s trading price. Delisting may also restrict us from issuing
additional securities or securing financing.

As of the date of issuance of this report, we were in compliance with the continued listing requirements. However, we cannot assure you that we will
be successful in continuing to meet all requisite continued listing criteria.

32. We are not required to pay dividends, and our Board of Directors may decide not to declare dividends in the future.

The declaration of dividends on our common stock is solely within the discretion of our Board of Directors, subject to limitations under Texas law
stipulating that dividends may not be paid if payment therefore would cause the corporation to be insolvent or if the amount of the dividend would exceed
the surplus of the corporation. Our Board of Directors may decide not to declare dividends or we could be prevented from declaring a dividend because of
legal or contractual restrictions. The failure to pay dividends could reduce our stock price.
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33. We rely upon our existing cash balances and cash flow from operations to fund our business and meet our contractual obligations. In the event
that we do not generate adequate cash flow from operations, we will need to raise money through a debt or equity financing, if available, or
curtail operations.

The adequacy of our cash resources to continue to meet our future operational needs depends, in large part, on our ability to increase product sales
and/or reduce operating costs and some of these costs are fixed contractual obligations. As of December 31,2017 and 2016, cash and cash equivalents held in
bank accounts in foreign countries totaled $30.6 million and $27.5 million, respectively.

We maintain supply agreements with our suppliers and manufacturers. Certain of our supply agreements contain exclusivity clauses for the supply
of certain raw materials and products, some of which are conditioned upon compliance with minimum purchase requirements. One of our supply agreements,
under which the supplier provides us with certain aloe vera-based products, requires us to purchase products in an aggregate amount of $14.9 million through
2020. Failure to satisfy minimum purchase requirements could result in the loss of exclusivity, which could adversely affect our business.

If we are unsuccessful in generating positive cash flow from operations, we could exhaust our available cash resources and be required to secure
additional funding through a debt or equity financing, transfer cash in a manner that could be taxed, significantly scale back our operations, and/or
discontinue many of our activities, which could negatively affect our business and prospects. Additional funding may not be available or may only be
available on unfavorable terms.

34. The reduced disclosure requirements applicable to us as a "smaller reporting company'' may make our common stock less attractive to investors.

We are a "smaller reporting company" as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act. As a smaller reporting company we prepare and file SEC forms
similar to other SEC reporting companies; however, the information disclosed may differ and be less comprehensive. If some investors find our common stock
less attractive as a result of less comprehensive information we may disclose pursuant to the exemptions available to us as a smaller reporting company, there
may be a less active trading market for our common stock and our stock price may be more volatile than that of an otherwise comparable company that does
not avail itself of the same or similar exemptions.

Circumstances and conditions may change. Accordingly, additional risks and uncertainties not currently known, or that we currently deem not
material, may also adversely affect our business operations.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

None.
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Item 2. Properties

We lease property at several locations for our headquarters and distribution facilities, including:

Location

Size

Expiration date

Flower Mound, Texas (corporate headquarters)
Coppell, Texas (distribution center)

Coppell, Texas

St. Leonards, Australia (Australian headquarters)
Shibuya-ku, Tokyo, Japan (Japanese headquarters)
Chuo-ku, Osaka, Japan (Japanese training center)
Gangnam-gu, Seoul, Korea (Republic of Korea headquarters)
Seo-gu, Daejun, Korea (Regional center)
Haewoondae-gu, Busan, Korea (Pusan training center)
Incheon, South Korea (Incheon training center)
Seoul, South Korea (office)

Taipei, Taiwan (Taiwan headquarters)

Kaohsiung, Taiwan (Taiwan training center)

Zug, Switzerland (Switzerland headquarters)

Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong (office)
Hengqin, Zhuhai, China (office)

Tianhe, Guangzhou, China (office)

Richmond, BC (Canada training center)
Markham, ON (office)

Bedfordview, South Africa (office)

Guadalajara, Mexico (Mexico headquarters)
Mexico City, Mexico (customer service center)
Monterrey, Mexico (office)

Tuxtla, Mexico (office)

Colima, Mexico (office)

Singapore (meeting center)

Bogota, Columbia (office)

52,992 sq. feet
75,000 sq. feet(
110,000 sq. feet
850 sq. meters()
150 Tsubos®

73 Tsubos®

718 Pyong®
113 Pyong(®)

191 Pyong(
218 Pyong®)

99 Pyong®)

172 Pings(10)
102 Pings(1D
680 sq. meters(12)
4,334 sq. feet
677 sq. feet

355 sq. feet
1,963 sq. feet
1,714 sq. feet
383 sq. meters13)
389 sq. meters(14)
123 sq. meters(5)
149.16 sq. meters(16)
23.76 sq. meters(17)
68 sq. meters(18)
1,098 sq. feet
700 sq. feet

April 2028
March 2018
March 2018
December 2018
September 2019
August 2020
June 2018
June 2018
March 2019
April 2019
June 2018
February 2020
June 2020
__(19)

June 2019

November 2018
July 2018
September 2022
September 2019
(20

March 2020
August 2018
June 2018
October 2018
January 2019

September 2018
__(19)

() The Company subleases a majority of this space to Integrated Distribution and (19 Approximately 6,119 square feet.

Logistics Direct, LLC, which provides warehousing and distribution services. (D Approximately 3,629 square feet.
(2 Approximately 9,150 square feet & subleases 2,153 sq. ft. to Morrison Design (12 Approximately 7,320 square feet.
Partnership. (13) Approximately 4,123 square feet.

() Approximately 5,338 square feet.
) Approximately 2,598 square feet.
() Approximately 25,549 square feet.
(6) Approximately 4,021 square feet.
(M Approximately 6,796 square feet.
(®) Approximately 7,757 square feet.
) Approximately 3,523 square feet.

To maximize our operating strategy and minimize costs, we contract with third-party distribution and fulfillment facilities in our three regions: (i)

(14 Approximately 4,187 square feet.
(15) Approximately 1,324 square feet.
(16) Approximately 1,606 square feet.

(17) Approximately 256 square feet.
(18) Approximately 732 square feet.
(19) Renewable annually.
(20) Renewable monthly.

the Americas, (i) EMEA and (iii) Asia/Pacific. By entering into these third-party distribution facility agreements, our offices maintain flexible operating
capacity, minimize shipping costs, and are able to process an order within 24-hours after order placement and receipt of payment.

37



Table of Contents

Item 3. Legal Proceedings
See Note 12 to our Consolidated Financial Statement, Litigation, which is incorporated herein by reference.
Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

Not Applicable.
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PART II
Item S. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Shareholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

Market for Our Common Stock . On February 12, 1999, we completed our initial public offering. Our common stock is currently trading on Nasdaq under the
symbol “MTEX.” As of February 28,2018, we had an aggregate 02,719,271 shares of our common stock outstanding and the closing price on such date was
$13.85. Below are the high and low closing prices of our common stock as reported on the Nasdaq for each quarter of the fiscal years ended December 31,
2017 and 2016:

2017: Low High
First Quarter $ 15.00 $ 20.35
Second Quarter $ 13.10 $ 16.61
Third Quarter $ 14.00 $ 16.65
Fourth Quarter $ 13.61 $ 15.00
2016: Low High
First Quarter $ 1685 $ 2433
Second Quarter $ 1858 $ 22.88
Third Quarter $ 16.64 $ 20.59
Fourth Quarter $ 1625 $ 21.85

Holders. As of February 28,2018, there were 1,475 shareholders of record.
Dividends. During the year ended December 31,2017, the Company declared and paid dividends on its outstanding common stock
amounting to an aggregate of $1.4 million. During the year ended December 31,2016, the Company declared and paid dividends on its outstanding common

stock amounting to an aggregate of $0.7 million.

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities. None.

Uses of Proceeds from Registered Securities. None.
Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities.

The following information is provided pursuant to Item 703 of Regulation S-K:

Total number of shares Dollar value of
Total number Average purchased as part of shares that may yet
of shares price publicly announced be purchased ®
Period purchased paid per share programs® (in thousands)
October 1,2017 - October 31,2017 — 3 — — 3 19,584
November 1,2017 - November 30,2017 — 3 — — 19,584
December 1,2017 - December 31,2017 5,551 $ 14.72 5,551 19,502
Total 5,551 5,551

(®)We have an ongoing authorization, originally approved by our Board of Directors on August 28, 2006, and subsequently reactivated by our Board of Directors in August of
2016, to repurchase up to $0.5 million (of the original $20.0 million authorization) in shares of our common stock in the open market. In December of 2017, our Board of
Directors reactivated an additional $0.5 million (of the original $20.0 million authorization) in shares of our common stock to be repurchased in the open market.

(®Remaining value of the original $20.0 million approved on August 28, 2006 (the “August 2006 Plan™).

Item 6. Selected Financial Data

Not applicable for a Smaller Reporting Company
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following discussion is intended to assist in the understanding of our consolidated financial position and our results of operations for each of
the two years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016. This discussion should be read in conjunction with “Item 15. — Consolidated Financial Statements and
related notes,” beginning on page F-1 of this report and with other financial information included elsewhere in this report. Unless stated otherwise, all
financial information presented below, throughout this report, and in the consolidated financial statements and related notes includes Mannatech and all of
our subsidiaries on a consolidated basis. Refer to the Non-GAAP Financial Measure section herein for a description of how Constant dollar (“Constant
dollar”) growth rate (a Non-GAAP financial metric) is determined.

COMPANY OVERVIEW

Mannatech is a global wellness solution provider, which was incorporated and began operations in November 1993. We develop and sell
innovative, high quality, proprietary nutritional supplements, topical and skin care and anti-aging products, and weight-management products that target
optimal health and wellness. We currently sell our products in three regions: (i) the Americas (the United States, Canada, Colombia and Mexico); (ii)
Europe/the Middle East/Africa (‘EMEA”) (Austria, the Czech Republic, Denmark, Estonia, Finland, Germany, the Republic of Ireland, Namibia, the
Netherlands, Norway, South Africa, Spain, Sweden and the United Kingdom); and (iii) Asia/Pacific (Australia, Japan, New Zealand, the Republic of Korea,
Singapore, Taiwan, Hong Kong, and China).

On July 1, 2017, we revised our 2017 Associate Compensation Plan, which was designed to stimulate business growth and development for our
active business building associates and to maximize the buying experience for our preferred customers. In doing so, the Company hopes to better utilize
commission dollars to stimulate Company growth. The 2017 Associate Compensation Plan provides revised income streams, new leadership levels and titles,
and modified various volume requirements for our associates. In addition, the 2017 Associate Compensation Plan re-designated members as preferred
customers and modified their pricing structure.

We conduct our business as a single reporting segment and primarily sell our products through a network of approximately 215,000 active
associates and preferred customer positions held by individuals that had purchased our products and/or packs or paid associate fees during the last 12
months, who we refer to as current associates and preferred customers. New pack sales and the receipt of new associate fees in connection with new positions
in our network are leading indicators for the long-term success of our business. New associate or preferred customer positions are created in our network when
our associate fees are paid or packs and products are purchased for the first time under a new account. We operate as a seller of nutritional supplements,
topical and skin care and anti-aging products, and weight-management products through our network marketing distribution channels operating in 25
countries and direct e-commerce retail in China. We review and analyze net sales by geographical location and by packs and products on a consolidated
basis. Each of our subsidiaries sells similar products and exhibits similar economic characteristics, such as selling prices and gross margins.

Because we sell our products through network marketing distribution channels, the opportunities and challenges that affect us most are: recruitment
of new and retention of current associates and preferred customers that occupy sales or purchasing positions in our network; entry into new markets and
growth of existing markets; niche market development; new product introduction; and investment in our infrastructure. Our subsidiary in China, Meitai, is
currently operating as a traditional retailer under a cross-border e-commerce model. Meitai cannot legally conduct a direct selling business in China until it
acquires a direct selling license in China.
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Current Economic Conditions and Recent Developments

Overall net sales decreased $3.6 million, or2.0%, for 2017, as compared to 2016. While our 2017 net sales declined $5.9 million, or3.3%, on a
Constant dollar basis (see Non-GAAP Measures, below), favorable foreign exchange caused a $2.3 million increase in GAAP net sales as compared to 2016.

Our operations outside of the Americas accounted for approximately 63.7% and 61.1% of our consolidated net sales for 2017 and 2016,
respectively.

The net sales comparisons for the year ended December 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016 were primarily affected by our 2017 Associate
Compensation Plan, which was strategically designed to de-emphasize the importance of pack sales in order to stay current and competitive with industry
changes.

In connection with the 2017 Associate Compensation Plan, pack sales have been replaced with associate fees for the United States, Canada, South
Africa, Japan, Australia, New Zealand, Singapore, Hong Kong, and Taiwan. Associate fees, which an associate must pay annually in order to be entitled to
earn commissions, benefits and incentives in these regions, now average approximately $50 annually (which may vary across geographic markets). Pack sales
had an average value of $197 during fiscal year 2017 before we implemented the 2017 Associate Compensation Plan. As we roll out associate fees (and
replace pack sales) across our remaining markets, we expect to see a decrease in future sales volumes from pack sales. However, actual results may vary from
our expectations.

As a result of this aforementioned change associated with implementing the 2017 Associate Compensation Plan, pack sales (as well as other revenue
metrics related to packs) decreased relative to comparative periods. The number of packs sold to, and associate fees paid by, new and continuing independent
associates and preferred customers decreased 16.5% during 2017 to approximately 104,600 as compared to 125,300 during 2016. In addition, average pack
value decreased by $77, to $136 for the year ended December 31,2017, as compared to $213 for the same period in 2016.

The number of product orders decreased 4.1% during the year ended December 31,2017 to approximately 942,300 as compared to 982,600 during

the same period in 2016. This decrease was partially offset by a $16 increase in the average product order sale, to $182 for the year ended December 31, 2017,
as compared to $166 for the same period in 2016.

Excluding the effects due to the translation of foreign currencies into U.S. dollars, net sales would have decreased $5.9 million for 2017. These
adjusted net sales expressed in Constant dollars are a non-GAAP financial measure discussed in further detail below.
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
Year Ended December 31,2017 compared to Year Ended December 31,2016

The tables below summarize our consolidated operating results in dollars and as a percentage of net sales for the years ended December 31,2017 and
2016 (in thousands, except percentages).

2017 2016 Change
Total % of Total % of
Dollars net sales dollars net sales Dollar Percentage

Net sales $ 176,696 1000% $ 180,304 1000 % $ (3,608) 2.0)%

Cost of sales 35,667 202 % 36,564 203 % (897) 2.5)%

Gross profit 141,029 79.8 % 143,740 79.7 % 2,711) 1.9)%
Operating expenses:

Commissions and incentives 74,550 422 % 74,215 412 % 335 0.5%

Selling and administrative expenses 35,470 20.1 % 37,217 20.6 % (1,747) 4. 7%

Depreciation and amortization 1,864 1.0 % 1,898 1.0 % (34) (1.8)%

Other operating costs 26,626 15.1% 29,749 16.5% (3,123) (10.5)%

Total operating expenses 138,510 78.4 % 143,079 79.4 % (4,569) 3.2)%

Income from operations 2,519 1.4 % 661 0.4 % 1,858 281.1 %

Interest income 274 0.2 % 174 0.1 % 100 57.5%

Other (expense), net (333) 0.2)% (1,790) (1.0)% 1,457 814 %

Income (Loss) before income taxes 2,460 14 % 955) 0.5)% 3,415 357.6 %

Income tax benefit (provision) (4,247) 2.4)% 369 0.2% (4,616) (1,250.9)%
Net loss $ 1,787) 1.00% $ (586) 0.3)% $ (1,201) (204.9)%

Non-GAAP Financial Measures

To supplement our financial results presented in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States ("GAAP"), we
disclose operating results that have been adjusted to exclude the impact of changes due to the translation of foreign currencies into U.S. dollars, including
changes in: Net Sales, Gross Profit, and Income from Operations. We refer to these adjusted financial measures as Constant dollar items, which are Non-GAAP
financial measures. We believe these measures provide investors an additional perspective on trends. To exclude the impact of changes due to the translation
of foreign currencies into U.S. dollars, we calculate current year results and prior year results at a constant exchange rate, which is the prior year’s rate.
Currency impact is determined as the difference between actual growth rates and constant currency growth rates.

2017 2016 Constant $ Change
GAAP Non-GAAP GAAP
Measure: Measure: Measure:
Total $ Constant $ Total § Dollar Percent
Net sales 176.7 1744  $ 180.3 (5.9) 3.3)%
Product 157.9 155.8 148.6 7.2 4.8 %
Pack and associate fees® 14.2 14.0 26.7 12.7) (47.6)%
Other 4.6 4.6 5.0 0.4) (8.0)%
Gross profit 141.0 139.2 143.7 4.5) B.H)%
Income from operations 25 1.9 0.7 1.2 171.4 %

2)Coincident with the introduction of the 2017 Associate Compensation Plan, which was implemented on July 1, 2017, the Company collects associate fees, which each associate
pays to the Company annually in order to be entitled to earn commissions, benefits and incentives for that year. The Company collected associate fees within the United States,
Canada, South Africa, Japan, Australia, New Zealand, Singapore, Hong Kong, and Taiwan during the year ended December 31, 2017. Prior to the change, associates purchased
packs that were bundles of products within these respective geographic markets. Since implementing the 2017 Associate Compensation Plan, total associate fees represented an
immaterial amount of total sales.
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Net Sales in Dollars and as a Percentage of Consolidated Net Sales

Consolidated net sales by region for the years ended December 31,2017 and 2016 were as follows (in millions, except percentages):

2017 2016
Americas $ 64.2 363% $ 70.2 38.9%
Asia/Pacific 98.8 55.9% 96.2 53.4%
EMEA 13.7 7.8% 13.9 7.7%
Total $ 176.7 100.0% $ 180.3 100.0%

Net Sales

Overall net sales decreased by $3.6 million, or2.0%, for2017, as compared to 2016. For the year ended December 31, 2017, our operations outside
of'the Americas accounted for approximately 63.7% of our consolidated net sales, whereas in the same period in 2016, our operations outside of the Americas
accounted for approximately 61.1% of our consolidated net sales.

Sales for the Americas decreased by $6.0 million, or 8.5%, to $64.2 million for 2017 as compared to $70.2 million for the same period in 2016. This
decrease was primarily due to a 5.1% decrease in revenue per active independent associate and preferred customer and a 6.9% decline in the number of active
independent associates and preferred customers. During the year ended December 31, 2017, the loyalty program in the Americas increased sales by $0.2
million, as compared to the same period in 2016.

During 2017, Asia/Pacific sales increased by $2.6 million, or2.7%, to $98.8 million as compared to $96.2 million for2016. This increase was
primarily due to a 10.3% increase in revenue per active independent associate and preferred customer and a2.4% increase in the number of active
independent associates and preferred customers. During the year ended December 31, 2017, the loyalty program in Asia/Pacific decreased sales by $0.7
million, as compared to the same period in 2016. Foreign currency exchange had the effect of increasing revenue by $1.5 million for the year ended
December 31,2017, as compared to the same period in 2016. The currency impact is primarily due to the strengthening of the Korean Won, Australian Dollar,
and Taiwanese Dollar, which was partially offset by the weakening of the Japanese Yen.

During 2017, EMEA sales decreased by $0.2 million, or 1.4%, to $13.7 million as compared to $13.9 million for 2016. This decrease was primarily
due to a 13.1% decrease in revenue per active independent associate and preferred customer, which was partially offset by a 5.3% increase in the number of
active independent associates and preferred customers. During the year ended December 31,2017, the loyalty program in EMEA increased net sales by $0.1
million. Foreign currency exchange had the effect of increasing revenue by $0.8 million when the year ended December 31,2017 is compared to the same
period in 2016. The currency impact is primarily due to the strengthening of the South African Rand, which was partially offset by the weakening of the
British Pound.
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Our total sales and sales mix could be influenced by any of the following:

changes in our sales prices;

changes in consumer demand;

changes in the number of independent associates and preferred customers;
changes in competitors’ products;

changes in economic conditions;

changes in regulations;

announcements of new scientific studies and breakthroughs;
introduction of new products;

discontinuation of existing products;

adverse publicity;

changes in our commissions and incentives programs;

direct competition; and

fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates.

Our sales mix for the years ended December 31, was as follows (in millions, except percentages):

Change
2017 2016 Dollar Percentage
Consolidated product sales $ 1579 $ 1486 $ 9.3 6.3 %
Consolidated pack sales and associate fees(® 142 26.7 (12.5) (46.8)%
Consolidated other, including freight 4.6 5.0 0.4) 8.0)%
Total consolidated net sales $ 176.7 $ 1803 $ 3.6) 2.0)%

2)Coincident with the introduction of the 2017 Associate Compensation Plan, which was implemented on July 1, 2017, the Company collects associate fees, which each
associate pays to the Company annually in order to be entitled to earn commissions, benefits and incentives for that year. The Company collected associate fees within the
United States, Canada, South Africa, Japan, Australia, New Zealand, Singapore, Hong Kong, and Taiwan during the year ended December 31, 2017. Prior to the change,
associates purchased packs that were bundles of products within these respective geographic markets. Since implementing the 2017 Associate Compensation Plan, total
associate fees represented an immaterial amount of total sales.

Product Sales

Our product sales are made to independent associates and preferred customers at published wholesale prices. Product sales for the year ended
December 31,2017 increased by $9.3 million, or 6.3%, to $157.9 million, as compared to $148.6 million for the same period in 2016. The increase in product
sales was primarily due to an increase in average order size. The average order value in 2017 was $182, as compared to $166 for the same period in 2016. The
number of orders processed during the year ended December 31,2017 decreased by 4.1% as compared to the same period in 2016.

Pack Sales and Associate Fees

As a result of the 2017 Associate Compensation Plan, which was implemented on July 1, 2017, the Company now collects associate fees in lieu of
selling packs in certain markets. Associate fees are paid annually by new and continuing associates to the Company, which entitle them to earn commissions,
benefits and incentives for that year The Company collected associate fees in lieu of pack sales within the United States, Canada, South Africa, Japan,
Australia, New Zealand, Singapore, Hong Kong, and Taiwan during the year ended December 31, 2017. Prior to the change, pack sales represented sales of
packs that were bundles of products within these respective geographic markets. Since implementing the 2017 Associate Compensation Plan, total associate
fees for these respective geographic markets represented an immaterial amount of total sales. In order to stay current and competitive with the industry
changes, the 2017 Associate Compensation Plan was strategically designed to deemphasize the importance of pack sales. As such, over the course of the next
year, we will seek to replace pack sales with associate fees in all of our geographic markets.
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In markets other than the United States, Canada, South Africa, Japan, Australia, New Zealand, Singapore, Hong Kong, and Taiwan, packs may still be
purchased by our associates who wish to build a Mannatech business. We also do not collect associate fees or sell packs in our non-direct selling business in
mainland China. These packs contain products that are discounted from both the published retail and associate prices. There are several pack options
available to our associates. In certain of these markets, pack sales are completed during the final stages of the registration process and can provide new
associates with valuable training and promotional materials, as well as products for resale to retail customers, demonstration purposes, and personal
consumption. Business-building associates in these markets can also purchase an upgrade pack, which provides the associate with additional promotional
materials, additional products, and eligibility for additional commissions and incentives.

The dollar amount of pack sales and associate fees associated with new and continuing independent associate positions held by individuals in our
network was as follows, for the years ended December 31 (in millions, except percentages):

Change
2017 2016 Dollar Percentage
New $ 67 $ 11.8 $ (5.1) (43.2)%
Continuing 7.5 14.9 (7.4) (49.7%
Total $ 142 § 267 $ 12.5) (46.8)%

Total pack sales and associate fees for the year ended December 31,2017 decreased by $12.5 million, or46.8%, to $14.2 million, as compared to
$26.7 million for the same period in 2016 as the number of packs sold decreased by 16.5%. Also, the average pack value for the year ended December 31,
2017 was $136, as compared to $213 for the same period in 2016.

During 2017 and 2016, we took the following actions to help increase the number of independent associates and preferred customers:

»  registered our most popular products with the appropriate regulatory agencies in all countries of operations;
* rolled out new products;

* launched an aggressive marketing and educational campaign;

*  continued to strengthen compliance initiatives;

* concentrated on publishing results of research studies and clinical trials related to our products;

e initiated additional incentives;

» explored new advertising and educational tools to broaden name recognition; and

* implemented changes to our global associate career and compensation plan.

The approximate number of active new and continuing active associates and preferred customers who purchased our packs or products or paid
associate fees during the twelve months ended December 31 was as follows:

2017 2016
New 96,000 44.7% 103,000 46.4%
Continuing 119,000 553% 119,000 53.6%
Total 215,000 100.0% 222,000 100.0%

Other Sales

Other sales consisted of: (i) freight revenue charged to our independent associates and preferred customers; (ii) sales of promotional materials; (iii)
monthly fees collected for the Success Tracker™ and Mannatech+ customized electronic business-building and educational materials, databases and
applications; (iv) training and event registration fees; and (v) a reserve for estimated sales refunds and returns. Promotional materials, training, database
applications and business management tools to support our independent associates, which in turn helps stimulate product sales.
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For the year ended December 31, 2017, other sales decreased by $0.4 million, or 8.0%, to $4.6 million, as compared to $5.0 million for the same
period in 2016. The decrease was primarily due to a decrease in freight revenues, which was partially offset by an increase in event fees.

Gross Profit

For the year ended December 31, 2017, gross profit decreased by $2.7 million, or 1.9%, to $141.0 million, as compared to $143.7 million for the
same period in 2016. Gross profit as a percentage of net sales increased to 79.8% for 2017, as compared to 79.7% for2016. The increase in gross profit
percentage was primarily due to favorable effects of foreign exchange and a change in sales mix towards products with a better margin.

Commission and Incentives

Commission expenses increased for the year ended December 31,2017, by 1.1%, or $0.8 million to $71.3 million, as compared to $70.5 million for
the same period in 2016. Commissions as a percentage of net sales were 40.4% for the year ending December 31, 2017 and 39.1% for the same period in the
prior year. This increase was due to transition costs of adopting the 2017 Associate Compensation Plan on July 1, 2017 and transitioning away from the
legacy associate compensation plan.

Incentive costs decreased for the year ended December 31,2017 by 13.5%, or $0.5 million, to $3.2 million as compared to $3.7 million for the same
period in 2016. The costs of incentives, as a percentage of net sales decreased to 1.8% for the year ended December 31, 2017, as compared to 2.1% for the
same period in 2016.

Selling and Administrative Expenses

Selling and administrative expenses include a combination of both fixed and variable expenses. These expenses consist of compensation and
benefits for employees, temporary and contract labor and marketing-related expenses, such as the costs to introduce our new brand, and the costs related to
hosting our corporate-sponsored events.

For the year ended December 31, 2017, overall selling and administrative expenses decreased by $1.7 million, or4.7%, to $35.5 million, as
compared to $37.2 million for the same period in 2016. The decrease in selling and administrative expenses consisted of a $1.5 million decrease in payroll
related costs as we had a greater number of employees in the prior comparative period, a $0.2 million decrease in marketing costs, and a $0.4 million decrease
in stock based compensation expense. These decreases were partially offset by a $0.4 million increase in warehouse costs as we expand our non-direct selling
business in China.

Other Operating Costs

Other operating costs include accounting/legal/consulting fees, travel and entertainment expenses, credit card processing fees, off-site storage fees,
utilities, bad debt, and other miscellaneous operating expenses.

For the year ended December 31,2017, other operating costs decreased by $3.1 million, or 10.5%, to $26.6 million, as compared to $29.7 million for
the same period in 2016. For the year ended December 31, 2017, other operating costs, as a percentage of net sales, were 15.1%, as compared to 16.5% for the
same period in 2016. The decrease was due to a $1.2 million decrease in travel and entertainment costs, a $0.5 million decrease in legal and consulting fees, a
$0.3 million decrease in office expenses, and a $0.2 million decrease in each of the following expense categories: bad debt expense, accounting and auditing
fees, and research and development. In addition, the decrease was further caused by a $0.4 million impairment of internally developed software during the
third quarter of 2016.

Depreciation and Amortization Expense
For each of the years ended December 31,2017 and 2016, depreciation and amortization expense was $1.9 million.

Other Expense, net

Primarily due to foreign exchange gains, other expense was $0.3 million and $1.8 million for the years ending December 31, 2017 and 2016,
respectively.
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Provision for Income Taxes

Provision for income taxes include current and deferred income taxes for both our domestic and foreign operations. Our statutory income tax rates by
jurisdiction are as follows, for the years ended December 31:

Country 2017 2016
Australia 30.0% 30.0%
Canada 26.5% 26.5%
Denmark 22.0% 22.0%
Japan 34.8% 35.4%
Mexico 30.0% 30.0%
Norway 24.0% 25.0%
Republic of Korea 22.0% 22.0%
Singapore 17.0% 17.0%
South Africa 28.0% 28.0%
Sweden 22.0% 22.0%
Switzerland 16.2% 16.2%
Taiwan 17.0% 17.0%
United Kingdom 19.3% 20.0%
United States 35.0% 35.0%
Cyprus 12.5% 12.5%
Hong Kong 16.5% 16.5%
Ukraine() 18.0% 18.0%
Gibraltar 10.0% 10.0%
Colombia 34.0% 34.0%
China® 25.0% 25.0%
Russia®) 20.0% 20.0%

(1)On March 21, 2014, the Company suspended operations in the Ukraine, but maintains the legal entity, Mannatech Ukraine LLC.
(2)On February 24, 2016, the Company established a legal entity in China called Meitai Daily Necessity & Health Products Co., Ltd.
(3)On August 1, 2016, the Company established a legal entity in Russia called Mannatech RUS Ltd., but currently does not operate in Russia

Foreign Tax
Income from our international operations is subject to taxation in the countries in which we operate.

US. Tax

On December 22, 2017, President Trump signed into law H.R. 1/Public Law No. 115-97, “An Act to provide for reconciliation pursuant to titles II
and V of the concurrent resolution on the budget for fiscal year 2018.” Pursuant to ASC 740-10-25-47, the effects of the new federal legislation are
recognized upon enactment, which is the date the president signs a bill into law.

The Securities and Exchange Commission staff (“SEC Staff”) recognized that entities may not have the necessary information available, prepared, or
analyzed in reasonable detail to complete the accounting under ASC 740 for certain income tax effects of the Act in the reporting period that includes the
date of enactment. SEC Staff issued guidance in Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 118 (or "SAB 118") to address this situation. SAB 118 provides that to the
extent an entity can complete the income tax accounting effects of the Act, the completed amount is reported. To the extent the entity cannot complete the
calculation for certain income tax effects of the Act, the entity may provide a reasonable estimate and report this provisional amount in the first reporting
period in which the entity is able to make a reasonable estimate. If the entity is unable to make a reasonable estimate, then the entity will not report any
provisional amounts and will continue to report the effects of the tax law in effect immediately prior to the Act. The measurement period begins in the period
of enactment and ends when the entity has obtained, prepared, and analyzed the information needed to complete the accounting requirements under ASC
740; however, the measurement period should not extend beyond one year from the enactment date.
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Following is a summary of the tax effects of the Act:

Corporate Tax Rate Change: The Act includes a decrease to the U.S. corporate income tax rate effective January 1, 2018, from 35 percent to 21
percent, which requires a re-measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities pursuant to ASC 740-10-25-47. For the year ended December 31, 2017,
Mannatech recorded deferred tax expense of $0.8 million as a provisional estimate related to revaluing its deferred tax assets and liabilities to the newly
enacted tax rate.

Deemed Repatriation of Foreign Earnings (“Transition Tax”): The Act provides that a U.S. shareholder of a specified foreign corporation (“SFC”)
must include in gross income, at the end of the SFC’s last tax year beginning before January 1, 2018, the U.S. shareholder’s pro rata share of certain of the
SFC’s undistributed and previously untaxed post-1986 foreign earnings and profits and base the calculation on the greater of the Earnings and Profits
("E&P") as of November 2, 2017, or December 31, 2017. Mannatech has recorded a current tax expense of $1.7 million after foreign tax credits as a
provisional estimate.

Global Intangible Low Taxed Income: The Act creates a requirement that certain income earned by controlled foreign corporations (“CFCs”) must
be included currently in the gross income of the CFC’s U.S. shareholder. Global Intangible Low Tax Income (“GILTI”) is the excess of the shareholder’s net
CFC tested income over the net deemed tangible income return (“the routine return”), which is defined as the excess of (1) 10 percent of the aggregate of the
U.S. shareholder’s pro rata share of the qualified business asset investment of each CFC with respect to which it is a U.S. shareholder over (2) the amount of
certain interest expense taken into account in the determination of the net CFC-tested income.

A deduction is permitted to a domestic corporation in an amount equal to 50 percent of the sum of the GILTI inclusion and the amount treated as a
dividend, subject to certain limitations. The GILTI provisions are effective for tax years beginning on or after January 1,2018.

In Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) staff Q&A Topic 740, No. 5, Accounting for Global Intangible Low-Taxed Income, the FASB
staff noted that Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 740 (“Topic 740), Income Taxes, was not clear with respect to the appropriate accounting for
GILTL and accordingly, an entity may either: (1) elect to treat taxes on GILTI as period costs similar to special deductions, or (2) recognize deferred tax assets
and liabilities when basis differences exist that are expected to affect the amount of GILTI inclusion upon reversal (the deferred method). Mannatech has not
yet adopted an accounting policy related to GILTI.

Unremitted Foreign Earnings: For each of its foreign subsidiaries, the company makes an assertion regarding the amount of earnings intended for
permanent reinvestment, with the balance available to be repatriated to the United States. The Tax Cuts and Jobs Act requires companies to pay a one-time
transition tax on earnings of foreign subsidiaries, a majority of which were previously considered permanently reinvested by the company. It is the
Company’s intention to repatriate its previously taxed income (“PTI”) of approximately $25 million, which is a provisional estimate as it includes the PTI
generated from the Company’s provisional estimate of the transition tax. In addition to the one-time transition tax, a deferred tax liability for withholding
taxes of $1.3 million has been accrued on the estimated PTI at December 31, 2017, along with an offsetting deferred tax asset for the U.S. foreign tax credit
that would be generated. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of the Act on its permanent reinvestment assertion for any remaining outside basis
difference after considering the transition tax. The repatriation of incremental outside basis difference could result in an adjustment to the tax liability due to
contributing factors such as withholding taxes, income taxes and the impact of foreign currency movements. As such, the company is still evaluating any
remaining outside basis difference.

Federal Valuation Allowance: We use the recognition and measurement provisions of FASB ASC Topic 740, Income Taxes, to account for income
taxes. The provisions of Topic 740 require a company to record a valuation allowance when the “more likely than not” criterion for realizing net deferred tax
assets cannot be met. Furthermore, the weight given to the potential effect of such evidence should be commensurate with the extent to which it can be
objectively verified. As a result, we reviewed the operating results, as well as all of the positive and negative evidence related to realization of such deferred
tax assets to evaluate the need for a valuation allowance in each tax jurisdiction.
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As of December 31,2017 and 2016, we maintained or increased our valuation allowance for deferred tax assets in the following table (in millions), as
we believe the “more likely than not” criterion for recognition and realization purposes, as defined in Topic 740, cannot be met. The U.S. valuation
allowance increased due to the carryover of foreign tax credits that we do not anticipate to utilize in future years.

Country 2017 2016
Colombia $ 06 § 0.3
Mexico 2.8 2.4
South Africa 0.1 —
Sweden 0.1 0.1
Switzerland — 0.1
Taiwan 0.8 1.3
Ukraine 0.1 0.1
United Kingdom 0.1 —
United States 6.8 4.1
Other Jurisdictions — 0.1
Total $ 114 §$ 8.5

For the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, the Company’s effective tax rate was 172.7% and 38.7%, respectively. For 2017, the Company
had a significant increase in its rate due to the impact of the Act. Items decreasing the effective income tax rate included the favorable rate difference from
foreign jurisdictions, utilization of foreign tax credits against the transition tax, and certain tax reserve items removed due to expiration of applicable statute
of limitations. Items increasing the effective income tax rate included transition tax, return to provision and prior year adjustments, and change in valuation
allowance. For 2016, the Company had a tax benefit due to loss before income tax. Items decreasing the effective income tax rate included the favorable rate
difference from foreign jurisdictions, return to provision adjustment, release of valuation allowances with respect to Switzerland and certain tax reserve items
removed due to expiration of applicable statute of limitations. Items increasing the effective income tax rate included foreign exchange losses and “Subpart F
income” resulting from controlled foreign corporation operations.

SEASONALITY

We believe the impact of seasonality on our consolidated results of operations is minimal. We have experienced and believe we will continue to

experience variations on our quarterly results of operations in response to, among other things:

» the timing of the introduction of new products and incentives;

» ourability to attract and retain associates and preferred customers;

* the timing of our incentives and contests;

* the general overall economic outlook;

* government regulations;

e the outcome of certain lawsuits;

» the perception and acceptance of network marketing; and

* the consumer perception of our products and overall operations.

As a result of these and other factors, our quarterly results may vary significantly in the future. Period-to-period comparisons should not be relied
upon as an indication of future performance since we can give no assurances that revenue trends in new markets, as well as in existing markets, will follow our
historical patterns. The market price of our common stock may also be adversely affected by the above factors.
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LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
Cash and Cash Equivalents

As ofDecember 31, 2017, our cash and cash equivalents increased by 31.4%, or$9.0 million, to $37.7 million from $28.7 million as of
December 31,2016. The Company is required to restrict cash for direct selling insurance premiums and credit card sales in the Republic of Korea. The current
portion of restricted cash remained the same at $1.5 million at both December 31,2017 and 2016. Fluctuations in currency rates produced an increase of $3.4
million in cash and cash equivalents in 2017 as compared to an increase of $1.5 million in 2016.

Our principal use of cash is to pay for operating expenses, including commissions and incentives, capital assets, inventory purchases, and periodic
cash dividends. We fund our business objectives, operations, and expansion of our operations through net cash flows from operations rather than incurring
long-term debt.

Working Capital

Working capital represents total current assets less total current liabilities. At December 31, 2017, our working capital increased by $2.0 million, or
9.6%, to $22.8 million from $20.8 million at December 31,2016. The increase in working capital is primarily due to an increase in cash, offset by a decrease
in inventory and an increase in taxes payable.

Net Cash Flows

Our net consolidated cash flows consisted of the following, for the years ended December 31 (in millions):

Provided by / (used in): 2017 2016

Operating activities $ 100 $ —

Investing activities $ (13) $ 2.3)

Financing activities $ 3.1 $ (2.5)
Operating Activities

Cash provided by operating activities increased by $10.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2017, as compared to the same period in 2016.
For the year ended December 31, 2017, sources of cash include inventories, prepaid expenses, commissions and incentives payable, accounts payable, and
taxes payable. During this period, uses of cash include deferred commissions, accounts receivable, restricted cash and accrued expenses.

Investing Activities

For the year ended December 31, 2017, our investing activities used cash of $1.3 million, as compared to cash used of $2.3 million for the same
period of2016. During the year ended December 31, 2017, we invested $1.1 million in computer hardware and software, $0.1 million for leasehold
improvements and $0.1 million in office furniture and equipment. During the year ended December 31, 2016, we invested approximately $1.6 million in
back-office software projects, approximately $0.6 million in leasehold improvements in various international offices and training centers, and approximately
$0.1 in office furniture and equipment.

Financing Activities

For the year ended December 31,2017, our financing activities used cash of $3.1 million compared to cash used of $2.5 million for the same period
0f2016. For the year ended December 31, 2017, we used approximately $1.6 million in the repayment of capital lease obligations, $1.4 million in the
payment of dividends to shareholders, and $0.2 million in the repurchase of common stock, which was partially offset by cash provided by the exercise of
stock options. For the year ended December 31, 2016, we used cash ofapproximately $1.6 million to repay capital lease obligations, $0.7 million for
payment of dividends to shareholders, and $0.3 million for the repurchase of common stock, which was partially offset by cash provided by the exercise of
stock options.
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General Liquidity and Cash Flows
Short Term Liquidity

We believe our existing liquidity and cash flows from operations are adequate to fund our normal expected future business operations for the next
12 months. As our primary source of liquidity is our cash flows from operations, this will be dependent on our ability to maintain and/or continue to improve
revenue as compared to our operational expenses. However, if our existing capital resources or cash flows become insufficient to meet current business plans,
projections, and existing capital requirements, we may be required to raise additional funds, which may not be available on favorable terms, if at all. As of
December 31,2017 and 2016, cash and cash equivalents held in bank accounts in foreign countries totaled $30.6 million and $27.5 million, respectively

We are engaged in ongoing audits in various tax jurisdictions and other disputes in the normal course of business. It is impossible at this time to
predict whether we will incur any liability, or to estimate the ranges of damages, if any, in connection with these matters. Adverse outcomes on these
uncertainties may lead to substantial liability or enforcement actions that could adversely affect our cash position. For more information, see Note 7 Income
Taxes and Note 12 Litigation to our Consolidated Financial Statements.

Long Term Liquidity
We believe our cash flows from operations should be adequate to fund our normal expected future business operations and possible international
expansion costs for the long term. As our primary source of liquidity is from our cash flows from operations, this will be dependent on our ability to maintain

and and/or improve revenue as compared to operational expenses.

However, if our existing capital resources or cash flows become insufficient to meet anticipated business plans and existing capital requirements, we
may be required to raise additional funds, which may not be available on favorable terms, if at all.

Our future access to the capital markets may be adversely impacted if we fail to maintain compliance with the Nasdaq Marketplace Rules for the
continued listing of our stock. We continuously monitor our compliance with the Nasdaq continued listing rules.

CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS

The following summarizes our future commitments and obligations associated with various agreements and contracts as of December 31,2017, for
the years ending December 31 (in thousands):

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 Thereafter Total

Capital lease obligations $ 241 § 78 S 40 8 28 $ 7 8 — 394
Purchase obligations (D) 5,175 5,100 4,675 — — — 14,950
Operating leases 2,639 1,353 602 487 491 2,801 8,373
Note payable and other financing

arrangements 831 — — — — — 831
Employment agreements 710 — — — — — 710
Royalty agreement 59 59 59 6 — — 183
Tax liability () — — — — — 166 166
Other obligations ) 223 26 140 83 58 947 1,477
Total commitments and obligations $ 9,878 $ 6,616 $ 5516 $ 604 $ 556 $ 3914 § 27,084

(DFor purposes of the table, a purchase obligation is defined as an agreement to purchase goods or services that is non-cancelable, enforceable and legally binding on the Company
that specifies all significant terms, including: fixed or minimum quantities to be purchased; fixed, minimum or variable price provisions; and the approximate timing of the
transaction.

(2Excludes approximately $10.7 million of finished product purchase orders that may be canceled or with delivery dates that have changed as of December 31, 2017.

(3Represents the tax liability associated with uncertain tax positions, see Note 7 to our Consolidated Financial Statements, /ncome Taxes to our consolidated financial statements.
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(#Other obligations are composed of pension obligations related to the Company's international operations (approximately $1.1 million) and lease restoration obligations
(approximately $0.4 million).

We have maintained purchase commitments with certain raw material suppliers to purchase minimum quantities and to ensure exclusivity of our raw
materials and the proprietary nature of our products. Currently, we have one supply agreement that requires minimum purchase commitments. We also
maintain other supply agreements and manufacturing agreements to protect our products, regulate product costs, and help ensure quality control standards.
These agreements do not require us to purchase any set minimums. We have no present commitments or agreements with respect to acquisitions or purchases
of any manufacturing facilities; however, management from time to time explores the possibility of the benefits of purchasing a raw material manufacturing
facility to help control costs of our raw materials and help ensure quality control standards.

OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS
We do not have any special-purpose entity arrangements, nor do we have any off-balance sheet arrangements.
MARKET RISKS

Please see “Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosure about Market Risk” under Item 7A of this Form 10-K for additional information about our
Market Risks.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES

Our consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America
(“GAAP”). The application of GAAP requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported values of assets and liabilities at the date of our
financial statements, the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period, and the related disclosures of contingent assets and
liabilities. We use estimates throughout our financial statements, which are influenced by management’s judgment and uncertainties. Our estimates are based
on historical trends, industry standards, and various other assumptions that we believe are applicable and reasonable under the circumstances at the time the
consolidated financial statements are prepared. Our Audit Committee reviews our critical accounting policies and estimates. We continually evaluate and
review our policies related to the portrayal of our consolidated financial position and consolidated results of operations that require the application of
significant judgment by our management. We also analyze the need for certain estimates, including the need for such items as allowance for doubtful
accounts, inventory reserves, long-lived fixed assets and capitalization of internal-use software development costs, reserve for uncertain income tax positions
and tax valuation allowances, revenue recognition, sales returns, and deferred revenues, accounting for stock-based compensation, and contingencies and
litigation. Historically, actual results have not materially deviated from our estimates. However, we caution readers that actual results could differ from our
estimates and assumptions applied in the preparation of our consolidated financial statements. If circumstances change relating to the various assumptions or
conditions used in our estimates, we could experience an adverse effect on our financial position, results of operations, and cash flows. We have identified the
following applicable critical accounting policies and estimates as of December 31,2017:

Inventory Reserves

Inventory consists of raw materials, finished goods, and promotional materials that are stated at the lower of cost (using standard costs that
approximate average costs) or net realizable value. We record the amounts charged by the vendors as the costs of inventory. Typically, the net realizable
value of our inventory is higher than the aggregate cost. Determination of net realizable value can be complex and, therefore, requires a high degree of
judgment. In order for management to make the appropriate determination of net realizable value, the following items are considered: inventory turnover
statistics, current selling prices, seasonality factors, consumer demand, regulatory changes, competitive pricing, and performance of similar products. If we
determine the carrying value of inventory is in excess of estimated net realizable value, we write down the value of inventory to the estimated net realizable
value.

We also review inventory for obsolescence in a similar manner and any inventory identified as obsolete is reserved or written off. Our determination
of obsolescence is based on assumptions about the demand for our products, product expiration dates, estimated future sales, and general future plans. We
monitor actual sales compared to original projections, and if actual sales are less favorable than those originally projected by us, we record an additional
inventory reserve or write-down. Historically, our estimates have been close to our actual reported amounts. However, if our estimates regarding inventory
obsolescence are inaccurate or consumer demand for our products changes in an unforeseen manner, we may be exposed to additional material losses or gains
in excess of our established estimated inventory reserves. At December 31, 2017 and 2016, our inventory reserves were $0.6 million and $0.4 million,
respectively.
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Long Lived Fixed Assets and Capitalization of Software Development Costs

In addition to capitalizing long-lived fixed asset costs, we also capitalize costs associated with internally developed software projects (collectively
“fixed assets”) and amortize such costs over the estimated useful lives of such fixed assets. Fixed assets are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation
computed using the straight-line method over the assets’ estimated useful lives. Leasehold improvements are amortized over the shorter of the remaining
lease terms or the estimated useful lives of the improvements. Expenditures for maintenance and repairs are charged to operations as incurred. If a fixed asset
is sold or otherwise retired or disposed of, the cost of the fixed asset and the related accumulated depreciation or amortization is written off and any resulting
gain or loss is recorded in other operating costs in our consolidated statement of operations.

We review our fixed assets for impairment whenever an event or change in circumstances indicates the carrying amount of an asset or group of assets
may not be recoverable, such as plans to dispose of an asset before the end of its previously estimated useful life. Our impairment review includes a
comparison of future projected cash flows generated by the asset, or group of assets, with its associated net carrying value. If the net carrying value of the
asset or group of assets exceeds expected cash flows (undiscounted and without interest charges), an impairment loss is recognized to the extent the carrying
amount exceeds the fair value. The fair value is determined by calculating the discounted expected future cash flows using an estimated risk-free rate of
interest. Any identified impairment losses are recorded in the period in which the impairment occurs. The carrying value of the fixed asset is adjusted to the
new carrying value and any subsequent increases in fair value of the fixed asset are not recorded. In addition, if we determine the estimated remaining useful
life of the asset should be reduced from our original estimate, the periodic depreciation expense is adjusted prospectively, based on the new remaining useful
life of the fixed asset.

The impairment calculation requires us to apply judgment and estimates concerning future cash flows, strategic plans, useful lives, and discount
rates. If actual results are not consistent with our estimates and assumptions, we may be exposed to an additional impairment charge, which could be material
to our results of operations. In addition, if accounting standards change, or if fixed assets become obsolete, we may be required to write off any unamortized
costs of fixed assets; or if estimated useful lives change, we would be required to accelerate depreciation or amortization periods and recognize additional
depreciation expense in our consolidated statement of operations.

Historically, our estimates and assumptions related to the carrying value and the estimated useful lives of our fixed assets have not materially
deviated from actual results. As of December 31,2017, the estimated useful lives and net carrying values of fixed assets are as follows:

Net carrying value
Estimated useful at December 31,

life 2017
Office furniture and equipment 5 to 7 years $0.5 million
Computer hardware and software 3 to 5 years 2.3 million
Automobiles 3 to 5 years —
Leasehold improvements() 2 to 10 years 0.7 million
Total net carrying value at December 31,2017 $3.5 million

(1) We amortize leasehold improvements over the shorter of the useful estimated life of the leased asset or the lease term.

The net carrying costs of fixed assets and construction in progress are exposed to impairment losses if our assumptions and estimates of their
carrying values change, there is a change in estimated future cash flow, or there is a change in the estimated useful life of the fixed asset. Based on
management’s analysis, no material impairments existed during the year ended December 31,2017. During the year ended December 31,2016, a $0.4 million
impairment was recorded related to internally developed software.
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Uncertain Income Tax Positions and Tax Valuation Allowances

As of December 31, 2017, we recorded $0.2 million in other long-term liabilities on our consolidated balance sheet related to uncertain income tax
positions. As required by FASB ASC Topic 740, Income Taxes, we use judgments and make estimates and assumptions related to evaluating the probability
of uncertain income tax positions. We base our estimates and assumptions on the potential liability related to an assessment of whether the income tax
position will “more likely than not” be sustained in an income tax audit. We are also subject to periodic audits from multiple domestic and foreign tax
authorities related to income tax and other forms of taxation. These audits examine our tax positions, timing of income and deductions, and allocation
procedures across multiple jurisdictions. Depending on the nature of the tax issue, we could be subject to audit over several years. Therefore, our estimated
reserve balances and liability related to uncertain income tax positions may exist for multiple years before the applicable statute of limitations expires or
before an issue is resolved by the taxing authority. Additionally, we may be requested to extend the statute of limitations for tax years under audit. It is
reasonably possible the tax jurisdiction may request that the statute of limitations be extended, which may cause the classification between current and long-
term to change. We believe our tax liabilities related to uncertain tax positions are based upon reasonable judgment and estimates; however, if actual results
materially differ, our effective income tax rate and cash flows could be affected in the period of discovery or resolution. There are ongoing income tax audits
in various international jurisdictions that we believe are not material to our financial statements.

We also review the estimates and assumptions used in evaluating the probability of realizing the future benefits of our deferred tax assets and record
a valuation allowance when we believe that a portion or all of the deferred tax assets may not be realized. If we are unable to realize the expected future
benefits of our deferred tax assets, we are required to provide a valuation allowance. We use our past history and experience, overall profitability, future
management plans, and current economic information to evaluate the amount of valuation allowance to record. As of December 31, 2017, we maintained a
valuation allowance for deferred tax assets arising from our operations of $11.4 million because they did not meet the “more likely than not” criteria as
defined by the recognition and measurement provisions of FASB ASC Topic 740, Income Taxes. In addition, as of December 31, 2017, we had deferred tax
assets, after valuation allowance, totaling $4.5 million, which may not be realized if our assumptions and estimates change, which would affect our effective
income tax rate and cash flows in the period of discovery or resolution.

In February 2018, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update No. 2018-02 (ASU 2018-02), Income Statement - Reporting Comprehensive
Income (Topic 220). The guidance in ASU 2018-02 allows an entity to elect to reclassify the stranded tax effects related to the Act from accumulated other
comprehensive income into retained earnings. ASU 2018-02 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2018, with early adoption permitted.
The Company is currently evaluating the effect this standard will have on its Consolidated Financial Statements.

Revenue Recognition and Deferred Commissions

Our revenue is derived from sales of individual products, sales of starter and renewal packs, associate fees and shipping fees. Substantially all of our
product and pack sales are to associates and preferred customers at published wholesale prices. We record revenue net of any sales taxes and record a reserve
for expected sales returns based on historical experience. We recognize revenue from shipped packs and products upon receipt by the customer. Corporate-
sponsored event revenue is recognized when the event is held.

As a result of the 2017 Associate Compensation Plan, which was implemented on July 1, 2017, we also collect associate fees, which associates pay
to the Company annually in order to earn commissions, benefits and incentives for that year. Associate fees are recognized evenly over the course of the
annual period of the associate’s contract. We collected associate fees within the United States, Canada, South Africa, Japan, Australia, New Zealand,
Singapore, Hong Kong, and Taiwan during the year ended December 31,2017.

The arrangement regarding associate fees has three service elements: providing new associates with the eligibility to earn commissions, benefits and
incentives for twelve months and a complimentary three-month subscription package for the Success Tracker™ and Mannatech+ customized electronic
business-building tools. Each of these service elements is provided over time to the customer. For the year ended December 31, 2017, all of these service
elements were combined as a single unit of accounting as the separation criteria within ASC 605-25, Revenue Recognition, were not met to result in multiple
units of accounting.
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We defer certain components of revenue. At December 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016, deferred revenue was $8.6 million and $8.2 million,
respectively. When participating in our loyalty program, customers earn loyalty points from qualified automatic orders that can be applied to future
purchases. We defer the dollar equivalent in revenue of these points until the points are applied, forfeited or expired, which includes an estimate of the
percentage of the unvested loyalty points that are expected to be forfeited or expired. The deferred revenue associated with the loyalty program at
December 31,2017 and December 31,2016 was $6.4 million and $7.0 million, respectively. Deferred revenue consisted primarily of: (i) sales of packs and
products shipped but not received by the customers by the end of the respective period; (ii) revenue from the loyalty program; and (iii) prepaid registration
fees from customers planning to attend a future corporate-sponsored event. In total current assets, we defer commissions on (i) the sales of packs and products
ordered but not received by the customers by the end of the respective period and (ii) the loyalty program. Deferred commissions were $3.9 million and $3.2
million at December 31,2017 and December 31, 2016, respectively.

Loyalty program (in thousands)
Loyalty deferred revenue as of January 1,2016 $ 8,073
Loyalty points forfeited or expired (6,963)
Loyalty points used (15,451)
Loyalty points vested 20,085
Loyalty points unvested 1,289
Loyalty deferred revenue as of December 31,2016 $ 7,033
Loyalty deferred revenue as of January 1,2017 $ 7,033
Loyalty points forfeited or expired (5,895)
Loyalty points used (14,316)
Loyalty points vested 17,836
Loyalty points unvested 1,748
Loyalty deferred revenue as of December 31,2017 $ 6,406
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Product Return Policy

We stand behind our packs and products and believe we offer a reasonable and industry-standard product return policy to all of our customers. We
do not resell returned products. Refunds are not processed until proper approval is obtained. Refunds are processed and returned in the same form of payment
that was originally used in the sale. Each country in which we operate has specific product return guidelines. However, we allow our associates and preferred
customers to exchange products as long as the products are unopened and in good condition. Our return policies for our retail customers and our associates
and preferred customers are as follows:

*  Retail Customer Product Return Policy. This policy allows a retail customer to return any of our products to the original associate who sold the
product and receive a full cash refund from the associate for the first 180 days following the product’s purchase if located in the United States and
Canada, and for the first 90 days following the product’s purchase in other countries where we sell our products. The associate may then return or
exchange the product based on the associate product return policy.

*  Associate and Preferred Customer Product Return Policy. This policy allows the associate or preferred customer to return an order within one
year of the purchase date upon terminating his/her account. If an associate or preferred customer returns a product unopened and in good
condition, he/she may receive a full refund minus a 10% restocking fee. We may also allow the associate or preferred customer to receive a full
satisfaction guarantee refund if they have tried the product and are not satisfied for any reason, excluding promotional materials. This satisfaction
guarantee refund applies in the United States and Canada, only for the first 180 days following the product’s purchase, and applies in other
countries where we sell our products for the first 90 days following the product’s purchase; however, any commissions earned by an associate will
be deducted from the refund. If we discover abuse of the refund policy, we may terminate the associate's or preferred customer’s account.

Historically, sales returns estimates have not materially deviated from actual sales returns, as the majority of our customers who return merchandise
do so within the first 90 days after the original sale. Based upon our return policies and historical experience, we estimate a sales return reserve for expected
sales refunds over a rolling six-month period. If actual results differ from our estimated sales returns reserves due to various factors, the amount of revenue
recorded each period could be materially affected. Historically, our sales returns have not materially changed through the years and have averaged 1.5% or
less of our gross sales. For the year ended December 31,2017 our sales return reserve was composed of the following (in thousands):

December 31,2017
Sales reserve as of January 1,2017 $ 129
Provision related to sales made in current period 1,274
Adjustment related to sales made in prior periods 3
Actual returns or credits related to current period (1,156)
Actual returns or credits related to prior periods (133)
Sales reserve as of December 31,2017 $ 117
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Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation

We grant stock options to our employees, board members, and consultants. At the date of grant, we determine the fair value of a stock option award
and recognize compensation expense over the requisite service period, or the vesting period of such stock option award, which is two or three years. The fair
value of the stock option award is calculated using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model (the “calculated fair value”). The Black-Scholes option-pricing
model requires us to apply judgment and use highly subjective assumptions, including expected stock option life, expected volatility, expected average risk-
free interest rates, and expected forfeiture rates. For the year ended December 31, 2017, our assumptions and estimates used for the calculated fair value of
stock options granted in 2017 were as follows:

2017 Grants June
Estimated fair value per share of options granted: $ 5.87
Assumptions:
Dividend yield 3.5%
Risk-free rate of return 1.7%
Common stock price volatility 64.4%
Expected average life of stock options (in years) 45

Historically, our estimates and underlying assumptions have not materially deviated from our actual reported results and rates. However, we base
assumptions we use on our best estimates, which involves inherent uncertainties based on market conditions that are outside of our control. If actual results
are not consistent with the assumptions we use, the stock-based compensation expense reported in our consolidated financial statements may not be
representative of the actual economic cost of stock-based compensation. For example, if actual employee forfeitures significantly differ from our estimated
forfeitures, we may be required to adjust our consolidated financial statements in future periods. As of December 31,2017, using our current assumptions and
estimates, we anticipate recognizing $0.2 million in gross compensation expense through 2019 related to unvested stock options outstanding.

If we grant additional stock options in the future, we would be required to recognize additional compensation expense over the vesting period of
such stock options in our consolidated statement of operations. As of December 31,2017, we had 240,000 shares available for grant in the future.

Contingencies and Litigation

Each quarter, we evaluate the need to establish a reserve for any legal claims or assessments. We base our evaluation on our best estimates of the
potential liability in such matters. The legal reserve includes an estimated amount for any damages and the probability of losing any threatened legal claims
or assessments. The legal reserve is developed in consultation with our general and outside counsel and is based upon a combination of litigation and
settlement strategies. Although we believe that our legal reserves and accruals are based on reasonable judgments and estimates, actual results could differ,
which may expose us to material gains or losses in future periods. If actual results differ, if circumstances change, or if we experience an unanticipated adverse
outcome of any legal action, including any claim or assessment, we would be required to recognize the estimated amount that could reduce net income,
earnings per share, and cash flows.
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RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers. This new standard requires companies to recognize revenue
when it transfers promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which a company expects to be entitled in exchange
for those goods or services. Under the new standard, revenue is recognized when a customer obtains control of a good or service. The standard allows for two
transition methods - entities can either apply the new standard (i) retrospectively to each prior reporting period presented or (ii) retrospectively with the
cumulative effect of initially applying the standard recognized at the date of initial adoption. In July 2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015-14, Revenue from
Contracts with Customers, which defers the effective date by one year to December 15, 2017 for fiscal years, and interim periods within those fiscal years,
beginning after that date. In March 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-08, Revenue from Contracts with Customers, Principal versus Agent Considerations
(Reporting Revenue versus Net), in April 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-10, Revenue from Contracts with Customers, identifying Performance
Obligations and Licensing, and in May 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-12, Revenue from Contracts with Customers, Narrow-Scope Improvements and
Practical Expedients, which provide additional clarification on certain topics addressed in ASU 2014-09. ASU 2016-08, ASU 2016-10, and ASU 2016-12
follow the same implementation guidelines as ASU 2014-09 and ASU 2015-14. All of these aforementioned ASUs have been codified under ASC 606,
Revenue from Contracts with Customers. We will adopt this standard utilizing the modified retrospective approach with the cumulative effect recognized in
retained earnings, on January 1, 2018. The Company has completed the evaluation of the impact of ASC 606 on its product sales, including loyalty points
earned through certain product sales. The timing of revenue recognition for our various revenue streams will not be materially impacted by the adoption of
this standard. The Company believes its business processes, systems, and controls are appropriate to support recognition and disclosure under ASC 606. In
addition, we expect the adoption to lead to increased footnote disclosures. The overall financial impact of adopting this standard will not have a material
effect on our consolidated financial statements.

In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842). Under ASU 2016-02, an entity will be required to recognize right-of-use assets
and lease liabilities on its balance sheet and disclose key information about leasing arrangements. ASU 2016-02 offers specific accounting guidance for a
lessee, a lessor and sale and leaseback transactions. Lessees and lessors are required to disclose qualitative and quantitative information about leasing
arrangements to enable a user of the financial statements to assess the amount, timing and uncertainty of cash flows arising from leases. For public companies,
ASU 2016-02 is effective for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2018, including interim periods within that reporting period, and
requires a modified retrospective adoption, with early adoption permitted. Management is currently in the initial stages of evaluating the future impact of
ASU 2016-02 on its consolidated financial position, results of operations and cash flows. The overall financial impact of adopting this standard is unknown
at this time.

See Note 1 to our Consolidated Financial Statements for further information on recent accounting pronouncements.
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Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

We do not engage in trading market risk sensitive instruments and do not purchase investments as hedges or for purposes “other than trading” that
are likely to expose us to certain types of market risk, including interest rate, commodity price, or equity price risk. Although we have investments, we
believe there has been no material change in our exposure to interest rate risk. We have not issued any debt instruments, entered into any forward or futures
contracts, purchased any options, or entered into any swap agreements.

We are exposed, however, to other market risks, including changes in currency exchange rates as measured against the United States dollar. Because
the change in value of the United States dollar measured against foreign currency may affect our consolidated financial results, changes in foreign currency
exchange rates could positively or negatively affect our results as expressed in the United States dollars. For example, when the United States dollar
strengthens against foreign currencies in which our products are sold or weakens against foreign currencies in which we may incur costs, our consolidated net
sales or related costs and expenses could be adversely affected. We translate our revenues and expenses in foreign markets using an average rate. We believe
inflation has not had a material impact on our consolidated operations or profitability.

We maintain policies, procedures, and internal processes in an effort to help monitor any significant market risks and we do not use any financial
instruments to manage our exposure to such risks. We assess the anticipated foreign currency working capital requirements of our foreign operations and
maintain a portion of our cash and cash equivalents denominated in foreign currencies sufficient to satisfy most of these anticipated requirements.

We caution that we cannot predict with any certainty our future exposure to such currency exchange rate fluctuations or the impact, if any, such
fluctuations may have on our future business, product pricing, operating expenses, and on our consolidated financial position, results of operations, or cash
flows. However, to combat such market risk, we closely monitor our exposure to currency fluctuations. The regions and countries in which we currently have
exposure to foreign currency exchange rate risk include (i) North America/South America (Canada, Colombia and Mexico); (ii) EMEA (Austria, the Czech
Republic, Denmark, Estonia, Finland, Germany, the Republic of Ireland, the Netherlands, Norway, South Africa, Spain, Sweden, Switzerland and the United
Kingdom); (iii) Asia/Pacific (Australia, Japan, New Zealand, the Republic of Korea, Singapore, Taiwan, Hong Kong and China). The current (spot) rate,
average currency exchange rates, and the low and high of such currency exchange rates as compared to the United States dollar, for each of these countries as
of and for the year ended December 31,2017 were as follows:

As of
December 31,

Year ended December 31,2017 2017

Country (foreign currency name) Low High Average Spot
Australia (Australian Dollar) 0.72066 0.80797 0.76679 0.78068
Canada (Canadian Dollar) 0.72759 0.82533 0.77119 0.79677
China (Renminbi) 0.14383 0.15461 0.14802 0.15361
Columbia (Peso) 0.00032 0.00036 0.00034 0.00034
Czech Republic (Koruna) 0.03863 0.04696 0.04298 0.04689
Denmark (Kroner) 0.14032 0.16193 0.15188 0.16094
Hong Kong (Hong Kong Dollar) 0.12779 0.12896 0.12834 0.12796
Japan (Yen) 0.00850 0.00928 0.00892 0.00888
Mexico (Peso) 0.04562 0.05714 0.05305 0.05082
New Zealand (New Zealand Dollar) 0.68182 0.75254 0.71106 0.71040
Norway (Krone) 0.11542 0.12943 0.12111 0.12178
Republic of Korea (Won) 0.00083 0.00094 0.00089 0.00094
Singapore (Singapore Dollar) 0.69018 0.74825 0.72455 0.74825
South Africa (Rand) 0.06917 0.08118 0.07527 0.08094
Sweden (Krona) 0.10943 0.12629 0.11729 0.12184
Switzerland (Franc) 0.97481 1.05960 1.01615 1.02454
Taiwan (New Taiwan Dollar) 0.03084 0.03401 0.03290 0.03371
United Kingdom (British Pound) 1.20519 1.35970 1.28863 1.34939
Various countries (1) (Euro) 1.04322 1.20472 1.12974 1.19804

(1) Austria, Germany, the Netherlands, Estonia, Finland, the Republic of Ireland and Spain
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Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

Our Consolidated Financial Statements and Supplementary Data required by this Item 8 are set forth in Item 15 of this report.
Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None.
Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer (principal executive officer) and our Chief Financial Officer (principal
financial officer), have concluded, based on their evaluation as of the end of the period covered by this report, that our disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Rule 13a-15(e) or Rule 15d — 15(e) under the Exchange Act) are effective to ensure that information required to be disclosed by us in reports filed
or submitted under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized, and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms and

include controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by us in such reports is accumulated and communicated to our
management, including our principal executive and financial officers, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

During the quarter ended December 31,2017, there were no changes in our internal control over our financial reporting that we believe materially
affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
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REPORT OF MANAGEMENT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rule 13a — 13(f) or
Rule 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act) for the Company. Internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of our financial reporting for external purposes in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America. Internal control over financial reporting includes: maintaining records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect our transactions;
providing reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary for preparation of our consolidated financial statements; providing reasonable
assurance that receipts and expenditures of company assets are made in accordance with management authorization; and providing reasonable assurance that
unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of company assets that could have a material effect on our consolidated financial statements would be prevented
or detected on a timely basis. Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting is not intended to provide absolute assurance that a
misstatement of our consolidated financial statements would be prevented or detected.

Management conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting based on the framework in Internal
Control — Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013). Based on this evaluation,

management concluded that the Company’s internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31,2017.
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Item 9B. Other Information
On October 18,2017, Mannatech and SCG Lakeside Commerce Center, L.P. entered into a Lease Agreement whereby, effective February 1, 2018,
Mannatech leased a portion of a building located in Flower Mound, Texas for its corporate headquarters. The term of the Lease will expire on May 2028,

unless terminated sooner pursuant to the terms thereof. The foregoing summary of the terms of the Lease does not purport to be complete and is qualified in
its entirety by reference to the Lease, a copy of which is attached as Exhibit 10.12 to this Form 10-K and is incorporated herein by reference.

PART II1

Documents Incorporated by Reference

The information required by Items 10, 11, 12, 13 and 14 of Part IIl of Form 10-K is incorporated by reference to the definitive proxy statement for our
annual meeting to be filed with the SEC within 120 days after December 31, 2017.

PART IV
Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedule
(a) Documents filed as a part of the report:
1. Consolidated Financial Statements

The following financial statements and Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm are filed as a part of this report on the
pages indicated:

Index to Consolidated Financial Statements F-1
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm F-2
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31,2017 and 2016 F-3
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the years ended December 31,2017 and 2016 F-4
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income for the years ended December 31,2017 and 2016 F-4
Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity for the years ended December 31,2017 and 2016 F-5
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31,2017 and 2016 F-6
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements F-7

2. Financial Statement Schedule
The financial statement schedule required by this item is included as an Exhibit to this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm on Financial Statement Schedule.

3. Exhibit List

See Index to Exhibits following Item 16 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Item 16. Fixing America’s Surface Transportation (FAST) Act

Not Applicable.

62



Table of Contents

INDEX TO EXHIBITS
Incorporated by Reference
15:,‘,?,'3;: Exhibit Description Form File No. Exhibit (s) Filing Date
3.1 Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation of Mannatech S-1 333-63133 3.1 October 28, 1998
dated May 19. 1998.
32 Amendment to the Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation 8-K 000-24657 3.1 January 17,2012
of Mannatech, dated January 13.2012.
33 Fifth Amended and Restated Bylaws of Mannatech. effective August 8-K 000-24657 3.1 August 27,2014
25.2014.
41 Specimen Certificate representing Mannatech’s common stock. par  S-1 333-63133 4.1 October 28, 1998
’ value $0.0001 per share.
10.1 Mannatech. Incorporated 2017 Stock Incentive Plan 10-Q 000-24657 10.1 August 8,2017
10.2 Form of Performance Stock Unit Award Agreement 10-Q 000-24657 10.2 August 8,2017
10.3 Form of Stock Option Award Agreement 10-Q 000-24657 10.3 August 8,2017
104 Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement 10-Q 000-24657 10.4 August 8,2017
10.5 Form of Stock Appreciation Rights Award Agreement 10-Q 000-24657 10.5 August 8,2017
10.6 Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement 10-Q 000-24657 10.6 August 8,2017
10.7 Form of Performance Stock Award Agreement 10-Q 000-24657 10.7 August 8,2017
108 Amended and Restated 1998 Incentive Stock Option Plan, dated 10K 00024657 101 March 15,2004
August 7. 2004.
10.9 Amended and Restated 2000 Option Plan, dated August 7. 2004. 10K 000-24657 101 March 15,2004
Form of Indemnification Agreement between Mannatech and each
10.10 member of the Board of Directors of Mannatech Korea Ltd.. dated 10-Q 000-24657 102 August 9, 2004

March 3.2004.

Form of Indemnification Agreement between Mannatech and each of
the following directors: J. Stanley Fredrick, Patricia Wier, Alan D.

10.11 Kennedy. Gerald E. Gilbert, Marlin Ray Robbins, Larry A. Jobe.and 10-Q 000-24657 10.4 November4,2010
Robert A. Toth.

10.12* Commercial [ease Agreement between Mannatech and SCG % % % %
’ Lakeside Commerce Center, L.P.. dated October 18.2017.
Employment Agreement between Alfredo Bala and Mannatech
10.13 effective October 1.2007. dated September 18, 2007. 8-K 000-24657 10.1 September 24,2007

Executive Service Agreement between Mannatech Korea, L.td. and
10.14 Yong Jae (Patrick) Park. dated October 1.,2009. 10-Q 000-24657 10.1 May 12,2015

10.15 Supply Agreement between Natural Aloe de Costa Rica, S.A. and
Mannatgch: dated as of November 22_= 2016 (portions of'this exh1b1t 10K 00-24657 10.61 March 14,2017
were omitted pursuant to a confidential treatment request submitted
pursuant to Rule 24b-2 of the Exchange Act)

14.1 Code of Ethics. 10-K 000-24657 14.1 March 16,2007

21%* List of Subsidiaries. * * * *

23.1%* Consent of BDO USA, LLP. * * * *

24%* Power of Attorney. which is included on the signature page of this % % % %
annual report on Form 10-K.

31.1% Certification pursuant to Section 302 of'the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of % % % %

2002. of the Chief Executive Officer of Mannatech.

63


http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1056358/0000930661-99-001129.txt
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1056358/000105635812000008/exhibit_3-1amendment.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1056358/000114036114034270/ex3_1.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1056358/0001047469-98-038357.txt
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1056358/000105635817000045/exhibit101mannatechinc20.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1056358/000105635817000045/exhibit102formofperforma.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1056358/000105635817000045/exhibit103formofstockopt.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1056358/000105635817000045/exhibit104formofrestrict.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1056358/000105635817000045/exhibit105formofstockapp.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1056358/000105635817000045/exhibit106formofrestrict.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1056358/000105635817000045/exhibit107formofperforma.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1056358/000119312504042259/dex101.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1056358/000119312504042259/dex101.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1056358/000119312504135816/dex101.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1056358/000105635810000128/exhibit_10-4.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1056358/000119312507206383/dex101.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1056358/000114036115018942/ex10_1.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1056358/000105635817000009/mtex10-kexh1061.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1056358/000119312507056895/dex141.htm
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Incorporated by Reference

Exhibit

Number Exhibit Description Form File No. Exhibit (s) Filing Date

31.2% Certification pursuant to Section 302 of'the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of % % % %
2002, of the Chief Financial Officer of Mannatech.

32.1% Certification pursuant to Section 906 of'the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of % % % %
2002, of the Chief Executive Officer of Mannatech.

32.2% Certification pursuant to Section 906 of'the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of % % % %
2002, of the Chief Financial Officer of Mannatech.

99.1* Financial Statement Schedule Regarding Valuation and Qualifying " * % %
Accounts.

101.INS*  XBRL Instance Document * * * *

101.SCH* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document * * * *

101.CAL* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document * * * *

101.LAB* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document * * * *

101.PRE* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document * * * *

101.DEF* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document * * * *

* Filed herewith.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on
its behalf'by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

MANNATECH, INCORPORATED

Dated: March 26,2018 By:  /s/Alfredo Bala
Alfredo Bala
Chief Executive Officer

(principal executive officer)

Dated: March 26,2018 By:  /s/David A. Johnson
David A. Johnson
Chief Financial Officer

(principal financial officer)
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POWER OF ATTORNEY

The undersigned directors and officers of Mannatech, Incorporated hereby constitute and appoint Larry A. Jobe and David A. Johnson, and each of
them, with the power to act without the other and with full power of substitution and resubstitution, our true and lawful attorneys-in fact and agents with full
power to execute in our name and behalf in the capacities indicated below any and all amendments to this report and to file the same, with all exhibits and
other documents relating thereto and hereby ratify and confirm all that such attorneys-in-fact, or either of them, or their substitutes, may lawfully do or cause
to be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed by the following persons on behalf of the registrant
and in the capacities indicated:

Signature Title Date
/8/ Alfredo Bala ChiefExecutive Qfﬁcer March 26,2018
Alfredo Bala (principal executive officer)
/8/ David A. Johnson Chief Financial Officer

] L ; March 26,2018
David A. Johnson (principal financial officer)

/s/ J. Stanley Fredrick

- Chairman of'the Board March 26,2018
J. Stanley Fredrick
/s/ Robert A. Toth .
Director March 26,2018
Robert A. Toth
/s/ Gerald E. Gilbert .
- Director March 26,2018
Gerald E. Gilbert
/s/ Kevin Andrew Robbins .
- - Director March 26,2018
Kevin Andrew Robbins
/s/ Larry A. Jobe .
Director March 26,2018
Larry A. Jobe
/s/ Linda K. Ferrell .
- Director March 26,2018
Linda K. Ferrell
/s/ Eric W. Schrier .
Director March 26,2018

Eric W. Schrier
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INDEX TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31,2017 and 2016

Consolidated Statements of Operations for the years ended December 31,2017 and 2016
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income for the years ended December 31,2017 and 2016
Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity for the years ended December 31,2017 and 2016
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31,2017 and 2016

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Shareholders and Board of Directors
Mannatech, Incorporated
Flower Mound, Texas

Opinion on the Consolidated Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Mannatech, Incorporated (the “Company”) and subsidiaries as of December 31,2017 and
2016, the related consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income, shareholders’ equity, and cash flows for the years then ended, and the
related notes and financial statement schedule listed in the index appearing under Item 15(a)(2) (collectively referred to as the “consolidated financial
statements”). In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company and
subsidiaries at December 31, 2017 and 2016, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for the years then ended, in conformity with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Basis for Opinion

These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s
consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States) (“PCAOB”) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the
applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. The Company is not required to
have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its intemnal control over financial reporting. As part of our audits we are required to obtain an
understanding of internal control over financial reporting but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal
control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.

Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to error or fraud,
and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures

in the consolidated financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management,
as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

(Signed BDO USA, LLP)
We have served as the Company's auditor since 2007.

Dallas, Texas
March 26,2018
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MANNATECH, INCORPORATED AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(in thousands, except share information)

ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash
Accounts receivable, net of allowance of $582 and $463 in 2017 and 2016, respectively
Income tax receivable
Inventories, net
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Deferred commissions
Total current assets
Property and equipment, net
Construction in progress
Long-term restricted cash
Other assets
Long-term deferred tax assets, net
Total assets

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current portion of capital leases
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses
Commissions and incentives payable
Taxes payable
Current notes payable
Deferred revenue
Total current liabilities
Capital leases, excluding current portion
Long-term deferred tax liabilities
Long-term notes payable
Other long-term liabilities
Total liabilities
Commitments and contingencies (Note 11 and Note 12)
Shareholders’ equity:
Preferred stock, $0.01 par value, 1,000,000 shares authorized, no shares issued or outstanding

Common stock, $0.0001 par value, 99,000,000 shares authorized, 2,742,857 shares issued and 2,702,940 shares

outstanding as of December 31,2017 and 2,758,275 shares issued and 2,688,790 shares outstanding as of
December 31,2016

Additional paid-in capital
Retained earnings
Accumulated other comprehensive income

Treasury stock, at average cost, 39,917 shares as of December 31,2017 and 69,485 shares as of December 31,
2016, respectively

Total shareholders’ equity
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

F-3

December 31,2017 December 31,2016
$ 37,682 $ 28,687
1,514 1,510
273 298
907 1,587
9,385 11,961
2,607 3,483
3,880 3,229
56,248 50,755
3,537 3,611
777 1,012
7,565 6,429
3,876 4,013
4,239 5,368
$ 76,242 $ 71,188
$ 228 § 357
6,008 5,223
5,771 5,605
9,658 8,799
2,404 1,040
815 801
8,561 8,156
33,445 29,981
144 261
1,147 29
— 567
1,265 1,465
36,001 32,303
34,928 38,190
4,190 7,331
5,984 1,834
(4,861) (8,470)
40,241 38,885
$ 76,242 $ 71,188
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Net sales
Cost of sales
Gross profit
Operating expenses:
Commissions and incentives
Selling and administrative expenses
Depreciation and amortization
Other operating costs
Total operating expenses
Income from operations
Interest income
Other expense, net
Income (loss) before income taxes
Income tax benefit (provision)
Net loss

Earnings per common share:

Basic
Diluted

MANNATECH, INCORPORATED AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(in thousands, except per share information)

Weighted-average common shares outstanding:

Basic

Diluted

Net loss

Foreign currency translations gain

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

(in thousands)

Pension obligations, net of tax provision of $10 and $15 in 2017 and 2016, respectively

Comprehensive income

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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For the years ended December 31,

2017 2016
$ 176,696 $ 180,304
35,667 36,564
141,029 143,740
74,550 74215
35,470 37217
1,864 1,898
26,626 29,749
138,510 143,079
2,519 661
274 174
(333) (1,790)
2,460 (955)
(4,247) 369
$ (1,787) $ (586)
0.66) $ (0.22)
0.66) $ (0.22)
2,708 2,688
2,708 2,688

2017 2016
$ (1,787) $ (586)
4,169 1,176
19) (28)
$ 2363 § 562
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Balance at December 31,2015

Charge related to stock-based
compensation

Release of restricted stock

Stock option exercises

Tax effect from exercise of stock options

Foreign currency translation

Pension obligations, net of tax of $15

Repurchase of common stock
Declared and paid dividends
Net loss

Balance at December 31,2016

Charge related to stock-based
compensation

Issuance of unrestricted shares

Release of restricted stock
Stock option exercises
Foreign currency translation

Pension obligations, net of tax of $10

Repurchase of common stock
Declared and paid dividends
Net loss

Balance at December 31,2017

MANNATECH, INCORPORATED AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

(in thousands)

Accumulated
Additional other Total
Common paid in Retained comprehensive Treasury shareholders’
stock capital earnings income stock equity

$ — 3 40,494 $ 8,589 § 686 $§ (11,205) 38,564
— 690 — — — 690
— (1,881) — — 1,881 —
— 815) — — 854 39
— @4 — — — (24)
— — — 1,176 — 1,176
_ _ — (28) — (28)
— 274) — — — 274)
— — (672) — — 672)
— — (586) — — (586)

$ — 3 38,190 $ 7,331 § 1,834 § 8,470) 38,885
_ 246 — — — 246
— (1,228) — — 1,472 244
— (306) — — 306 —
— (1,748) — — 1,831 83
— — — 4,169 — 4,169
— — — 19) — 19)
— (226) — — — (226)
— — (1,354) — — (1,354)
— — (1,787) — — (1,787)

$ — 8 34928 §$ 4,190 $ 5984 § 4,861) 40,241

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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MANNATECH, INCORPORATED AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(in thousands)

For the years ended December 31,
2017 2016

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Net loss $ (1,787) $ (586)

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by (used in) operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization 1,864 1,898
Provision for inventory losses 714 343
Provision for doubtful accounts 351 562
Loss on disposal of assets 1 426
Stock-based compensation expense 490 690
Deferred income taxes 2,143 (1,290)
Tax expense from exercise of stock options — 24
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable (308) (495)
Income tax receivable 686 (1,595)
Inventories 2,379 (3,154)
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 1,540 (119)
Other assets 477 (115)
Deferred commissions (549) 208
Accounts payable 710 2,553
Accrued expenses and other liabilities (315) (1,104)
Taxes payable 1,226 233
Commissions and incentives payable 518 2,035
Deferred revenue 184 (534)
Change in restricted cash (326) 3)
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 9,998 23)
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Acquisition of property and equipment (1,340) (2,286)
Proceeds from sale of assets 1 1
Net cash used in investing activities (1,339) (2,285)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Proceeds from stock options exercised 83 39
Repurchase of common stock (226) 274)
Payment of cash dividends (1,354) (672)
Repayment of capital lease obligations (1,567) (1,551)
Net cash used in financing activities (3,064) (2,458)
Effect of currency exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 3,400 1,459
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 8,995 3,307)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 28,687 31,994
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year $ 37,682 $ 28,687
SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION:
Income taxes paid, net $ 1,694 $ 1,778
Interest paid on capital leases $ 68 $ 113
Accrued asset purchases $ 238 § 341
Assets acquired through financing arrangements $ 130 § 694

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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MANNATECH, INCORPORATED AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 1: ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Mannatech, Incorporated (together with its subsidiaries, the “Company”), located in Flower Mound, Texas, was incorporated in the state of Texas on
November 4, 1993 and is listed on the NASDAQ Global Select Market under the symbol “MTEX”. The Company develops, markets, and sells high-quality,
proprietary nutritional supplements, topical and skin care and anti-aging products, and weight-management products. We currently sell our products into
three regions: (i) the Americas (the United States, Canada, Colombia and Mexico); (ii)) EMEA (Austria, the Czech Republic, Denmark, Estonia, Finland,
Germany, the Republic of Ireland, Namibia, the Netherlands, Norway, South Africa, Spain, Sweden and the United Kingdom); and (iii) Asia/Pacific (Australia,
Japan, New Zealand, the Republic of Korea, Singapore, Taiwan, Hong Kong, and China).

On July 1, 2017, the Company revised its 2017 Associate Compensation Plan, which was designed to stimulate business growth and development
for our active business building associates and to maximize the buying experience for our preferred customers. In doing so, the Company hopes to better
utilize commission dollars to stimulate Company growth. The 2017 Associate Compensation Plan provides revised income streams, new leadership levels
and titles, and modified various volume requirements for our associates. In addition, the 2017 Associate Compensation Plan re-designated members as
preferred customers and modified their pricing structure.

Associates and now preferred customers purchase the Company’s products at published wholesale prices. The Company cannot distinguish products
sold for personal use from other sales, when sold to associates, because it is not involved with the products after delivery, other than usual and customary
product warranties and returns. Only associates are eligible to earn commissions and incentives. The Company operates a non-direct selling business in
mainland China. Our subsidiary in China, Meitai Daily Necessity & Health Products Co., Ltd. (“Meitai”), is operating as a traditional retailer under a cross-
border e-commerce model in China. Meitai cannot legally conduct a direct selling business in China unless it acquires a direct selling license in China.

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements and footnotes include the accounts of the Company and its wholly-owned subsidiaries. All intercompany
balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of the Company’s consolidated financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles requires the use of
estimates that affect the reported value of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses. These estimates are based on historical experience and various other
factors. The Company continually evaluates the information used to make these estimates as the business and economic environment changes. Historically,
actual results have not varied materially from the Company’s estimates and the Company does not currently anticipate a significant change in its
assumptions related to these estimates. However, actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions.

The use of estimates is pervasive throughout the consolidated financial statements, but the accounting policies and estimates considered the most
significant are described in this note to the consolidated financial statements, Organization and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies.
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Foreign Currency Translation

The United States dollar is the functional currency for the majority of the Company’s foreign subsidiaries. As a result, nonmonetary assets and
liabilities are remeasured at their approximate historical rates, monetary assets and liabilities are remeasured at exchange rates in effect at the end of the year,
and revenues and expenses are remeasured at weighted-average exchange rates for the year. The local currency is the functional currency of our subsidiaries
in Columbia, Japan, Republic of Korea, Taiwan, Norway, Denmark, Sweden, Mexico and China. These subsidiaries’ assets and liabilities are translated into
the United States dollars at exchange rates existing at the balance sheet dates, revenues and expenses are translated at weighted-average exchange rates, and
shareholders’ equity and intercompany balances are translated at historical exchange rates. The foreign currency translation adjustment is recorded as a
separate component of shareholders’ equity and is included in accumulated other comprehensive income.

Transaction losses totaled approximately $0.3 million and $1.8 million, for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively, and are
included in other expense, net in the Company’s consolidated statements of operations.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less to be cash equivalents. The Company includes
in its cash and cash equivalents credit card receivables due from its credit card processor, as the cash proceeds from credit card receivables are received within
24 to 72 hours. As of December 31,2017 and 2016, credit card receivables were $2.0 million and $0.5 million, respectively, and cash and cash equivalents
held in bank accounts in foreign countries totaled $30.6 million and $27.5 million, respectively. The Company invests cash in liquid instruments, such as
money market funds and interest bearing deposits. The Company also holds cash in high quality financial institutions and does not believe it has an
excessive exposure to credit concentration risk.

At December 31,2017, a portion of our cash and cash equivalent balances were concentrated within the Republic of South Korea, with total net
assets within this foreign location totaling $32.7 million. In addition, for the year ended December 31,2017, a concentrated portion of our operating cash
flows were earned from operations within the Republic of South Korea. An adverse change in economic conditions within the Republic of South Korea could
negatively affect the Company’s results of operations.

Restricted Cash

The Company is required to restrict cash for: (i) direct selling insurance premiums and credit card sales in the Republic of Korea; (ii) reserve on
credit card sales in the United States and Canada; and (iii) Australia building lease collateral. As of December 31,2017 and 2016, our total restricted cash was
$9.1 million and $7.9 million, respectively.

Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivable are carried at their estimated collectible amounts. Receivables are created upon shipment of an order if the credit card payment
is rejected or does not match the order total. As of December 31,2017 and 2016, receivables consisted primarily of amounts due from preferred customers and
associates. The Company periodically evaluates its receivables for collectability based on historical experience, recent account activities, and the length of
time receivables are past due and writes-off receivables when they become uncollectible. As of December 31, 2017 and 2016, the Company held an
allowance for doubtful accounts of $0.6 million and $0.5 million, respectively.

Inventories
Inventories consist of raw materials, finished goods, and promotional materials that are stated at the lower of cost (using standard costs that

approximate average costs) or net realizable value. The Company periodically reviews inventories for obsolescence and any inventories identified as
obsolete are reserved or written off.
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Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost, less accumulated depreciation and amortization computed using the straight-line method over the
estimated useful life of each asset. Leasehold improvements are amortized over the shorter of the lease term or the estimated useful life of the improvements.
Expenditures for maintenance and repairs are charged to expense as incurred. The cost of property and equipment sold or otherwise retired and the related
accumulated depreciation are removed from the accounts and any resulting gain or loss is included in other operating costs in the accompanying
consolidated statements of operations. The estimated useful lives of fixed assets are as follows:

Estimated useful life

Office furniture and equipment 5to 7 years
Computer hardware and software 3 to 5 years
Automobiles 3 to 5 years
Leasehold improvements (1) 2 to 10 years

(1) The Company amortizes leasehold improvements over the shorter of the useful estimated life of the leased asset or the lease term.

Property and equipment are reviewed for impairment whenever an event or change in circumstances indicates that the carrying amount of an asset or
group of assets may not be recoverable. The impairment review includes a comparison of future projected cash flows generated by the asset or group of assets
with its associated net carrying value. If the net carrying value of the asset or group of assets exceeds expected cash flows (undiscounted and without interest
charges), an impairment loss is recognized to the extent the carrying amount of the asset exceeds its fair value.

Other Assets

At December 31, 2017 and 2016, other assets were $3.9 million and $4.0 million, respectively. Included in the December 31, 2017 and 2016
balances were deposits for building leases in various locations of $1.9 million and $2.2 million, respectively. Also included in the December 31, 2017 and
2016 balances were $1.7 million and $1.5 million, respectively, representing a deposit with Mutual Aid Cooperative and Consumer in the Republic of Korea,
an organization established by the Republic of Korea’s Fair Trade Commission’s approval to compensate and protect consumers who participate in network
marketing activities from damages. Other assets at each of December 31, 2017 and 2016 also include $0.2 million of indefinite lived intangible assets
relating to the Manapol ® powder trademark.

Notes Payable

Notes payable were $0.8 million and $1.4 million as of December 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016, respectively, as a result of funding from a
capital financing agreement related to our investment in computer hardware and software and other financing arrangements. At December 31, 2017, the
current portion was $0.8 million. At December 31,2016, the current portion was $0.8 million and the long-term portion was $0.6 million.

Other Long-Term Liabilities

Other long-term liabilities were $1.3 million and $1.5 million for the years ending December 31,2017 and 2016. At each of December 31, 2017 and
2016, we recorded $0.2 million, respectively, in other long-term liabilities related to uncertain income tax positions (see Note 7, Income Taxes). Certain
operating leases for the Company’s regional office facilities contain a restoration clause that requires the Company to restore the premises to its original
condition. At December 31,2017 and 2016, accrued restoration costs related to these leases amounted to $0.4 million and $0.6 million, respectively. The
Company also recorded a long-term liability for an estimated defined benefit obligation related to a non-U.S. defined benefit plan for its Japan operations of
$0.4 million and $0.5 million as of December 31,2017 and 2016, respectively (See Note 9, Employee Benefit Plans).
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Revenue Recognition and Deferred Commissions

The Company’s revenue is derived from sales of individual products, sales of its starter and renewal packs, associate fees and shipping fees.
Substantially all of the Company’s product and pack sales are made at published wholesale prices to associates and preferred customers. The Company
records revenue net of any sales taxes and records a reserve for expected sales returns based on its historical experience. The Company recognizes revenue
from shipped packs and products upon receipt by the customer. Corporate-sponsored event revenue is recognized when the event is held.

As a result of the 2017 Associate Compensation Plan, which was implemented on July 1, 2017, we also collect associate fees, which associates pay
to the Company annually in order to earn commissions, benefits and incentives for that year. Associate fees are recognized evenly over the course of the
annual period of the associate’s contract. We collected associate fees within the United States, Canada, South Africa, Japan, Australia, New Zealand,
Singapore, Hong Kong, and Taiwan during the year ended December 31,2017.

The arrangement regarding associate fees has three service elements: providing new associates with the eligibility to earn commissions, benefits and
incentives for twelve months and a complimentary three-month subscription package for the Success Tracker™ and Mannatech+ customized electronic
business-building tools. Each of these service elements is provided over time to the customer. For the year ended December 31, 2017, all of these service
elements were combined as a single unit of accounting as the separation criteria within ASC 605-25, Revenue Recognition, were not met to result in multiple
units of accounting.

The Company defers certain components of its revenue. At December 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016, the Company’s deferred revenue was $8.6
million and $8.2 million, respectively. Deferred revenue consisted primarily of: (i) sales of packs and products shipped but not received by the customers by
the end of the respective period; (ii) revenue from the loyalty program; and (iii) prepaid registration fees from customers planning to attend a future corporate-
sponsored event. The deferred revenue associated with the loyalty program at December 31,2017 and December 31,2016 was $6.4 million and $7.0 million,
respectively. In total current assets, the Company defers commissions on (i) the sales of packs and products ordered but not received by the customers by the
end of the respective period and (ii) the loyalty program. Deferred commissions were $3.9 million and $3.2 million at December 31,2017 and December 31,
2016, respectively.

Loyalty program (in thousands)
Loyalty deferred revenue as of January 1,2016 $ 8,073
Loyalty points forfeited or expired (6,963)
Loyalty points used (15,451)
Loyalty points vested 20,085
Loyalty points unvested 1,289
Loyalty deferred revenue as of December 31,2016 $ 7,033
Loyalty deferred revenue as of January 1,2017 $ 7,033
Loyalty points forfeited or expired (5,895)
Loyalty points used (14,316)
Loyalty points vested 17,836
Loyalty points unvested 1,748
Loyalty deferred revenue as of December 31,2017 $ 6,406
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We estimate a sales return reserve for expected sales refunds based on our historical experience over a rolling six-month period. If actual results differ
from our estimated sales return reserve due to various factors, the amount of revenue recorded for each period could be materially affected. Historically, our
sales returns have not materially changed through the years, as the majority of our customers who return their merchandise do so within the first 90 days after
the original sale. Sales returns have historically averaged 1.5% or less of our gross sales. For the year ended December 31, 2017 our sales return reserve
consisted of the following (in thousands):

December 31,2017
Sales reserve as of January 1,2017 $ 129
Provision related to sales made in current period 1,274
Adjustment related to sales made in prior periods 3
Actual returns or credits related to current period (1,156)
Actual returns or credits related to prior periods (133)
Sales reserve as of December 31,2017 $ 117

Shipping and Handling Costs

The Company records freight and shipping fees collected from its customers as revenue. The Company records inbound freight as a component of
inventory and cost of sales.

Commission and Incentive Expenses

Associates earn commissions and incentives based on their direct and indirect commissionable net sales over each month of the fiscal year. The
Company accrues commissions and incentives when eamed by associates and pays commissions on product and pack sales on a monthly basis.

Advertising Expenses

The Company expenses advertising and promotions in selling and administrative expenses when incurred. Advertising and promotional expenses
were approximately $5.8 million and $6.0 million for the years ended December 31,2017 and 2016, respectively. Educational and promotional items, called
sales aids, are sold to associates to assist in their sales efforts and are included in inventories and charged to cost of sales when sold.

Research and Development Expenses

The Company expenses research and development expenses as incurred. Research and development expenses related to new product development,
enhancement of existing products, clinical studies and trials, Food and Drug Administration compliance studies, general supplies, internal salaries, third-
party contractors, and consulting fees were approximately $1.2 million and $1.4 million, respectively, for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016.
Salaries and contract labor are included in selling and administrative expenses and all other research and development costs are included in other operating
costs.

Stock-Based Compensation

The Company currently has one active stock-based compensation plan, the Mannatech, Incorporated 2017 Stock Incentive Plan (the “2017 Plan™),
which was adopted by the Company’s Board of Directors on April 17,2017 and was approved by its shareholders on June 8,2017. The 2017 Plan supersedes
the Mannatech, Incorporated 2008 Stock Incentive Plan, as amended, which was set to expire on February 20, 2018. The 2008 Plan provided, and the 2017
Plan provides, for grants of incentive stock options, nonqualified stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock, restricted stock units, performance
stock and performance stock units to our employees, board members, and consultants. However, only employees of the Company and its corporate
subsidiaries are eligible to receive incentive stock options. The exercise price per share for all stock options will be no less than the market value of a share of
common stock on the date of grant. Any incentive stock option granted to an employee owning more than 10% of our common stock will have an exercise
price of no less than 110% of our common stock’s market value on the grant date.
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The majority of stock options vest over two or three years, and generally are granted with a term of ten years, or five years in the case of an incentive
option granted to an employee who owns more than 10% of our common stock. At date of grant, the Company determines the fair value of the stock option
award and recognizes compensation expense over the requisite service period, or the vesting period of the award. The fair value of the stock option award is
calculated using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. The Company records stock-based compensation expense in selling and administrative expenses.

Software Development Costs

The Company capitalizes qualifying internal payroll and external contracting and consulting costs related to the development of internal use
software that are incurred during the application development stage, which includes design of the software configuration and interfaces, coding, installation,
and testing. Costs incurred during the preliminary project along with post-implementation stages of internal use software are expensed as incurred. The
Company amortizes such costs over the estimated useful life of the software, which is three to five years once the software is placed in service.

Other Operating Costs

Other operating costs include travel, accounting/legal/consulting fees, credit card processing fees, banking fees, off-site storage fees, utilities, and
other miscellaneous operating expenses.

Income Taxes

The Company determines the provision for income taxes using the asset and liability method. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for
the future tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective
tax bases and operating loss and tax credit carryforwards. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable
income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change
in tax rates is recognized as income in the period that includes the enactment date. The Company evaluates the probability of realizing the future benefits of
its deferred tax assets and provides a valuation allowance for the portion of any deferred tax assets where the likelihood of realizing an income tax benefit in
the future does not meet the more likely than not criterion for recognition. The Company recognizes the effect of income tax positions only if those positions
are more likely than not of being sustained. Recognized income tax positions are measured at the largest amount that is greater than 50% likely of being
recognized. Changes in recognition or measurement are reflected in the period in which the change in judgment occurs. The Company recognizes both
interest and penalties related to uncertain tax positions as part of the income tax provision.

Comprehensive Income and Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income

Comprehensive income is defined as the change in equity of a business enterprise during a period from transactions and other events and
circumstances from non-owner sources and includes all changes in equity during a period except those resulting from investments by owners and
distributions to owners. The Company’s comprehensive income consists of the Company’s net income, foreign currency translation adjustments from its
Japan, Republic of Korea, Taiwan, Denmark, Norway, Sweden, Colombia, Mexico and China operations, remeasurement of intercompany balances classified
as equity from its Taiwan, Mexico and Cyprus operations, and changes in the pension obligation for its Japanese employees.
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Concentration Risk

Assignificant portion of our revenue is derived from our Ambrotose ®, Advanced Ambrotose®, Manapol®, PLUS™ products and TruHealth™ products.
A decline in sales value of such products could have a material adverse effect on our earnings, cash flows, and financial position. Revenue from these
products were as follows for the years ended December 31,2017 and 2016 (in thousands, except percentages):

2017 2016
Sales by % of total Sales by % of total
product net sales product net sales
Advanced Ambrotose® $ 52,592 29.8% $ 55,863 31.0%
TruHealth™ 16,652 9.4% 9,220 5.1%
Manapol® Powder 11,183 6.3% 2,153 1.2%
Ambrotose® 8,459 4.8% 10,196 5.7%
PLUS ™ 7,461 4.2% 7,935 4.4%
Total $ 96,347 545% $ 85,367 47.4%

Our business is not currently exposed to customer concentration risk given that no independent associate has ever accounted for more than 10% of
our consolidated net sales.

Financial instruments, which potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk, consist principally of cash and cash equivalents,
investments, receivables, and restricted cash. The Company utilizes financial institutions that the Company considers to be of high credit quality and
periodically evaluates the credit rating of such institutions and the allocation of their investments to minimize exposure to credit concentration risk.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The fair value of the Company’s financial instruments, including cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, time deposits, money market
investments, receivables, payables, and accrued expenses, approximate their carrying values due to their relatively short maturities. See Note 2 to our
Consolidated Financial Statements, Fair Value, for more information.

Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements

The Company prospectively adopted Accounting Standard Updated ("ASU") 2015-11, Inventory, Simplifying the Measurement of Inventory (Topic
330), during the first quarter of 2017 regarding the subsequent measurement of inventory. Prior to these changes, an entity was required to measure its
inventory at the lower of cost or market, whereby market can be replacement cost, net realizable value, or net realizable value less an approximately normal
profit margin. The changes require that inventory be measured at the lower of cost and net realizable value, thereby eliminating the use of the other two
market methodologies. Net realizable value is defined as the estimated selling prices in the ordinary course of business less reasonably predictable costs of
completion, disposal, and transportation. These changes do not apply to inventories measured using LIFO or the retail inventory method. The adoption of
these changes had no impact on the consolidated financial statements.

The Company adopted ASU 2015-17, Income Taxes, Balance Sheet Classification of Deferred Taxes (Topic 740), during the first quarter of 2017
and applied it retrospectively to all deferred tax assets and liabilities. This ASU requires classification of deferred income taxes as non-current on the
consolidated balance sheets. Deferred income taxes were previously required to be classified as current or non-current on the consolidated balance sheets.
The adoption had an immaterial prior year balance sheet change in classification between current deferred tax assets and long-term deferred tax assets.
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The Company adopted ASU 2016-09, Compensation, Stock Compensation Improvements to Employee Share-Based Payment Accounting (Topic
718) during the first quarter of 2017. The updated guidance changes how companies account for certain aspects of stock-based payment awards to employees,
including the accounting for income taxes, forfeitures, and statutory tax withholding requirements, as well as classification of such awards in the statement of
cash flows. ASU 2016-09 became effective for us on January 1, 2017. ASU 2016-09 requires that excess tax benefits and deficiencies resulting from the
vesting or exercise of stock-based compensation awards to be recognized in the income statement on a prospective basis. Previously, these amounts were
recognized in additional paid-in capital. In addition, ASU 2016-09 requires excess tax benefits and deficiencies to be excluded from the assumed future
proceeds in the calculation of diluted EPS under the treasury stock method. In accordance with the standard, we elected to continue our historical approach of
estimating forfeitures during the award vesting period. ASU 2016-09 had no material impact to the calculation of weighted average shares outstanding for
year ended December 31, 2017. The adoption of this standard did not have a material effect on our consolidated financial statements for year ended
December31,2017.

In February 2017, the FASB issued ASU 2017-07, Compensation-Retirement Benefits, Improving the Presentation of Net Periodic Pension Cost and
Net Periodic Postretirement Benefit Cost) (Topic 715), which requires an entity to present the service cost component of the net periodic benefit cost in the
same income statement line item(s) as other employee compensation costs arising from services rendered during the period. In addition, ASU 2017-07
requires an entity to present the other components separately from the line item(s) that includes the service cost and outside of any subtotal of operating
income. The guidance is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15,2017 and interim periods within those years. Early adoption is permitted. The
Company retrospectively adopted this ASU during the fourth quarter of 2017. The adoption of this standard did not have a material effect on our
consolidated financial statements for year ended December 31,2017.

Accounting Pronouncements Issued But Not Yet Effective

In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers. This new standard requires companies to recognize revenue
when it transfers promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which a company expects to be entitled in exchange
for those goods or services. Under the new standard, revenue is recognized when a customer obtains control of a good or service. The standard allows for two
transition methods - entities can either apply the new standard (i) retrospectively to each prior reporting period presented or (ii) retrospectively with the
cumulative effect of initially applying the standard recognized at the date of initial adoption. In July 2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015-14, Revenue from
Contracts with Customers, which defers the effective date by one year to December 15, 2017 for fiscal years, and interim periods within those fiscal years,
beginning after that date. In March 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-08, Revenue from Contracts with Customers, Principal versus Agent Considerations
(Reporting Revenue versus Net), in April 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-10, Revenue from Contracts with Customers, identifying Performance
Obligations and Licensing, and in May 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-12, Revenue from Contracts with Customers, Narrow-Scope Improvements and
Practical Expedients, which provide additional clarification on certain topics addressed in ASU 2014-09. ASU 2016-08, ASU 2016-10, and ASU 2016-12
follow the same implementation guidelines as ASU 2014-09 and ASU 2015-14. All of these aforementioned ASUs have been codified under ASC 606,
Revenue from Contracts with Customers. We will adopt this standard utilizing the modified retrospective approach with the cumulative effect recognized in
retained earnings, on January 1, 2018. The Company has completed the evaluation of the impact of ASC 606 on its product sales, including loyalty points
eamed through certain product sales. The timing of revenue recognition for our various revenue streams will not be materially impacted by the adoption of
this standard. The Company believes its business processes, systems, and controls are appropriate to support recognition and disclosure under ASC 606. In
addition, we expect the adoption to lead to increased footnote disclosures. The overall financial impact of adopting this standard will not have a material
effect on our consolidated financial statements.
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In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842). Under ASU 2016-02, an entity will be required to recognize right-of-use assets
and lease liabilities on its balance sheet and disclose key information about leasing arrangements. ASU 2016-02 offers specific accounting guidance for a
lessee, a lessor and sale and leaseback transactions. Lessees and lessors are required to disclose qualitative and quantitative information about leasing
arrangements to enable a user of the financial statements to assess the amount, timing and uncertainty of cash flows arising from leases. For public companies,
ASU 2016-02 is effective for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2018, including interim periods within that reporting period, and
requires a modified retrospective adoption, with early adoption permitted. Management is currently in the initial stages of evaluating the future impact of
ASU 2016-02 on its consolidated financial position, results of operations and cash flows. The overall financial impact of adopting this standard is unknown
at this time.

In November 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-18, Statement of Cash Flows, Restricted Cash (Topic 230), which addresses the diversity in the
classification and presentation of changes in restricted cash on the statement of cash flows. The amendment requires that a statement of cash flows explain the
change during the period in the total of cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash. Restricted cash amounts are to be included with cash and cash equivalents
when reconciling the beginning and ending amounts of cash on the statement of cash flows. The guidance is effective for annual periods beginning after
December 15,2017. Early adoption is permitted. We do not expect the adoption to have a material impact on our financial statements.

In May 2017, the FASB issued ASU 2017-09, Compensation, Stock Compensation (Topic 718), to clarify which changes to the terms or conditions
of a share-based payment award require an entity to apply modification accounting. The new standard is required to be applied prospectively. The guidance
was effective January 1,2018, and we do not expect the adoption to have a material impact on our financial statements.

In February 2018, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued ASU 2018-02, Income Statement - Reporting Comprehensive Income,
Reclassification of Certain Tax Effects from Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Topic 220), which amended its standard on comprehensive income
to provide an option for an entity to reclassify the stranded tax effects of the Act that was passed in December 0f2017 from accumulated other comprehensive
income (AOCI) directly to retained earnings. The stranded tax effects result from the remeasurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities which were
originally recorded in comprehensive income but whose remeasurement is reflected in the income statement. This is a one-time amendment applicable only
to the changes resulting from the Act. The standard will be effective for us on January 1, 2019, and may be reflected retroactively to any period in which the
impacts of the Act are recognized. The standard permits early adoption for any financial statements that have not been released as of the date of the revised
standard. The overall financial impact of adopting this standard is unknown at this time.

Other recently issued accounting pronouncements did not or are not believed by management to have a material impact on the Company’s present
or future financial statements.
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NOTE 2: FAIR VALUE

The Company utilizes fair value measurements to record fair value adjustments to certain financial assets and to determine fair value disclosures.

Fair Value Measurements (Topic 820) of the FASB establishes a fair value hierarchy that requires the use of observable market data, when available,

and prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value in the following categories:

* Level 1—Quoted unadjusted prices for identical instruments in active markets.

* Level 2—Quoted prices for similar instruments in active markets, quoted prices for identical or similar instruments in markets that are not active

and model-derived valuations in which all observable inputs and significant value drivers are observable in active markets.

» Level 3—Model derived valuations in which one or more significant inputs or significant value drivers are unobservable, including assumptions

developed by the Company.

The primary objective of the Company’s investment activities is to preserve principal while maximizing yields without significantly increasing risk.
The investment instruments held by the Company are money market funds and interest bearing deposits for which quoted market prices are readily available.
The Company considers these highly liquid investments to be cash equivalents. These investments are classified within Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy

because they are valued based on quoted market prices in active markets.

The tables below presents the recorded amount of financial assets measured at fair value, which approximately equates to the carrying value due to
the relatively short maturities of these respective assets, (in thousands) on a recurring basis as of December 31,2017 and 2016. The Company did not have
any material financial liabilities that were required to be measured at fair value on a recurring basis at December 31,2017 and 2016.

2017
Assets
Money Market Funds — Fidelity, US
Interest bearing deposits — various banks
Total assets
Amounts included in:
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash
Long-term restricted cash
Total

Assets

Money Market Funds — Fidelity, US

Interest bearing deposits — various banks
Total assets

Amounts included in:

Cash and cash equivalents

Restricted cash

Long-term restricted cash
Total
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Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

Total

23,695

23,695

23,695

23,695

16,651
741
6,303

16,651
741
6,303

23,695

23,695

Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

Total

12
19,357

12
19,357

19,369

19,369

13,326
737
5,306

13,326
737
5,306

19,369

19,369
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NOTE 3: INVENTORIES

Inventories consist of raw materials, finished goods, and promotional materials. The Company provides an allowance for any slow-moving or
obsolete inventories. Inventories as of December 31,2017 and 2016, consisted of the following (in thousands):

2017 2016
Raw materials $ 879 $ 239
Finished goods 9,072 12,103
Inventory reserves for obsolescence (566) (381)
Total $ 9,385 § 11,961

NOTE 4: PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

For the year ended December 31,2017 and 2016, construction in progress was $0.8 million and $1.0 million, respectively, which is primarily
comprised of back-office software projects with in service dates that are currently indeterminable. As of December 31,2017 and 2016, property and
equipment consisted of the following (in thousands):

2017 2016

Office furniture and equipment $ 7,648 § 7,791
Computer hardware 5,209 7,100
Computer software 49,687 48,316
Automobiles 81 81
Leasehold improvements 11,530 12,351

74,155 75,639
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization (70,618) (72,028)
Property and equipment, net 3,537 3,611
Construction in progress 777 1,012
Total $ 4314 $ 4,623

NOTE S: CAPITAL LEASE OBLIGATIONS

As of December 31, 2017 and 2016, the net book value of leased assets was $0.4 million and $0.7 million, respectively for leased equipment and
purchased licenses. The future minimum lease payments (in thousands) are as follows:

2018 $ 241
2019 78
2020 40
2021 28
2022 7
Total future minimum lease payments 394
Less: Amounts representing interest (effective interest rate 5.61%) (22)
Present value of minimum lease payments 372
Current portion of capital lease obligations 228
Long-term portion of capital lease obligations $ 144
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NOTE 6: ACCRUED EXPENSES

As of December 31,2017 and 2016, accrued expenses consisted of the following (in thousands):

2017 2016

Accrued asset purchases $ 238 § 341
Accrued compensation 1,685 1,533
Accrued royalties 55 75
Accrued sales and other taxes 260 1,446
Other accrued operating expenses 785 675
Customer deposits and sales returns 153 137
Accrued travel expenses related to corporate events 1,156 255
Accrued shipping and handling costs 691 290
Rent expense 211 219
Accrued legal and accounting fees 537 634

$ 5771 $ 5,605

NOTE 7: INCOME TAXES

The components of the Company’s income before income taxes are attributable to the following jurisdictions for the years ended December 31 (in
thousands):

2017 2016
United States $ 6911) $ (2,368)
Foreign 9,371 1,413
$ 2,460 $ 955)
The components ofthe Company’s income tax expense for the years ended December 31 (in thousands):

Current provision (benefit): 2017 2016
Federal $ (1,157) § (396)
State 75 59
Foreign 3,186 1,438

2,104 1,101

Deferred provision (benefit):

Federal 1,185 95)
State (425) (25)
Foreign 1,383 (1,350)
2,143 1,470)

$ 4,247 $ 369)
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Areconciliation of the Company’s effective income tax rate and the United States federal statutory income tax rate is summarized as follows, for the

years ended December 31:

2017 2016

Federal statutory income taxes 35.0% 35.0%
State income taxes, net of federal benefit (8.0) 4.1)
Difference in foreign and United States tax on foreign operations (68.6) 9.5
Effect of changes in valuation allowance 121.1 59.0
Effect of change in uncertain tax positions (net) (22.6) 12.8
Federal Sub-Part F Income from foreign operations 6.6 27.4)
Federal Transition Tax (net of deduction) 1914 —
Effect of changes in tax rates 325 —
Foreign Exchange 94 (45.7)
Prior year adjustments 17.4 —
Other deferred - NOL expiration 26.0 —
Foreign tax credits and withholding tax (180.8) —
Meals and entertainment 55 —
Other permanent items 4.4 —
Other 34 0.4)

172.7 % 38.7 %

For the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, the Company’s effective tax rate was 172.7% and 38.7%, respectively. For 2017, the Company
had a significant increase in its rate due to the impact of the Act. Items decreasing the effective income tax rate included the favorable rate difference from
foreign jurisdictions, utilization of foreign tax credits against the transition tax, and certain tax reserve items removed due to expiration of applicable statute
of limitations. Items increasing the effective income tax rate included transition tax, return to provision and prior year adjustments, and change in valuation
allowance. For 2016, the Company had a tax benefit due to loss before income tax. Items decreasing the effective income tax rate included the favorable rate
difference from foreign jurisdictions, return to provision adjustment, release of value allowances with respect to Switzerland and certain tax reserve items
removed due to expiration of applicable statute of limitations. Items increasing the effective income tax rate included foreign exchange losses and “Subpart F

income” resulting from controlled foreign corporation operations.
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Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting
purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes. Significant components of the Company’s deferred tax assets and liabilities consisted of the
following at December 31 (in thousands):

Deferred tax assets: 2017 2016
Deferred revenue $ 353§ 492
Inventory capitalization 147 258
Inventory reserves 112 82
Accrued expenses 917 799
Depreciation and amortization 1,506 2,181
Net operating loss(!) 6,549 6,021
Deferred royalty 5 18
Non-cash accounting charges related to stock options and warrants 464 715
Foreign tax credit carryover 5,544 3,797
Other 360 932

Total deferred tax assets $ 15957 $ 15,295

Valuation allowance (11,436) (8,458)
Total deferred tax assets, net of valuation allowance $ 4521 $ 6,837
Deferred tax liabilities:
Prepaid expenses $ 239 % 380
Deferred commissions 543 742
Internally-developed software 381 205
Fixed assets 266 178
Total deferred tax liabilities $ 1,429 § 1,505
Total net deferred tax asset $ 3,092 § 5,332

(1) The Company’s net operating loss will expire as follows (dollar amounts in thousands):

Tax

Effected Expiration
Jurisdiction Gross NOL NOL Years
Canada $ 9§ 2 2026
Colombia $ 1,641 $ 558 Indefinite
Cyprus $ 8 3 1 2021
Denmark $ 9 % 2 Indefinite
Hong Kong $ 110 $ 18 Indefinite
Japan $ 400 § 139 Indefinite
Mexico $ 9,395 $ 2,819 2020-2027
Norway $ 263 § 61 Indefinite
Russia® $ 49 $ 10 Indefinite
Singapore $ 131§ 22 Indefinite
South Africa $ 239 $ 67 Indefinite
Sweden $ 549 $ 121 Indefinite
Switzerland $ 10,893 §$ 1,001 2018-2023
Taiwan $ 4,707 $ 800 2018-2026
Ukraine®) $ 604 § 109 Indefinite
United Kingdom $ 454§ 86 Indefinite

(1) On August 1, 2016, the Company established a legal entity in Russia.
(2)  On March 21, 2014, the Company suspended operations in the Ukraine, but maintains the legal entity.
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In addition to net operating loss attributes, the Company has recorded a foreign tax credit carryforward of $5.5 million, which will begin to expire in
2024 and a charitable contribution carryforward of $0.2 million, which will expire in 2021. The Company maintains a full valuation against both the foreign
tax credits and the charitable contribution carryforward.

At December 31, 2017 and 2016, the Company’s valuation allowance was $11.4 million and $8.5 million, respectively. The provisions of ASC
Topic 740 require a company to record a valuation allowance when the “more likely than not” criterion for realizing a deferred tax asset cannot be met. A
company is to use judgment in reviewing both positive and negative evidence of realizing a deferred tax asset. Furthermore, the weight given to the potential
effect of such evidence is commensurate with the extent the evidence can be objectively verified.

The valuation allowances presented below (in millions) at December 31, 2017 and 2016, represented a reserve against the Company’s net deferred
tax asset the Company believed the “more likely than not” criterion for recognition purposes could not be met. The U.S. valuation allowance increased due
to the carryover of foreign tax credits that we do not anticipate to utilize in future years.

Country 2017 2016

Colombia $ 0.6 $ 0.3
Mexico 2.8 2.4
South Africa 0.1 —
Sweden 0.1 0.1
Switzerland — 0.1
Taiwan 0.8 13
Ukraine 0.1 0.1
United Kingdom 0.1 —
United States 6.8 4.1
Other Jurisdictions — 0.1
Total $ 114 $ 8.5

U.S. Tax

On December 22, 2017, President Trump signed into law H.R. 1/Public Law No. 115-97, “An Act to provide for reconciliation pursuant to titles I
and V of the concurrent resolution on the budget for fiscal year 2018.” Pursuant to ASC 740-10-25-47, the effects of the new federal legislation are
recognized upon enactment, which is the date the president signs a bill into law.

The Securities and Exchange Commission staff (“SEC Staff”) recognized that entities may not have the necessary information available, prepared, or
analyzed in reasonable detail to complete the accounting under ASC 740 for certain income tax effects of the Act in the reporting period that includes the
date of enactment. SEC Staffissued guidance in SAB 118 to address this situation. SAB 118 provides that to the extent an entity can complete the income tax
accounting effects of the Act, the completed amount is reported. To the extent the entity cannot complete the calculation for certain income tax effects of the
Act, the entity may provide a reasonable estimate and report this provisional amount in the first reporting period in which the entity is able to make a
reasonable estimate. If the entity is unable to make a reasonable estimate, then the entity will not report any provisional amounts and will continue to report
the effects of the tax law in effect immediately prior to the Act. The measurement period begins in the period of enactment and ends when the entity has
obtained, prepared, and analyzed the information needed to complete the accounting requirements under ASC 740; however, the measurement period should
not extend beyond one year from the enactment date.
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The following is a summary of the tax effects of the Act:

Corporate Tax Rate Change: The Act includes a decrease to the U.S. corporate income tax rate effective January 1, 2018, from 35 percent to 21
percent, which requires a re-measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities pursuant to ASC 740-10-25-47. For the year ended December 31, 2017,
Mannatech recorded deferred tax expense of $0.8 million as a provisional estimate related to revaluing its deferred tax assets and liabilities to the newly
enacted tax rate.

Deemed Repatriation of Foreign Earnings (“Transition Tax”): The Act provides that a U.S. shareholder of a specified foreign corporation (“SFC”)
must include in gross income, at the end of the SFC’s last tax year beginning before January 1, 2018, the U.S. shareholder’s pro rata share of certain of the
SFC’s undistributed and previously untaxed post-1986 foreign earnings and profits and base the calculation on the greater of the E&P as of November 2,
2017, or December 31,2017. Mannatech has recorded a current tax expense of $1.7 million after foreign tax credits as a provisional estimate.

The Company has not yet completed its calculation of the total post-1986 E&P for these foreign subsidiaries. Further, the transition tax is based, in
part, on the amount of those earnings held in cash and other specified assets. This amount may change when the Company finalizes the calculation of post-
1986 foreign E&P previously deferred from U.S. federal taxation and finalize the amounts held in cash or other specified assets.

Global Intangible Low Taxed Income: The Act creates a requirement that certain income earned by controlled foreign corporations (“CFCs”) must
be included currently in the gross income of the CFC’s U.S. shareholder. Global Intangible Low Tax Income (“GILTI”) is the excess of the shareholder’s net
CFC tested income over the net deemed tangible income return (“the routine return”), which is defined as the excess of (1) 10 percent of the aggregate of the
U.S. shareholder’s pro rata share of the qualified business asset investment of each CFC with respect to which it is a U.S. shareholder over (2) the amount of
certain interest expense taken into account in the determination of the net CFC-tested income.

A deduction is permitted to a domestic corporation in an amount equal to 50 percent of the sum of the GILTI inclusion and the amount treated as a
dividend, subject to certain limitations. The GILTI provisions are effective for tax years beginning on or after January 1,2018.

In FASB staff Q&A Topic 740, No. 5, Accounting for Global Intangible Low-Taxed Income, the FASB staff noted that ASC 740 was not clear with
respect to the appropriate accounting for GILTI, and accordingly, an entity may either: (1) elect to treat taxes on GILTI as period costs similar to special
deductions, or (2) recognize deferred tax assets and liabilities when basis differences exist that are expected to affect the amount of GILTI inclusion upon
reversal (the deferred method). Mannatech has not yet adopted an accounting policy related to GILTIL

Unremitted Foreign Earnings: For each of its foreign subsidiaries, the company makes an assertion regarding the amount of earnings intended for
permanent reinvestment, with the balance available to be repatriated to the United States. - The Act requires companies to pay a one-time transition tax on
eamings of foreign subsidiaries, a majority of which were previously considered permanently reinvested by the company. It is the Company’s intention to
repatriate its previously taxed income (“PTI”) of approximately $25 million, which is a provisional estimate as it includes the PTI generated from the
Company’s provisional estimate of the transition tax. In addition to the one-time transition tax, a deferred tax liability for withholding taxes of $1.3 million
has been accrued on the estimated PTI at December 31, 2017, along with an offsetting deferred tax asset for the U.S. foreign tax credit that would be
generated. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of The Act on its permanent reinvestment assertion for any remaining outside basis difference
after considering the transition tax. The repatriation of incremental outside basis difference could result in an adjustment to the tax liability due to
contributing factors such as withholding taxes, income taxes and the impact of foreign currency movements. As such, the company is still evaluating any
remaining outside basis difference.

Deferred tax assets (liabilities) are classified in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets of December 31 as follows (in thousands):

2017 2016
Noncurrent deferred tax assets $ 4239 § 5,368
Long-term deferred tax liabilities
(1,147) 29)
Net deferred tax assets $ 3,092 $ 5,339
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On January 1, 2007, the Company adopted FIN 48, which was codified into Topic 740, which prescribes a comprehensive model for how a company
should recognize, measure, present, and disclose in its financial statements, uncertain tax positions that it has taken or expects to take on a tax return. Topic
740 requires that a company recognize in its financial statements the impact of tax positions that meet a “more likely than not” threshold, based on the
technical merits of the position. The tax benefits recognized in the financial statements from such a position should be measured based on the largest benefit
that has a greater than fifty percent likelihood of being realized upon ultimate settlement. As of December 31, 2017, the Company recorded $0.2 million in
other long-term liabilities related to uncertain income tax positions and income tax reserves associated with various audits. At December 31, 2017, the
Company had unrecognized tax benefits of $0.2 million that, if recognized, would impact the effective tax rate. Areconciliation of the beginning and ending
amount of unrecognized tax benefits is as follows, for the years ended December 31,2017 and 2016 (in thousands):

2017 2016
Balance as of January 1 $ 733§ 715
Additions for tax positions related to the current year — 90
Additions for tax positions of prior years — 54
Reductions of tax positions of prior years (576) (126)
Balance as of December 31 $ 157 § 733

The Company recognizes interest and/or penalties related to uncertain tax positions in current income tax expense. As of December 31, 2017 and
December 31, 2016, the Company had accrued interest and penalties of $0.1 million and $0.3 million in the consolidated balance sheet, of which $9
thousand and $42 thousand were accrued in the consolidated statement of operations. Although it is not reasonably possible to estimate the amount by which
unrecognized tax benefits may increase or decrease within the next twelve months due to uncertainties regarding the timing of any examinations, the
Company does not expect its unrecognized tax benefits to decrease during the next twelve months.

The Company files income tax returns in the United States federal jurisdiction and various state and foreign jurisdictions. As of December 31,2017,
the tax years that remained subject to examination by a major tax jurisdiction for the Company’s most significant subsidiaries were as follows:

Open
Jurisdiction Years
Australia 2013-2017
Canada 2013-2017
China 2016-2017
Denmark 2014-2017
Japan 2014-2017
Mexico 2013-2017
Norway 2010-2017
Republic of Korea 2011-2017
Singapore 2013-2017
South Africa 2014-2017
Sweden 2012-2017
Switzerland 2013-2017
Taiwan 2012-2017

United Kingdom 2014-2017
United States 2014-2017
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NOTE 8: TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES AND AFFILIATES

The Company made cash donations of $0.5 million and $0.6 million to the M5M Foundation for the year ended December 31, 2017 and
December 31, 2016, respectively. The M5M Foundation is a 501(c)(3) charitable organization that works to combat the epidemic of childhood malnutrition
on a global scale. Several of the Company’s directors and officers and their family members serve on the board ofthe M5M Foundation, including:

e Al Bala, the Company’s CEO and President;

*  Chris Simons, the Company’s Regional Vice President EMEA; and

* Landen Fredrick, the Company's Chief Global Sales Officer and President, North America and son of J. Stanley Fredrick, the Company’s
Chairman of the Board and a major shareholder.

We paid employment compensation of approximately $275,000 in 2017 and $293,500 in 2016 for salary, bonus, auto allowance, and other
compensation to Landen Fredrick. Landen Fredrick is the son of J. Stanley Fredrick, the Company’s Chairman of the Board and a major shareholder. In
addition, Landen Fredrick participated in the employee health care benefit plans available to all employees of the Company. Effective January 1, 2018,
Landen Fredrick was promoted from Senior Vice President of Global Operations to Chief Global Sales Officer and President, North America. Mr. Fredrick had
served as Senior Vice President, Global Operations since August of 2016. Prior to that, Mr. Fredrick served as Senior Vice President, Supply Chain and IT
since August of 2015, Vice President, Global Operations since May of 2013, Vice President, North American Sales and Operations since January of 2011,
Vice President, North American Sales since February of 2010 and as Senior Director of Tools and Training since his hire in May of 2006. Landen Fredrick
also serves on the Board of the M5M Foundation.

Mr. Ray Robbins is a major shareholder and served as a member of the Company's Board of Directors until December of 2016. Mr. Robbins holds
positions in the Company’s associate global downline network marketing system. In addition, several of Mr. Robbins’ family members are independent
associates. The Company pays commissions and incentives to its independent associates and during 2017 and 2016, the Company paid aggregate
commissions and incentives to Mr. Robbins and his family of approximately $2.4 million and $2.9 million, respectively. The aggregate amount of
commissions and incentives paid to Mr. Robbins was approximately $2.2 million and $2.7 million in 2017 and 2016, respectively. The aggregate amount of
commission and incentives paid to family members was approximately $0.2 million in both 2017 and 2016, of which $0.2 million was paid each of the
respective years to his son, Kevin Robbins, who is a member of the Company's Board of Directors and serves on the Science and Marketing Committee and is
consulting on the associate commission plan. In addition, less than $0.1 million in both 2017 and 2016, respectively, was paid to his daughter, Marla Finley,
and daughter-in-law, Demra Robbins, who both share an account. All commissions and incentives paid to Mr. Robbins and his family members are in
accordance with the Company’s global associate career and compensation plan. The Company paid $0.1 million to Kevin Robbins for consulting fees in
2017. The Company has also contracted with a software development firm owned by Ryan Robbins, the son of Mr. Ray Robbins. The value of services
performed during each 0f2017 and 2016 were less than $0.1 million.

In connection with a confidential settlement agreement discussed in Note 12 Litigation, an associate position valued at $0.8 million was transferred
to NutraScoop, LLC. Jim Hill is the managing member and Ray Robbins is a member of NutraScoop, LLC.

Johanna Bala, the wife of Al Bala, the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and President, is an independent associate who earns commissions and
incentives. The aggregate amount of commission and incentives paid to Johanna Bala was approximately $0.1 million in each 0of2017 and 2016. The
Company paid less than $0.1 million of commissions and incentives to other members of Al Bala's family. All commissions and incentives paid to Al Bala's
family members are in accordance with the Company’s global associate career and compensation plan.
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NOTE 9: EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS

Employee Retirement Plan

Effective May 9, 1997, the Company adopted a Defined Contribution 401(k) and Profit Sharing Plan (the “401(k) Plan”) for its United States and
Canada employees. The 401 (k) Plan covers all regular full-time and part-time employees who have completed three months of service and attained the age of
twenty-one. United States employees can contribute up to 100 percent of their annual compensation but are limited to the maximum annual dollar amount
allowable under the Internal Revenue Code. The 401(k) plan permits matching and discretionary employer contributions. The Company’s matching
contributions for its United States and Canada employees vest ratably over a five-year period. During each of the years ended December 31,2017 and 2016,
the Company contributed approximately $0.3 million and $0.4 million to the 401(k) Plan for matching contributions, respectively.

The Company also sponsors a non-U.S. defined benefit plan covering its employees in its Japan subsidiary (the “Benefit Plan”). Benefits under the
Benefit Plan are based on a point system for position grade and years of service. The Company utilizes actuarial methods. Inherent in the application of these
actuarial methods are key assumptions, including, but not limited to, discount rates and expected long-term rates of return on plan assets. Changes in the
related Benefit Plan costs may occur in the future due to changes in the underlying assumptions, changes in the number and composition of plan participants,
and changes in the level of benefits provided. The Company uses a measurement date of December 31 to evaluate and record any post-retirement benefits
related to the Benefit Plan.

Projected Benefit Obligation and Fair Value of Plan Assets

The Benefit Plan’s projected benefit obligation and valuation of plan assets were as follows for the years ended December 31 (in thousands):

Projected benefit obligation: 2017 2016
Balance, beginning of year $ 451  § 479
Service cost 76 83
Interest cost 2 2
Liability (gain) loss ) 6
Benefits paid to participants (170) (138)
Foreign currency 17 19
Balance, end of year $ 367 $ 451

Plan assets: 2017 2016
Fair value, beginning of year $ — —
Company contributions 170 138
Benefits paid to participants (170) (138)
Fair value, end of year $ — 8 —

Funded status of the Benefit Plan as of December 31 (in thousands): 2017 2016
Benefit obligation $ 367) $ “451)

Fair value of plan assets — —

Excess of benefit obligation over fair value of plan assets $ 367) $ (451)

Amounts recognized in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets consist of, as of

December 31 (in thousands): 2017 2016
Accrued benefit liability $ 367) $ “451)
Transition obligation and unrealized gain (289) 307)
Net amount recognized in the consolidated balance sheets $ 656) $ (758)
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Years Ended December 31,

Other changes recognized in comprehensive income (in thousands): 2017 2016
Net periodic cost $ 40 $ 46
Current year actuarial (gain) loss ) 6
Amortization of transition obligation @) 4)
Total recognized in other comprehensive income (loss) (13) 2
Total recognized in comprehensive income $ 27§ 48
As of December 31,
Amounts not yet reflected in net periodic benefit cost and included in accumulated other
comprehensive gain (in thousands): 2017 2016
Transition obligation $ 28§ 30
Prior service cost 252 283
Net actuarial gain (loss) 9 6)
Total recognized in accumulated other comprehensive gain $ 289 $ 307
2017 estimated amounts of amortized transition obligation (in thousands): 2017
Transition obligation $ 4)
As of December 31,
Aggregate Benefit Plan information and accumulated benefit obligation in excess of plan assets
(in thousands): 2017 2016
Projected benefit obligation $ 367 § 451
Accumulated benefit obligation 367 451

Fair value of plan assets — —
The weighted-average assumptions to determine the benefit obligation and net cost are as follows:
2017 2016

Discount rate 0.30% 0.30%

Rate of increase in compensation levels — —

Components of Expense

In accordance with ASU 2017-07, Compensation-Retirement Benefits (Topic 715 - Improving the Presentation of Net Periodic Pension Cost and Net
Periodic Postretirement Benefit Cost), Service Cost for the Benefit Plan is included within selling, general and administrative expenses and all other items
noted in the table below (Interest Cost, Amortization of Transition Obligation, and Prior Service Cost) are included within other income and expense. Pension
costs, which are included within Consolidated Statement of Operations are detailed below for the years ended December 31 (in thousands):

2017 2016
Service cost $ 76§ 83
Interest cost 2 2
Amortization of transition obligation 4 4
Prior service cost (42) (43)
Total pension expense $ 40 $ 46
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Estimated Benefits and Contributions

The Company expects to contribute approximately $24,000 to the Benefit Plan in 2018. As of December 31, 2017, benefits expected to be paid by
the Benefit Plan for the next ten years is approximately as follows (in thousands):

2018 $ 24
2019 26
2020 27
2021 25
2022 58
Next five years 324
Total expected benefits to be paid $ 484

NOTE 10: STOCK BASED COMPENSATION
Summary of Stock Plan

The Company currently has one active stock-based compensation plan, the 2017 Plan, which was adopted by the Company’s Board of Directors on
April 17,2017 and was approved by its shareholders on June 8,2017. The 2017 Plan supersedes the Mannatech, Incorporated 2008 Stock Incentive Plan, as
amended, which was set to expire on February 20,2018. The Board has reserved a maximum 0f250,000 shares of our common stock that may be issued under
the 2017 Plan, consisting of 181,674 newly reserved shares and 68,326 shares that remained available for issuance under the 2008 Plan (subject to
adjustments for stock splits, stock dividends or other changes in corporate capitalization). As of December 31, 2017, the Company had a total 0f240,000
shares available for grant under the 2017 Plan, which expires on April 16,2027.

The 2008 Plan provided, and the 2017 Plan provides, for grants of incentive stock options, nonqualified stock options, stock appreciation rights,
restricted stock, restricted stock units, performance stock and performance stock units to our employees, board members, and consultants. However, only
employees of the Company and its corporate subsidiaries are eligible to receive incentive stock options. The exercise price per share for all stock options will
be no less than the market value of a share of common stock on the date of grant. Any incentive stock option granted to an employee owning more than 10%
of our common stock will have an exercise price of no less than 110% of our common stock’s market value on the grant date.

The majority of stock options vest over two or three years, and generally are granted with a term of ten years, or five years in the case of an incentive
option granted to an employee who owns more than 10% of our common stock.

A summary of changes in stock options outstanding during the year ended December 31,2017, is as follows:

2017
Weighted
average
Weighted remaining Aggregate
Number of average contractual intrinsic
Options exercise life value (in
(in thousands) price (in years) thousands)
Outstanding at beginning of year 252 $ 16.65
Granted 10 14.18
Exercised (15) 548
Expired — —
Outstanding at end of year 247 $ 17.23 553§ (552)
Options exercisable at year end 232 $ 17.26 531 $ (524)
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During 2017, the Company issued 15,000 new shares upon the exercise of options, and granted 10,000 new options to members of the Board.
Options exercised during the year ending December 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016 had a total intrinsic value, calculated as the difference between the
exercise date stock price and the exercise price 0of $0.2 million and $0.1 million, respectively. Non-vested shares at December 31, 2017 and 2016 were
approximately 15,000 and 35,000, respectively. The Company did not grant any restricted stock awards during the year ended December 31, 2017. The
Company granted approximately 13,000 restricted stock awards during the year ended December 31,2016.

Valuation and Expense Information Under FASB ASC Topic 718 Compensation — Stock Compensation

Under the provisions of FASB ASC Topic 718, the Company is required to measure and recognize compensation expense related to any outstanding
and unvested stock options previously granted, and thereafter recognize, in its consolidated financial statements, compensation expense related to any new
stock options granted after implementation using a calculated fair-value based option-pricing model.

The Company uses the Black-Scholes option-pricing model to calculate the fair value of all of its stock options and its assumptions are based on
historical information. The following assumptions were used to calculate the compensation expense and the calculated fair value of stock options granted
each year:

2017 2016
Dividend yield: 35% 2.5 %
Risk-free interest rate: 1.7 % 1.1-1.7%
Expected market price volatility: 64.4 % 67.4-735%
Average expected life of stock options: 4.5 years 4.5 years

The computation of the expected volatility assumption used in the Black-Scholes calculations for new grants is based on historical volatilities of the
Company’s stock. The expected life assumptions are based on the Company’s historical employee exercise and forfeiture behavior.

The weighted-average grant-date fair value of stock options granted during the years ended December 31,2017 and 2016 was $5.87 and $11.90 per
share, respectively. The total fair value of awards vested during the years ended December 31,2017 and 2016 was $0.3 million and $0.5 million, respectively.

The Company recorded the following amounts related to the expense of the fair values of options and restricted share awards during the years ended
December 31,2017 and 2016 (in thousands):

2017 2016
Selling, general and administrative expenses and income from operations before income taxes $ 246 $ 690
Benefit for income taxes 45) (86)
Effect on net income $ 201 $ 604

As of December 31, 2017, the Company had approximately $0.2 million of total unrecognized compensation expense related to stock options and
restricted share awards currently outstanding, to be recognized in future years, ending December 31, as follows (in thousands):
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Total tax benefit Total net
associated unrecognized
Total gross unrecognized with unrecognized compensation
compensation expense compensation expense expense
2018 $ 122§ 20 S 102
2019 38 3 35
$ 160 $ 23§ 137
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NOTE 11: COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Operating Leases

The Company leases certain office space, automobiles, computer hardware, and warehouse equipment under various non-cancelable operating
leases. Some of these leases have renewal options. The Company also leases equipment under various month-to-month cancelable operating leases. For each
ofthe years ended December 31,2017 and 2016, total rent expense was approximately $3.7 million.

Approximate future minimum rental commitments for non-cancelable operating leases (in thousands) are as follows:

Years ending December 31,

2018 $ 2,639
2019 1,353
2020 602
2021 487
2022 491
Thereafter 2,801

$ 8,373

Purchase Commitments

The Company maintains supply agreements with its suppliers and manufacturers. Some of the supply agreements contain exclusivity clauses and/or
minimum annual purchase requirements. In November 2016, the Company entered into a four-year supply agreement to purchase an aloe vera powder in
whole leaf aloe form and an aloe vera gel extract from Natural Aloe de Costa Rica, S.A. As of December 31, 2017, the Company is required to purchase an
aggregate of $14.9 million through 2020.

Royalty and Consulting Agreements
The Company utilizes royalty agreements with individuals and entities to provide compensation for items relating to developed products, websites

and emails provided to our associates. The Company paid royalties of $0.1 million and $0.2 million for the years ended December 31,2017 and December
31,2016, respectively.

Employment Agreements

The Company has non-cancelable employment agreements with certain executives. If the employment relationships with these executives were
terminated, as of December 31,2017, the Company would continue to be indebted to the executives for $0.7 million, payable through 2018.
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NOTE 12: LITIGATION

Breach of Contract

Diana Anselmo and New Day Today Corporation v. Mannatech, Incorporated, Case No. DC-15-01904, Judicial District Court, Dallas County,
Texas

On February 18, 2015, Diana Anselmo and New Day Today Corporation (collectively, the “Plaintiffs”) filed suit against the Company alleging
breach of contract pertaining to a portion of proceeds from a Mannatech associate position once held by Ray Gebauer, alleged to be Ms. Anselmo’s former
husband. Plaintiffs sought damages under the contract of approximately $600,000 in past commissions and between $2.0 million and $3.1 million in future
commissions, as well as an award of attorney’s fees. As an alternative to future money damages, Plaintiffs sought a declaration that the Company must
continue to pay Plaintiffs proceeds from Mr. Gebauer’s former account. The parties entered into a confidential settlement agreement on April 13, 2017. At
March 31, 2017, the Company accrued $0.5 million in accrued liabilities related to this matter. The Court entered a signed Agreed Order of Dismissal with
Prejudice on July 14,2017. The only remaining deadline under the settlement agreement provides that at year-end, the appropriate IRS forms will be issued.
The Company considers this matter closed.

Natural Alternatives International Inc. v. Mannatech Inc. dba Mannatech Dietary Supplements, Case No. 3:17-c-v-01906-W-JLB, U.S. District
Court, for the Southern District of California

On September 19, 2017, the Company was informed by Natural Alternatives International Inc. (“NAI”) that it had filed a civil action against the
Company for allegedly breaching the excess inventory clause of a manufacturing agreement between the parties. NAI asserts that the Company owes
$292,194 as reimbursement for excess inventory held by NAI post expiration of the manufacturing agreement. The Company disagrees with that assertion.
The Company was not formally served. On October 25, 2017, the parties entered into a settlement agreement whereby the Company shall pay NAI two
payments of $100,000 for a total 0of $200,000 to resolve the issues asserted in the complaint. On October 27, 2017, NAI filed Plaintiff’s Notice of Settlement
of the Action with the Court stating that the parties reached an amicable settlement and that upon final payment of the funds to NAI, NAI shall file a
voluntary dismissal of the lawsuit. A Notice of Voluntary Dissmissal was filed by NAI on November 29, 2017. The final payment to NAI was made on
December 30,2017. The Company considers this matter closed.

Insured Litigation - Personal Injury

Ralph Pinkston v. Cornerstone Technologies, LLC d/b/a Cornerstone Show Foundation, Mannatech Inc., and Anatole Partners III, LLC, Case
No. DC-17-13494 (192nd Dist. Ct., Dallas, Co., Tex)

On October 13,2017, the Company’s registered agent received service of process of the above-captioned matter. Ralph Pinkston (the “Plaintiff”) is a
truck driver who is alleging that he suffered injuries to his foot while unloading audio-visual equipment owned by Defendant Cornerstone from his truck on
to the dock at Defendant Anatole’s hotel (the “Hotel””) on the moming of April 5,2016. The Company held its 2016 MannaFest event at the Hotel from April
6,2016 to April 10, 2016. Defendant Cornerstone provided production services to the Company for the event. The Plaintiff alleges that his injuries were due
to the negligence of the Company and the other defendants. The Plaintiff is seeking damages in excess of $200,000. The Company submitted this matter to
its insurance carrier and retained approved outside counsel. The parties are engaged in the discovery process.

It is not possible at this time to predict whether the Company will incur any liability, or to estimate the ranges of damages, if any, which may be
incurred in connection with this matter; however, the Company believes it has a valid defense and will vigorously defend this claim.

Administrative Proceedings

Mannatech Korea, Ltd. v. Busan Custom Office, Busan District Court, Korea

On or before April 12,2015, Mannatech Korea, Ltd. filed a suit against the Busan Custom Office (“BCO”) to challenge BCO’s method of calculation
regarding its assessment notice issued on July 11, 2013. The assessment notice included an audit of the Company’s imported goods covering fiscal years
2008 through 2012 and required the Company to pay $1.0 million for this assessment, all of which was paid in January 2014. Both parties submitted a
response to the Court’s inquiry on January 15, 2016. The final hearing for the case was held on May 26, 2016 where each party presented their respective
arguments. The Court set the decision hearing on October 27, 2016, and the Court decided the case in the Company’s favor. However, on November 18,
2016, BCO filed an appeal to the Busan High Court. The first hearing occurred on March 31,2017, and the second hearing occurred on
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April 21,2017. The final hearing was held on June 2,2017. The Court issued its decision on June 30,2017 in favor of the BCO. The Company appealed this
decision on August 24,2017. The Company anticipates a final decision on the appeal by the first quarter of 2019.This matter remains open.

Patent Litigation

Mannatech, Incorporated v. Wellness Quest, LLC and Harley Reginald McDaniel, Case No. 3:14-cv-2497, U.S. District Court, for the Northern
District of Texas, Dallas Division

On July 11, 2014 the Company filed a patent infringement lawsuit against Wellness Quest, LLC and Dr. H. Reginald McDaniel (“Defendants”)
alleging the Defendants infringe United States Patent Nos. 7,157,431 and 7,202,220, both entitled “Compositions of Plant Carbohydrates as Dietary
Supplements,” (the “Patents”) and seeking to stop their manufacture, offer, and sale of infringing glyconutritional dietary supplement products. Mediation on
this matter was held on April 24,2015 and a settlement was not reached.

On November 5, 2015, the Court issued an Order accepting Defendant’s stipulation of infringement under the Court’s claim interpretation and
granted the Company’s partial motion for summary judgment and issued a permanent injunction against Defendants’ infringement of the Patents. The Court
stayed the permanent injunction until the conclusion of Defendants’ appeal to the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit (the “Court of Appeals”). On
August 5, 2016, the Court of Appeals issued a per curium opinion affirming the trial court’s judgment in favor of the Company. On August 10, 2016, the
Company filed a motion to lift the stay of permanent injunction previously issued by the trial court. On August 24, 2016, the Company received
confirmation from its counsel that Defendants changed the formulation of the infringing product to a formulation proposed by the Company. On October 18,
2016, the Court entered an order lifting the stay and putting the permanent injunction back into full effect. On March 31,2017, the Court entered the Agreed
Scheduling Order for trial on damages and determination of willfulness.

On June 22, 2017, bankruptcy counsel for Defendant Dr. McDaniel filed a Suggestion of Bankruptcy with the Court notifying the Court and the
Company that on June 20, 2017, Defendant Dr. McDaniel filed a Chapter 7 Bankruptcy in the United States Bankruptcy Court for the Northern District of
Texas in Cause No. 17-42560. This case is automatically stayed, which under the Bankruptcy Code, prevents any type of collection to continue including
litigation against the debtor. Defendant Dr. McDaniel asserts that the stay includes Defendant Wellness Quest as it is wholly owned by Defendant Dr.
McDaniel. Although stayed, the case has not been dismissed. This matter remains open.

In Re: Harley Reginald McDaniel, Case No. 17-42560 (U.S. Bankruptcy Court for the Northern District of Texas)

On June 22,2017, the Company received notice that on June 20,2017, Dr. H. Reginald McDaniel (the “Debtor”) filed Chapter 7 Bankruptcy in the
United States Bankruptcy Court for the Norther District of Texas. The Debtor’s initial flings indicate that the Company is the largest creditor based on the
Company’s judgment against the Debtor in the patent litigation styled, Mannatech, Incorporated v. Wellness Quest, LLC and Harley Reginald McDaniel.
The Debtor asserts that the value of the debt is $700,000. The Company has engaged bankruptcy counsel. The first meeting of creditors was held on August
8,2017. On August 24, 2017, the Chapter 7 Trustee and the Company each filed objections to certain exemptions asserted by the Debtor. On August 25,
2017, the U.S. Trustee filed a motion seeking dismissal of the case. On September 14, 2017, the Company filed its response opposing the U.S. Trustee’s
motion on the grounds that dismissal would be contrary to the best interests of the creditors. A hearing on the motion to dismiss was held on September 20,
2017. On October 12, 2017, the U.S. Trustee stipulated to dismiss its dismissal motion. On November 7, 2017, the Company filed a proof of claim in the
amount of $700,000. On November 27, 2017, the Company commenced an adversary proceeding in the case styled Mannatech, Inc. v. Harley Reginald
McDaniel, Sr., Adversary Number 17-04153 against the Debtor seeking a declaration that the indebtedness to Mannatech is non-dischargeable. On December
27,2017, the Chapter 7 Trustee, the Debtor, and the Company negotiated a Settlement and Compromise Agreement and on January 2, 2018, the Chapter 7
Trustee filed a motion seeking the Court’s approval of that agreement. On January 31, 2018, the Court entered an Order granting the Trustee’s motion. On
March 9, 2018, the Company dismissed the adversarial case against the Debtor. The Company is currently assessing how to proceed with the patent
infringement case against Wellness Quest. On March 15,2018 the Company received notice that the Chapter 7 Trustee submitted the Final Report to the U.S.
Trustee’s office for approval. Once approved by the U.S. Trustee may file the Final Report with the Court. This matter remains open.
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Trademark Opposition - U.S. Patent and Trademark Office

United States Trademark Opposition No. 91221493, Shaklee Corporation v. Mannatech, Incorporated re: UTH

On April 15,2015, the Company received notice that Shaklee Corporation (“Shaklee”) filed a Notice of Opposition to the Company’s trademark
application for UTH (stylized as U th) with the USPTO. On May 19, 2015, the Company filed an answer to the opposition and also filed a counterclaim
seeking to cancel Shaklee’s registration of its YOUTH mark.

On March 28,2017, the Trademark Trial and Appeal Board ("TTAB") ruled on the Company's 56(d) Motion, granting the Company’s motion in part
to oblige Shaklee to answer the Company’s request for discovery related to Shaklee’s use or non-use of the YOUTH mark. The Company took the deposition
of Shaklee’s designated witness on May 31, 2017. On June 29, 2017, the Company filed Applicant’s Opposition to Opposer’s Motion for Summary
Judgment on Applicant’s Counterclaim for Abandonment and Applicant’s Cross Motion for Summary Judgment on its Counterclaim for Abandonment.
Shaklee’s reply in support of their Motion for Summary Judgement and Response to the Company’s Counterclaim was filed on August 3,2017. Each party’s
respective motions for summary judgment were denied by the TTAB. The TTAB set February 20, 2018 as the due date for Expert disclosures and set March
22,2018 as the closing date for discovery.

It is not possible at this time to predict the outcome of this office action or whether the Company will incur any liability, or to estimate the ranges of
damages, if any, which may be incurred in connection with this matter. However, the Company believes it has a valid defense and will vigorously defend this
claim. This matter remains open.

Litigation in General

The Company has incurred several claims in the normal course of business. The Company believes such claims can be resolved without any material
adverse effect on its consolidated financial position, results of operations, or cash flows.

The Company maintains certain liability insurance; however, certain costs of defending lawsuits are not covered by or only partially covered by its
insurance policies, including claims that are below insurance deductibles. Additionally, insurance carriers could refuse to cover certain claims, in whole or in
part. The Company accrues costs to defend itself from litigation as they are incurred.

The outcome of litigation is uncertain, and despite management’s views of the merits of any litigation, or the reasonableness of the Company’s
estimates and reserves, the Company’s financial statements could nonetheless be materially affected by an adverse judgment. The Company believes it has
adequately reserved for the contingencies arising from current legal matters where an outcome was deemed to be probable, and the loss amount could be
reasonably estimated.
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NOTE 13: SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Preferred Stock

On May 19, 1998, the Company amended its Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation to reduce the number of authorized shares of common
stock from 100.0 million to 99.0 million and the Company authorized 1.0 million shares of preferred stock with a par value of $0.01 per share. No shares of
preferred stock have ever been issued or outstanding.

Treasury Stock

On June 30, 2004, the Company’s Board of Directors authorized the Company to repurchase, in the open market, the lesser of (i) 131,756 shares of
its common stock and (ii) $1.3 million of its shares, (the “June 2004 Plan”). On August 28, 2006, a second program permitting the Company to purchase, in
the open market, up to $20 million of its outstanding shares was approved by our Board of Directors (the “August 2006 Plan”). On July 14, 2011, the
Company’s Board of Directors authorized the Company to reactivate the June 2004 Plan. On August 31,2016, the Company's Board of Directors reactivated
the August 2006 Plan and authorized the Company to repurchase up to $0.5 million of the Company's outstanding common shares in open market
transactions. As of August 8, 2017, the maximum number of shares available for repurchase under the June 2004 Plan was 19,084, and the total number of
shares purchased in the open market under the June 2004 Plan was 112,672. As of December 31, 2017, there was $19.5 million remaining for repurchase
under the August 2006 Plan, and the total value of shares repurchased in the open market under the August 2006 Plan was $0.5 million. The Company does
not have any stock repurchase plans or programs other than the June 2004 Plan and the August 2006 Plan.

During the year ended December 31,2017, the Company repurchased 15,418 shares at an average price of $14.69. During the year ended December
31,2016, the Company repurchased 15,697 shares at an average price of $17.28.
Equity-Based Compensation

During 2017, 15,000 shares were issued for stock option exercises and a total of 12,068 shares were issued to the members of the Board as
compensation for their work on the Board.

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income
Accumulated other comprehensive income displayed in the Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity represents the results of certain
shareholders’ equity changes not reflected in the consolidated statements of operations, such as foreign currency translation and certain pension and

postretirement benefit obligations.

The after-tax components of accumulated other comprehensive income, are as follows (in thousands):

Pension Accumulated
Foreign Postretirement Other
Currency Benefit Comprehensive
Translation Obligation Income, Net
Balance as of December 31,2016 $ 1,534 $ 300 $ 1,834
Current-period change before reclassifications 4,169 — 4,169
Amounts reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive income — 29) 29)
Income tax benefit — 10 10
Balance as of December 31,2017 $ 5,703 § 281 $ 5,984
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Dividends

On February 23,2017, the Board of Directors declared a dividend of $0.125 per share that was paid on March 29, 2017 to shareholders of record on
March 8,2017.

On June 2, 2017, the Board of Directors declared a dividend of $0.125 per share that was paid on June 28, 2017 to shareholders of record on June 21,
2017.

On August 14, 2017, the Board of Directors declared a dividend of $0.125 per share that was paid on September 20, 2017 to shareholders of record
on September 13,2017.

On November 17,2017, the Board of Directors declared a dividend of $0.125 per share that was paid on December 28,2017 to shareholders of record
on December 7,2017.

During the year ended December 31, 2017, the Company declared and paid dividends amounting to an aggregate of $1.4 million. During the year
ended December 31, 2016, the Company declared and paid dividends amounting to an aggregate of $0.7 million. Payment of future dividends is at the
discretion of our Board of Directors.

NOTE 14: EARNINGS PER SHARE

The Company calculates basic Earnings per Share ("EPS") by dividing net income (loss) by the weighted-average number of common shares

outstanding for the period. Diluted EPS also reflects the potential dilution that could occur if common stock were issued for awards outstanding under the

Mannatech, Incorporated 2017 Stock Incentive Plan.

For each of the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, shares of the Company's stock subject to options were excluded from the diluted EPS
calculation as their effect would have been antidilutive. The Company reported a net loss for each of the years ended December 31,2017 and 2016.
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NOTE 15: SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Company's sole reporting segment is one where we sell proprietary nutritional supplements, skin care and anti-aging products, and weight-
management and fitness products through network marketing distribution channels operating in twenty-five countries. Each of the business units sells similar
packs (with the exception of the United States, Canada, South Africa, Japan, Australia, New Zealand, Singapore, Hong Kong, and Taiwan where packs have
been replaced with associate fees, see Note | Organization and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies) and products and possesses similar economic
characteristics, such as selling prices and gross margins. In each country, the Company markets its products and pays commissions and incentives in similar
market environments. The Company’s management reviews its financial information by country and focuses its internal reporting and analysis of revenues by
packs and product sales. The Company sells its products through its independent associates who occupy positions in our network and distribute products
through similar distribution channels in each country. No single independent associate has ever accounted for more than 10% of the Company’s consolidated
net sales. The Company also operates a non-direct selling business in mainland China. Our subsidiary in China, Meitai is operating as a traditional retailer
under a cross-border e-commerce model. Meitai cannot legally conduct a direct selling business in China until it acquires a direct selling license in China.

The Company operates facilities in fourteen countries and sells product in twenty-six countries around the world. These facilities are located in the
United States, Canada, Switzerland, Australia, the United Kingdom, Japan, the Republic of Korea (South Korea), Taiwan, South Africa, Mexico, Hong Kong,
Singapore, Colombia and China. Each facility services different geographic areas. We currently sell our products in three regions: (i) the Americas (the United
States, Canada, Colombia and Mexico); (ii) EMEA (Austria, the Czech Republic, Denmark, Estonia, Finland, Germany, the Republic of Ireland, Namibia, the
Netherlands, Norway, South Africa, Spain, Sweden and the United Kingdom); (iii) Asia/Pacific (Australia, Japan, New Zealand, the Republic of Korea,
Singapore, Taiwan, Hong Kong and China).
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Consolidated net sales shipped to customers in these regions, along with pack and product information for the years ended December 31, are as

follows (in millions, except percentages):

Region
Americas
Asia/Pacific
EMEA

Total

Consolidated product sales

Consolidated pack sales and associate fees®
Consolidated other, including freight

Total

2017 2016

64.2 363% $ 70.2 38.9%
98.8 55.9% 96.2 53.4%
13.7 7.8% 13.9 7.7%
176.7 100.0% $ 180.3 100.0%

2017 2016
$ 1579 $ 148.6
14.2 26.7
4.6 5.0
$ 176.7 $ 180.3

2)Coincident with the introduction of the 2017 Associate Compensation Plan, which was implemented on July 1, 2017, the Company collects associate fees, which each
associate pays to the Company annually in order to be entitled to earn commissions, benefits and incentives for that year. The Company collected associate fees within the
United States, Canada, South Africa, Japan, Australia, New Zealand, Singapore, Hong Kong, and Taiwan during the year ended December 31, 2017. Prior to the change,
associates purchased packs that were bundles of products within these respective geographic markets. Since implementing the 2017 Associate Compensation Plan, total

associate fees represented an immaterial amount of total sales.

Long-lived assets by region, which include property and equipment and construction in progress for the Company and its subsidiaries, as of

December 31, reside in the following regions, as follows (in millions):

Region
Americas
Asia/Pacific
EMEA

Total

2017 2016
$ 29§ 3.1
1.3 1.4
0.1 0.1
$ 43 8 4.6

Inventory balances by region, which consist of raw materials and finished goods, including promotional materials, and offset by obsolete
inventories, for the Company and its subsidiaries, reside in the following regions as of December 31, as follows (in millions):

Region
Americas
Asia/Pacific
EMEA

Total
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2017 2016
3.5 4.8
4.5 42
1.4 3.0
$ 94 § 12.0
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income MY paposcs of ten (10} years, Oﬂﬁmﬁmmdumnnﬁmmmwmiﬁmm
mmw&fwuﬁﬂwﬂnuﬂuﬁMWmﬂdwhmhmmwwwm
Lmd:hm}muuunumuamﬂﬁlmlmﬂm.mnlmwumwm
mmhmﬁmhuﬁhﬁmemHmmmwhmdmem
for tenanis.

lf‘.r'uunnmpymnropunuﬂmnmlmwywnlmmhmsm
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Landlard shall retwin such excess end credit it against Tenants next payments except that during the bast calendar
year of the Lease Term Landloed shall refund zy such excess within sixty (60) days Tollowing the ermination of
the Lease Term provided that Tenant is not in defult of its obligations under this Lease. For purpases of calculating
T-wu'shnpwﬁonn:ShnnrO:ummExwm,tywﬂlmamanmuﬁmyw,nm
shalt begin on tbe Commencement Datz, und the last year, which shall end on the expirtion of this Lesse. With
fespeet o Opersting Expenses which Lardlond allocates 1o the entire Projecs, Tenanf's “Proportionste Share” shal]
hﬂltwunumMmtharwumumemuﬂ:ijmu
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rumuhh'ldjuwdwmhmm:fIWhuﬁrammﬂmanuhwﬁﬁ
with respec: 1o Opersting Expenses which Lesdlord sllocaies only to the Building, Tenant's i Shame"
sl1|l1b:ﬂ:p-wmrnthmhﬁmmnrmmuuw:hmﬂmmormmmh
mmhhrldmwlﬂmm&ﬁm&rwmhﬂq:udndﬂ:huﬂsuorum“
Landlord may equs i Tenanrs Pr Share for any ifem of expense or cost reimbursable by
Tmmn:llum:upﬂ,uﬂﬁhﬂwwﬁuﬁbﬁhmﬂhhﬁmwﬂy.mﬂmmm
of Bulding that includes the Premises. In the event thar curing all or any portion of amy ealsndsr year, the Building
ummumwmwmmmmhmwmmwmmmw
Eqnu-ﬁrmhgwhhmdnvﬂhg&mﬁmﬁmmﬁmwﬁmmnh
atiribuited o Tennnt by ressoa of vari in ol pancy of the Buildmg, by employing consistent and sound
mmmmwﬂunmmummwmmmaww
Lundlond had the Building been af least nincty-five percent (35%) remed and ocoupied, and the smount so
&mmumahummwmm“mm. The estimased Operating
Expenses for the Premises set forth on the first page of this Lease are only estimates, and Landlord makes no
pwiranty or warranty that such estimases will be accurate,

Wmﬁm:ﬁwmm.MWmnmmwmwmm
I.MMJﬂmpﬁuwmmum,Tmmyhww;dlbﬂﬂ';um*dﬁqmw
Expenses for the period of time eovered by such Annual Statement in accordance with the following provisions, 1f
Tenant fails 1o object to the calculation of Oy g Fxp an & Annigsl Statement within 30 daya afier the
statement has been delivered to Tenant, or if Teaart fails to conclude its madit or ingpection within 90 days afles the
Ralement kes been delivercd to Tenant, then Tenant shall have waived ity right 1o object 1o the calculation of
Operating Expenses for the year m question and the calboulition of Opcrating Fa set forth on such staiement
ahall be final. Tenant's audit or inspection shall be conducted whese Landlord muintaing its books and recards, shall
not uarcasonably interfere with the conduct of Landlond's business, and shali be conducied andy during business
hours reascashly designsted by Landlord Tenand shall pay the cost of such sudit or inspection, unless the total
Operating Expenses for the period 12 question is determined to be in error by more than 5% in the aggregate, in
which case Landlord shall pay the musdit cost (et 10 excesd 53,000 00). Tenant may not conduct an inspection or
have w0 sudit performed more than once during any calendar year. Tenant or the Bccounting firm conducting such
2usdit shall, ot no charge to Landlord, submit its sudit report in draft form to Landlard for Lendlond's review and
comment befose the final upproved wadit report is subrnitted to Landlord, and any reasonable comeents by Landlord
shall be incorpormted into the final audit report. 17 such inspection or sudit neveals that an emror was made in the
Opmﬂuimmnwmd”hrpdwmmmmwdunmn-uhTmnymwm
MMUTMMWM[,ndlﬂmmhmmo!-rmhmnumuumhmmm
after notffication thereof  Tenant shall maintain the results of each such sudit or inspection confidential and shall
not be permitted W use any thind party 1o perform such sudht or inspection, other than an independent firm of
centified public accountants (1) rexsonably scceptable to Landlord, (2) which is nat i o0 A conth -
ﬂtmiiwhwmrMMismMMMdsuﬁuﬂiluW{uﬂﬁmﬁdl
deliver the fee agreoment or ofher similar evidence of such fee amangement to Landlond upon request), and
(¥ which agrees with Lardlerd m writing 4o maintain the results of such aodit or inspection confidential
Notwithstanding the foregoing, Tenant shall have no right to conduet an mudit if Landlord furnishes o Tenant an
2udit report for the pevind of time in question prepered by an indopendent certified public nccounting firm of
mecognized national standing (whether origmally prepared fir Landlord or another pamy). Nothing in this Section &
skall be censtrued to limil, suspend or abate Tenant's obligation o pay rent when due

% Utilities. Tenant shall pay for ail water, gas, electricity, heat, light, power, telephone, sewer,
sprinkles services, refuse and trush collection, and other utilities and services used on the Premises, al] mainienance
cherges for utilities, and any stgrm sewer charges or other similar charges for utilitics imposed by mny govermmental
entity or wlility provider, togeiher with any tixes, penabiies, surchasges or the Jike pertaining 1 Tenant's use of the
Premi

ses. Landlord shall cawse gas and electricity service to the Premises io be separatel d prier to the
Commencement Date. Landiord may cause at Tenants expense any wtilitics, other than gas and electricity, o be
separately metored or charged directly to Tenant for Tenant's pr share of the sep metering by the

plwidwinmnmtlaﬂwdm&]rdﬂumh.uﬂmhuﬂmﬂmmjﬁrﬁrmmlymwrr
exceeds the wse of such jountly metened wtility by other tenants i the Bulding. Tenant shall pey its share of all
charges for joimly mesered utilities besed upon comsumption, &3 reasonsbly determined by Landlord  No
inlermupticn of failure of utilifics shall result in the wemination of this Lease or the abatement of renl. Tenant agrees
16 limal wse of water and sewtr for nomal restroom use. Notwithsiending the provisions ef Paragreph 7 bat subject
to Pargrepig 15 mnd 16, if ay fuilure of istemuption of Landlord's services mequired 1o be provided under this
Lease, due salely to Landloed's gross negligence o intentional misconduct (& "Service Interruption”), renders the
Premiges (or @ part of (e Premises) wvienantable or inaccessible, and the Premises (or the untenantable or
inaccessible portion thereof) are not wsed by Tenast for more than ten (10) consecutive business days (the
“Eligibility Period™), then Base Rent abates proponionstely commencing on the next day afier the last day of the
Eligibility Peviod and coatinuing for the period thst the Premises or the applicable portion thereof are rendered
unieraniable or inscceasible and are mot used by Tenant In onder 1o be eligible for an sbaremant under this
Puwwh?.Tmmwﬂﬁnﬁﬂ{S)d@smtrmuﬂﬂyuftb:El[gihiHl}?uxd,prwidthmdﬂﬁm
Aotice (the "Service Intemuption Notice™) of (1) the date of occurrense of any filure of intermption of such scrvices
MmuI'wrnm:I]u.ntm{tmwmﬁwhzimudm-ﬂ[ljmduTmmmﬂwﬁmmww
pan thereof (the Service Intcrmsption Netice must specify the part of the Premises that Tenant is vacating if Tesant is
nat vaceting all the Premises) due 1o & Service Intermuption. Landlord will use commercinlly reasonable effarts 1o
remedy &ny Servies Intermiption

8 Tanes. Landiord shall pay all taxes, assexsments and governmental charges (collectively refemed to e
“Taxes") that accrue agains: the Project during the Lease Term, which shail be included as pan of the Operating
Expenses charged 1o Tenant Landlord may cantest by approprisic legal proceedings the amount, validity, or
application of amy Taxes or liens thereof. All capilal levies or other taxes msscssed or impoted on Landlord upon the
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reats payehle o Landlord under this Lease and any franchise tx, any exeise, use, masgin (including, but et limited
0, mary tax puruant to Chapter 171 of the Texas Tax Code, 85 the same may be amended, renewed or replaced from
ﬁmwﬁm},m—lﬁsupﬁvﬂmmmIzwornhnpmnunfhdhywmd.inum:uin
m,mmmmmmmmm«qmmwmuuahrmuw
monthly in estimated installments as edditional rent; provided, however, in mo ever shall Tenen be liable for ey
net income taxes imposed on Landiond enless such net income taxes are in substitution for any Taxes payable
hereunder. Irwmmwmisrhhhdummuywnmummmm Teneni-Made
Ammium[d:rmndhdw},ﬂmTm:hilhrrupm‘hl:furudﬂﬂlmmemumhimminamh
manner a8 the todng authority shall require Tenant shall be lisble for all txes levied or nssessed against mny
personal property or fixtwes placed in the Premises, whether levied o sssessed againg Landlord or Tesss,
TENANT HFREBY WAIVES ALL RIGHTS TO PROTEST THE APPRAISED YALLUE OF THE PROJECT OR
TO&PPEA.LTHEBAMEAHDALLRIGMSTGREJEVEMTICESEFREAPPMSALSASSI:‘TFOR‘I‘][
IN SECTIONS 41.413 AND 42005 OF THE TEXAS TAX CODE.

8. Insarance. Landlord shall maintsin all ek or special form propesty insurance covesing the full
feplucement cost of the Building and commercial general lisbiity insurance on the Project in forms and amourts
cusiomary for propesties substantially similar 1o the Project, subject to cusiomary deductibles. Landiord may, but is
nuuhljwiumhﬁnmmwwmﬂhﬂwuwmmm.iwhﬁngwm
bonated fo, remt loss inmrance. All wuch insurance shall be included as pan of the Operating Expenses charged to
Teaant The Project or Building may be incladed in & blanket palicy (in which case the cost of such insurance
ﬂmﬂ:b&ﬁqmwﬁmﬁ!kaWWbﬂw&WMmﬁﬁmﬂ
TMMﬂwMIumhmmemmwmw
reasonably deems necessary a8 a result of Tenant's e of the Premises.

Tenant, a1 ity expense, shall mankain during the Lease Term the following insurance, st Tenants
sols eost and expensc: (a} comeencinl general lishility insurance spplicable to the Premises end its sppurtenances
providing, on &n basis, & mind combined single limiz of $2,000,000; end in the event property of
Tmmmviuuwmmbuplinuﬂmlm.mI‘aunulwllmirl.linmhmﬂlqﬂElbihy
whﬂucwmhmwmd&mufmmhuumuwwu
m:mtlIm‘lhm"l‘mmullihmn-;[b}ilrhtﬂ!petﬂhmmmmwin:hﬂl
mﬂmwﬂlﬂmWimmmwdwplmdinmehmdmwmu;mm
Mmuimmump‘ndhymem:inmhhﬁmumdhmumyhnqm
Uwiﬂblcdnmmdd‘ulindudallﬁmofnhwmhf-mnflmlhﬂ;(djemplmﬁlﬁlhy
insurence of &t least $1,000,000, () busi hile Lesbility 1 having 8 combined single limis of nat
hmmum.mnwmmmmﬁnaTmuiuimmnﬁngmnfunm—mp,mmu
mdmmmdawmmmbe;rmimnmmimujthllmﬂlnbﬂm

pdi:yimmlwmmmaﬂm«ﬁhmwlhmamanmwtml
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and other designees of Londlord as the interest of such designees shall appenr, as additionsl insureds
{Gencral Linbility and warehouser's legal Hability or beiles eustomers) and loss payee {Propesty-Specia! Form),
exiepl with regard o the personal property of Tenant The birmits ard Types of insurance maintained by Tenant shall
rod limit Tenant's Nabaity under this Lease. Terant shall provide Landlord with certificates of such insurancs a5
r:mimiuﬂulhilu&mrwﬂuuﬂhfbmﬂmmﬂmmﬂhhhwbpm
mmwmm,wmmmmuhﬂtsm;mmhmamﬁ
insarance coverige  Acocptance by Landlord of delivery of amy certificates of insurance does mot conmitute
approval or agreemiert by Landlond that the isamnce requirements of this section have been me, and failers of
Lliihl'\'.lwidﬂﬂﬁlldﬂﬁcitnqﬁum:ﬁdmmadﬁdﬁﬂmbemmdu;wuimdﬂnmﬂouw:n
mimtain such msurance. In the event any of the insurance policies required to be carried by Tensnt under this Lesse
shall be cancelied prior w the expinm dare of such policy, or if Tenant receives notice of ey cancellation of such
mwmmwmwmwmmmmdmﬁm,Tmm:mjwmﬁm
actice 10 Landlocd that such insurnsce has betn, or is o be, cancelled, (ii) shall promety replace such insurunce
pnhqhrwd:rmmnnoinpunrmmm,'d{iii}mddimulnﬂhM|unmuuulim
for such policy.

The all -risk or special form propeny insurance obtained by Landiord and Tenant shall include
wimdmhmmwm:hammilﬁwhudummmmMiummmlmmu
Tu-u,mm.dmummmm.mﬁmuﬂm,mmﬂmwm
or dernage thereby insured againgt. Neither party ner its olficers, dinectors, employees, managers, sgents. invitees or
concactors shall be liabic o the other for loss or damage caused by any risk coverable by all risk or special form
meMMmmmydmwmmmm,mmnmmMm
managers, agents, invitees and conmmctons for such loss or damage, inchuding loss or damage cased ko whole ar
In part, directly or bndireetly, by the negliprnee of the ather party, The failure of & party to insure its property
shall ot void this waiver. Tenant and ks agents, employees ardl contractors shall rot be liable for, end Landiord
mwmmcmmmmhmmlﬁmﬂmmhmymnnfwﬁ business, or amy
mElnl'rnilllmﬂlﬂmmﬂﬁmmﬂiﬂmwmiﬂamwmyuﬁhm
!'mr-wma}mm,h:hlhlmﬁmhhmmumtm&nupmdm;r
Mmmwm-ﬂhmamnuumnmm-rm.mmmm
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limitation, damage cawsed in whale or in part, directly or indi thy, by the J of L or its
sgents, employees or contractors




0 Lamdiord's Repakrs. Lendlord shall repair, st its expense and without pass through as an
Op.u-n'uEapm:,mmwm::wu:mmﬂmmmmumfm.bmm.h
repairs to the roof membrane are subject 1o the terms of Section 6], the structural soundhess of the foundstion, and
the struciural soundness of the extenior walls of the Building in good repair, ressonable wear and tear and uninsured
lodses and damiges caused by Tenank, ils ageots and contracton excladed  The term “walls® as wsad in this
Paragraph |nmnmindnmﬂ;mummmMmm;mﬂmmm
bumpers, dock plates or levelers, or office caries. In addition, Landlord will repair any derage to sy exterior
wmmhmwmmmdmpﬁmhbhmﬂpnwmmamﬁ
Landlord, iz agents, contraetors, o cmployess. Tenant shall promptly give Landlord writen notice of sy repair
mqmeb;ummm“mwm,wwmwwmmu.mmmm;m
FEpair.

1. Temant's Repalrs. Landlord, a1 Tenans experrse s provided in Parsgraph 6, shall maintain in
mdlmi.ﬂmﬂﬁmﬂmpntmm.ﬂdummdﬁ:ﬂﬁﬁ:mnﬂhﬁnjn.in:hr.qu,,bm
rot limited 1o drivewys, alleys, hmdscape, all wiility lines servicing the Building up o their point of connection
with the Building (inclading power, gas, water, sewage), parking facilities and Jots (including striping], pedestrian
ways, sidewslks, exterior lighting imigation systsm(s), pest, insccts, rodens Eliniaation (including termite
treasmeni}, eod grourds sumounding the Premises. Subject to Landlards obligation in Parsgraph 10 and subjeet o
Paragrapha § and 15, Tenant, ut its expenge, shall repair, replace and maintsin in good condition all portions of the
Premises and all arcas, improvemnents and systems exelusively serving the Premises including. without Nmitstion,
MﬂMmmm.Mmﬂmlmemﬂwmm
sprinklers and fire profection systems, entries, doovs, ceilings, windowa, interior walls, and the intsrios side of
demising walls, and hesting, ventilation and sir conditioring sy stems Such repair and replacements inelude capital
expenditres end repadrs whose benefit may extend beyond the Tem Hesting, venblation snd air conditioning
systems and other mochanical and building sysicms exclusively serving the Premises shall be maintained a1 Tenant's
EpENSE pursuant to maintenance serviee contracts entered o by Tenant oc, ot Landlord's election, by Landlond,
-mlwtmjﬁﬂphwmmﬁumrminhmchmhmimmmmmw
Landlord shall be included s an Operating Expense. The scope of services md contractors under such maintenance
contracts shall be reasoeably spproved by Landlord. If Tenant fails to perform any repair or replacement for which
it is respoesible within amy applicable potice and cure period, Landlond may perform such work and be reimbussed
by Tenani within ten (10) business days after demand therefor. Tenant shall not be responsible for making any
repairs 1o the struxctura partions of the Building; provided, however, that Termnt shall bear the Full cost of wy repais
uﬂpmhmmdmsﬁlﬁmﬂmwumwmwmhTr.un:.ium.
contractars, of invitess, subject 1o Paragraphs § and 15, Tenunt shall sdditionally bear the full cost of wny non-
siructizral repadr that benefits ondy the Premises,

12 Tenmot-Made Alicrations and Trade Fixtures. Any elieras dditions, or impro
md:b}'uunbﬁll!’n.‘."]'mlwhhmi;n('TmMMnum']M!h:M}wtwhﬁhmm
writen eonsent, which consent shall nat be hly withheld, conditionad, or delayed if such Tenant-Made
Mm:ﬁmdnm:mn::mxildiu'!mt.l}ehldiu'sqnm,nnh:mﬁnmd'hwlﬁmmdw
with all Legel Requirements, Tenant shall eause, at its expense, sll Tenant-Made Altcrations w0 comply with
immmquhmhmdnﬂumm&muuduulmwammmyMw
madification required by Legal Requirements as # result of amy Tenan)-Made Alterstions Al Tenant-Made
Almmuww.mmwhmh by P 5]
Landlord and only materials that aofmeaally exist in commpeshle buildings shall be used  All plans and specifications
for my Tenant-Made Alterations shall be subrmitted to Landlord for its approved, which approval shall not be
unreasorsbly withheld, conditioned, or delayed if such Tenant-Msde Alterstions do not affect the Building's
structure, the Building's systcms, or the exterior of the Building and comply with all Legal Requirements Landbard
mary monitor construction of the Tenant-Made Alterations. Tenant shall seimburse Lardlord fos its reascnabile costs
in reviewing plans and specificetions and in monitoring construction. Landloed's night %o meview plans and
-mﬁhimmwmwmmmﬂhn!wrarmomhmﬁundLndhrdMlhundm-Wsm
ﬂm;.-u:hpilnundlm’ﬁuﬁnummbmmlimhnmhninnﬂmlhﬁm Tenni
Mw&hﬂndﬁ&hhﬁﬂhlﬁ%ddlmpﬂﬁmmﬂwq
meienials, prior o beginning such sonstruction, and Landiosd may post on and about the Premises notices of non-
responsmbility pursuant i spplicable law. Tenant shall furmish security or make other mTengements satisfactory 1o
Lareliord to asiure payment for the completion of il work free and clear of lisns and shall provide certificates of
ﬁmuﬁmwmmmm<mhmmmhmnmmmmmmm
Wmhﬁmwlimwfumuﬂﬁmwmmauﬁqmm Lipon
mlmnfwrm—MMTmmﬂmﬁmhuﬂmdmmmmmu:
names of all contractors and subcontracions wha did work on the Tenam-Made Alterations and final lien waivers
from all such contractons and subcontracions. Upnnmmdnufuuhmﬂnmmmmdw
WWWthTmMmmﬂummuhmmm,
except 1o the extent Lendlord requires removal st Tenanf's expense of any such items of Landlord and Tenant have
etherwiss ggreed in writing in connootion with Landiond's consent to any Tenani-Made Alterations; provided that, if
Tenant first properly requesied and Landlord gave its consent to much Temani-Made Aliergtions or leaschold
imm.lmmmmmmmmmeuhﬁmdgﬁ‘m
comsent. Tenant's Personal Property shall not be Landlond's propary As used in this Lease, “Persanal Property”™
shall mean, coliectively, all of Temant's (i) movable business o trade fixtures, machinery and equipment, (1)
mavable famiture; (i) movable systems fusmilere, and {rv) special purpose equipment not ariginally pan of the
Mldhlsq.mﬂu:mhmmdﬁmh?nuﬁumfmnmqu:mﬁe?mﬂmwhkildw
s}'l‘lm!l:.lﬂﬂdm,wmuhﬁﬂdmdlﬂlmﬂmwmwmwmﬂ
&ir conditioning systems, butlery back-up systems, deta/switch sysiems and clectrical generating andior switching
and condiboning equipment &nd systems), exercise equipment, telephons systemy, scounity systems, buiblin and
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mabile filing gystems, and buili-in sidio visual equipment Tenant shall repair any datvage cxused by the removal of
such Tenant-Made Alterations upon surrender of the Premises.

Tenant, at its own cas and expense and without Landlord's prior spproval, mgy enect such shelves,
racking, bins, machinery and trade fixtures (collectively *Trade Fixtures”) in the ordinary course af its business
provided that such items do not alier the basic characier of the Premises, do ool overload or damage the Promises,
and may be removed withtul injury Lo the Premuses, and the construction, ercction, and installation thereal complics
with all Lega) Requirements and with Landlord's requirements et forth above Tenant shall remove its Trade
Faxtues end shall repaic any damage caused by such removal upon sumender of the Premises

13, Sigms.  Except a3 otherwise provided i this Lease, Tenant shall not make any changes ' the
exterion of the Premises, install sny exterior lights, decorations, balloons, flaps, banners, of painting. of
mnrinmllmymwbdmnrﬂnwhmm;phn-dgmmwdmuﬁngmmﬁﬁuywm
can be viewed from the exterior of the Premises, without Landloed's prior written consens, which consent shall pot
be unseasenably withheld, conditioned, or debayed if such signage comglies with all Legal Requirements and matters
of record and is comparsble 1o other signage located on comparable buildings in the submarket in which the
Building i located. Upon surrender or vication of the Premises, Teaant shall have removed all signs and repair,
paint, and/or replace the building fascin surface to which 15 5igrs arc attached. Tenant shall obtain all applicable
govemmental permite and approvals for sign and exterior trestments.  All signe, decorations, advertising media,
blinds, draperies and othwer window irestroent or bars or ather security installations visible from owtside the Premises
shall be subject to Landlord's approval and conform in all respects to Landlard's 3. B ing the
foregoing provisions of this Section 13, Tenknt, a1 its sole cost aed expense, may install two (2) signs on the
Dilﬁulbvwh?urrﬁau(Mm:mhﬁdmhcmmmmlwmwmllm
subject w0 ali Legal Requirements, matters of record, and Landlord's ially il =0
comsiruction, method of attachment, size, shape, height, lighting, color and general sppearance. In addition, Tenant,
&1 Tenant's solc cost and expense (which cost mey be paid from the Construction Alloorance), shall have the right to
install up to three {3) flags in the locarion identified on Exhibir G attached horeto (the "Flag Ares™), which flags
shall be subject to all Lega! Requirements, matters of recard, and Landlord's commercially reasonsbic roquirements
83 10 CONSMOCTION, of attechment, size, shape, height, lighting. coler and gereral appesrance. Tenant, at its
sote cost and expense, must muintain the building signage, Nags, and Flag Area in good condition and repadr and,

upon the exp or carlier ination of (kis Lease, shall restone the same ko their condition existing s of the
daie of this Leass, reasonable wear and tear excepted.
Landlord agrees that Tenant, o1 its sole cost and exp may am sign (the “Monument

Sign") bearing Temants neme to be gencrlly Jocated along the sastside of the west most entrance drive, which
Maonumest Sign owst comply with all Legal Requrements and all applicable codes, rules, and regulations of all
bpplicable governmental or association entities. The final location and apecifications of the Mormment Sign snd
Tenant's signage thereon arc subject to Lardlond's prior writien approval, which spproval shall not be unreasonably
withiseld, conditioned, or delayed if such sigrage complies with all Legal Requirements and mattsrs of record and is

bl o other signage scrving comparable buiklings in the submarket in which the Building is
located.

14, Parking Teaant chall be entitled io park in common with other tenants of the Project in those
aceas Gosignated fr non-reserved parking, Landlond may allocate parking spaces among Tonsnt and other tenants in
the Prodect if Landlond reasonably determines that such parking facilities are becoming crovwded. Landlord shall not
b responaible for enforcing Tenant's parking rights against any third parties. Landlord shall provide Tenant with its
proportionaie share of the parking speces associated with the Bulding. which is 178 parking spases (being 2.11
spaces [ 1,000 RSF within the Promises). In addition, Tenent, upon prior written notice 1o Landiord and at Tenant's
m“mmm,mnmmmwm‘mwummnmm
paticularty identificd on Exhiait H atached herewo, for additional passenger sutomobile parking so long as such
parking (8) does not nterfere with any other tenami®s use of or sccess to its premises and (b) complies with all Legal
Requircments.

15 Restorwtion. 1f at any time durirg the Lease Torm the Premises are damaged by & fire or other
casualty, Landlord shall notify Tenens within sixty (60) deys afier such damage a5 10 the emount of time Landlond
ressonably estimates it will take 10 restore the Premises. 17 the restoration lime is extimated to exceed six (6)
manchs, either Landiord of Tenant may clect o terminate this Lease upon notice o the other party given me lats
than thirty (30) days afler Landlord's notice. 1f neither pary elects io terminate this Lease or if Landlond estimates
Mmmmumm{mm&uulﬂs,ﬂm,wb}oawmipmrmmmmw_mw
shall prompdly restore the Premises excluding the improvements installed by Tenant or by Landlond and paid by
Tenant, subject 10 delays arising from the collection of insurance proceeds or from Force Majewre events., Tenant ot
Tenant's expense shall promptly perform, subject to delays ariting from the collection of insuramcs procseds, or
frunFmM:jnzmtu:hﬁmdin?W]j;,d]rmh:wumhmmumwh:mw
Landiord end shall promptly re-exer the Premises and comenence doing business in socordance with this Lese,
Notwithstanding the foregoing, either perty may terminate this Lease if the Premises are demaged during the twelve
{12} months of the Lease Term and Landlond reasonably estimates that it will ke mare thas onc (17 month to repair
such damage Base Hemt and Opersting Expenses shall be abated for the period of repalr and restorasion
comamencing on the date of such casualty event in the proportion which the area of the Premiszs, if any, which is not
usabic by Tenan bears to the wial area of the Premises Swch sbatement shall be the sole remedy of Tenant, snd
exeept a3 provided berein, Tenant wiives amy right fo terminste the Lease by reason of damage o carualry boss.

Natwithstanding anylhing contained in the Lease 1o the contrary, to the exient the demage 1o the
Project is mmibutable o Tenant, Teaant shall pay to Landlord, with respect 1o amy damage 1o the Project, an amount
equal 1o the ¢ ially ble decuctible under 1 ' i pelicy, within thirty (30) days after
presentment of Landlord's irvoice. To the extent the damage to the Premises is ustributable solely to the negligence

aTa




ar willful misconduct of Landlord, its agents, employees, cotretors of invitces, Tenant will not be obligried to pay
any paction of the daductibe related thereio

16 Condemnation Il arry part of the Premises o the Project should be taken for any public o
g shilc we nder gor law, ondi oF regulation, or by nght of eminent domain, or by privae
ptldﬂiﬂ]iwhwf{t'Tﬂn’ng'm'Tﬂh'),dteI&ummﬂlufmﬂwm
Landiord's ewnership o operation of the Project, then upon wrinen notice by Landierd this Lease shall terminste
and Bage Rent shall be apportoned as of said dato, [F part of the Premises shall be Taken, snd this Lease is not
teminated as provided above, the Base et paysble hereunder during the unexpired Leass Term shall be reduced
0 Such cxient a8 may be fadr pnd ible under the In the event of any such Taking, Landlond
:\HI&mmmwﬂwmcﬁcmunwﬂﬁmmeﬂumaymmmed
Tenumt hereby sisigns to Landlord Tenant's iterest, if any, in such award Tenant shall heve the right, o the extent
mumﬂdlu&mmmmlMum:mmmmhmmmbmm
Landlord) for such ion as mway be ly ded sble by Tenani for moving expenses and
dirage to Tensnt's Trade Fixtures, if 8 separade sward for such items is made fo Teoant

17 Astigument and Subletting Withouw Landlord's prior written somsest, which shall not be
unnuumﬂyMmmualwwﬂmmm{pkamwmmewm
part thereol or peedge, of hyp i3 leaschald interest o grust wry concession or license within the
Promises and any atiempt 1o do any of the foregoing shall be void and of no effect 1t shall be reascnable for the
L-dlﬂnibwﬂwmﬂﬂimniuwm!.wbmmummmﬂmwmhmnﬁbr.
following instances: (a) with regand o an sssignment, the assignee does not have & net woeth ealculsted sccordi
(] iy necepied ing priscip at least equal 1o the greater of the nel warth of Tenant immediately prios
wmhm&mwwhmhmmormenmunﬂmmmlmtb]mmdm
Pmﬁmwlhmuwmmjnmw;mmuwmmmml,.m‘lmaw
mhﬁmﬁmmmﬁcﬂtﬁwdmwhhhﬁmjlﬁmm(c]ﬂuiﬂmﬂucﬂm
up\.ﬂﬁmofdumﬁynecrmhlﬂmwﬂLhﬂMfﬂﬂlJMMqumMudwlmpwwﬂa
seputation of the Project; (d) the assignment or sublesse is 10 another tenant in the Proect; or (e) in the case of &
mmemmnwmmMWumwwmmmmmm.
mrmmlmlmmthdhwWEMhundkmﬂmemmmm
assignment or sublease. Ary approved nssigr t or suhb shall be y subject 8o the terms and comditions
of this Lease. Tenant shall provide to Landlord all information cancemning the assignes or sublesses a3 Landlard
may reasonably request Landiord may revoke iis consent immediately and without notice if, as of the effective date
of the assignment or sublcase, there has occurred and is continuing any default usder the Lease. For purposes of this
paragraph, & transfer of the o hip intereats . lling Temant shall be deemed in axsignmeat of this Lease
unless such ownership inierests are publicly traded Notwithstanding the above, Tenant may assign or sublet the
Premises, of any past thereof, w0 any entty controlling Tecsn, controlicd by Tenant or under common contrn] with
Teaant (8 *Tenant AMilte™), withow the prioe written consent of Lasdiond. Tenant shall reimburse Landlord for ll
of Landlord's r bl e i connection with ey assigr or not to exceed $1,500.00. This
Lease ghall be hinding upom Tenart and (15 Succcasors and permiticd assigns Upen Landlord's receipt of Teant's
wn'umniuor-dam»m«mmmmwwmmrtuﬂmmnarmmmm
Ludlordml:r,h‘rWJMMMMWTMWHH&JOM:MmmﬁTm&mem:
Lenss with respect to the space deseribed in Tenant's notice, as of the dasc specified in Terunfs notice for the
commencement of the proposed assignment or sublease

Natwithstanding amy assignment or sublenting, Tenant and any guarantor ar surety of Tehants
obll:mmdrrlﬂlluushll-‘rnlliiruluminﬁ.ull;rup-umihlundlim:ﬁhmofﬂwmuﬂh:
mmlltnuHmﬂldmmwﬁmmmLuuﬂuﬂhnnlwhmwmﬁ’swms
been obtdined for any soch assignments or subletings) In the event that the rent due and payable by » sublessee or
assignee (or @ combination of the rental payable under such sublease of assignment plus ary bonus or other
consideration therefor or incident thereto) exceeds the remal paysble under this Lease, then Tenant shall be bound
&nd obligated to pay Lmdlwﬂuddiﬁunﬂmthmudndhﬁmmmﬂmdﬂhum“uidmim
within 10 days following receipt mhercef by Tenant, provided in the event of @ sublease which is less than 100% of
the Premises such excess rental and oeher considerstion shall be applied on o square foot busis.

IflhjsI.aue&un‘gwdwifﬁr?fwﬂlﬂhm:sd{hmhn!nhwiumninﬂu
evend of the mongeage, pledge, or hypothecation of Tenant's | ld interest or grant of ey concession or license
hﬁﬂ\inmeriﬂnrilﬂPmﬁmhwv:dhmkuinmhmmmMTmhnmma
m‘hﬂtbrTanrlhnmdurl..wllmmﬂlmrﬂﬁmhummmmmmphdmmm
whumﬁ:luﬂddim:mnmmmmtmmw[imuwmwmmmmm
set forth in the preceding paragraph, apply the amoumt collected 1o the next rert payable bereunder, and all such
rerilals. collected by Tenam shall be held in tust for Landlord mnd immedistely forwarded to Landlord  No such
transaction or coliection of rert or applicstion thersof by Landlord, hawever, shall be deemed & waiver of these
mﬁﬁwulmlﬂcﬂ'ﬂ"mmhMmumﬁmuhrhmo[hm,dmiu,wuim
hereunder,

18, Indemuification. To the extent permitted by law, Tenant agrees 1o inderndly, defend and hold
mummmw:mmﬂmmmmrwmmmwﬁum
end all lpsses, lisbilities, damages, costs and expenses (including stiomeys' foes) resulting from cluims by third
nmie:!’wwmmwmmdﬁu:qudehnﬂgmmiumﬂnu
ihe Building and arising from the us and occupancy of the Premies or from any activity, work, or thing denc,
permitied or suffersd by Tenant in or sbout the Premiscs of duc lo any other act of omission of Tenani, it
sublenants, nssipness, invitees, employecs, conractars and agenis, (collectively “Clajnas™). The inderenity in this
Sectlon 18 will be caforeed except io the extest of (he peroentsge of any Clim determined by o fisal
Judgmeat of & court of competent Jurtsdiction (pursuant 1o the comparutive nrgligeace principsls of the State




of Texas) to bave been the proximate realt of the negligence or willfal mbeanduct of Lasdlord Parties. The
fusmighing of irsurance required hereunder shall not be doemed o limit Tenant's obligations under this Paragraph
18

19. Inspection and Access. Landlord and its agenls, es, and may enter th
ﬁmmmzimmmtwhmzmﬁmm)twmium&mw
mei:ﬁmdhnﬂlﬂlﬂiﬂumhwﬁﬂuwﬁdw:hmﬂl#uﬂf-wmtmn
purpase.  With prior nofice 1o Tenant, Landiord and Landlord's representatives may eser the Premises during
I:un'n:umﬁﬂmmiﬂmﬁh?mﬁmmwmﬁmmmsﬂ,dumhhﬂrwﬂh
Lease Term, to prospective tenants L may croct & suitable sign on the Fremises swuting the Premises are
wvailable to let or tha the Project is available for ssle. Landlard mary grast exsements, make public dedicetions,
designaic and modify commen weas and creste restrictions on o about the Premises, provided that mo such
easement, dedication, designati dification or restricti tally inderferes with Tenant's use or occupancy of
the Premises. Al Landionds request, Tenant shall exscute such i s may be v for such essements,
dedications or reswich L will use commercially rexsonable efforts W minimize interference with
Tm‘lwﬁd'wmlnﬁhuiminmhuﬂhhmﬂmﬂpbm&ummlg

20. (ulet Exjoyment. IfTﬂuidlpeﬂmndlufmmh-ﬂmﬂuthmndw
be perfarmad by Tenant, Tenant shall, subject to the terms of this Lease, ot all times during the Leasc Torm, have
peacefl and quiet enjoyment of the Premises against any porson cleiming by, through or under Landlard

20 Surrender Umﬂmﬁmimﬂlﬂlﬂﬂﬂrnmmmmﬂmﬁﬁﬁf
Mu.fmmamm?mﬁmwtndmdhmﬂmmmﬂmmmm
w,mme:WMuMmmelz,mmmww
15 and 16 excepwed and otherwise in accondince with the Move Owl Conditions Addendum attached herelo.
Without limiting the foregoi Tenant shall remove any odor which may exist in the Premises resulting from
Tenant's ocoupancy of the Premises upon the lemminat of the Lease Term or earfier termination of Terants right
of possession. Any Trade Fixtures, Tonant-Made Alterations and property not so remaved by Tenant as permitied oe
required herein shall be deemed sbandoncd and may be sored, removed, and disposed of by Landlord at Tenant's
enpense, and Tenant waives all claims agains Landiond for any darmages resulting from Landlord's retestion end
disposition: of such property. Tenart must, st Tenant's sole: cost, upon lermination of this Lease, remove amy and all
dasstelecommanicetions cabling end wising insialled by or on bebalf of Tepas, whether inmdc walls, under ary
Ilﬂ'ldﬂﬂ'u'lbmllvcdtins_TMMIWWMMMMBTWMMW&WM
cabling and wirieg not so removed, &5 well a3 any damage caused by such mmoval. All obliganions of Temm
h‘m-dnmtfdh'wﬁ:rmﬁsu‘uminlﬁmnfﬂthTm:hllmmmﬂhm
Term, including withow! limitazion, | y obligaticns, p bligations with respect io Operating Experses
and obligations cenesming the condiiion and repair of the Pramases

e Holding Owver  [f Teran! rething possession of the Premises after the termination of the Lesss
Term, unless otherwise agreed in writing, such possession shall be subject 10 immediate terminacion by Lend|ord g1
Ay time, and all of the other terms and provisions of this Lease (exc) ding wmy o BF option of other
n'ni]l:rigiuwuﬁm}ﬂﬂhqiuﬁhdmsuﬂ:hﬂtmwﬂemhtmﬂmww
lime: to time, upon damand, as Base Rend for the holdover period, an amount equal 10 150% of the Bese Rent in
effect on the termination date, comnpusted on a hly basis for each month or part thereof during such holding over.
hllnhmmnﬂlmhumhhmﬁmmInlﬂ.'ﬂiu,Tlibtrilblehtﬂmm
incurred by Landlocd a4 a result of such holding aver. No holding over by Tensnt, whether with or without consent
ofLmdDml,duﬂmhmmmmpnom»mmmﬂmn:wnshﬂl
rof be construed as consent for Tenant w0 retain possession of the Premises For purposes of this Paragraph 22,
‘pmmm’marﬁchmim'Mlgmm.mm&hpjmhuﬁw.mqsmuhmhs
1o Landioed, Landlond bas complets and total dominion and control over the Premises, snd Tenant has completely
Mﬁnedmuﬂwmrequinduihmmﬂmﬂh@amﬂhmm_m:m
limitation, those conceming the tondition and repair of the Premises,

23 Events of Default Each of the following events shall be an eveet of defpult {"Event of Defash™)
by Tenast under this Lease:

(a) Teoun! shall fuil w pay amy insaliment of Basc Rend of any other payment requined
berein when due, and such failure shell continue for & period of § business days from the date such payment
was dug,

(1] Tmﬁmmwmnrynfﬁmﬂnhmmhﬂwmmﬂmm:
mmrwmmmﬂﬂuﬁm;{ﬁ]mmqmm«mummm
to have n grder for relie! emtered on its behall a5 & debior or to adjudicate it a5 banknupt or insolvwent, or
seeking reomgenization, arr ady liquidation, di bR of compasition of it of its debts o
soeking eppointment of a receiver, trustee, custodian or other simdlar official for it or for all or of any
wubstmiial pan cf its property (collectively & *proceeding for relicf), (ik) become the subjeet of any
plotnd.ingl'urnﬁu!’ﬁdchilmd'nm'mdwmmdly;ﬁhﬂiuum,u{iﬁ]-ﬁg“ﬂmr:lqd
disability {if Tenant, guanantor, or surety i an individual) or be dissalved of otherwise feil 1o maintzin its
legal eximence {if Terant, gumrantor or surety is 8 comoration, parinership or ather entity)

(c) Any insurance required to be meintsined by Tenamt pursiant do this Lesss shall be

cancelled or terminated o7 shall expire or shal be reduced or materially chinged, except, in cach case, &
penmitted in this Lease:




) Tenant shall not occupy or shall vacale the Premises whetber or not Tenant is in

MDrﬁuhitwhrm#mh;ﬂmhﬁmehundemmmmmymmm
Luﬂhrﬂln{i)umnMTMIMWHMMHHHMMWMMUNUMW
%o the Premiscs a5 o result of such vacancy, (i} ensure that the Premises are secured and rat subject to
mda]im,ndtii]mmhhunimﬁﬂbeWrmmmm.inddi‘.w
mul lirmited 10, loeeping the hearing, ventilation and cooling systeras mainlenance contracts required by this
Lease in fudl force and effect and maintaining the utility services. Tenant shall inspect the Prerises af least
once sack manth end report monthly in writing to Landiord on the condition of the Premises.

() Tenant shall attempt or tere shall occur ey assignment, subleasing or other transfer of
Tenat's interest in o1 with respect 10 this Lease except as otherwise permined in this Lease.

i Tenant shall fail o discharge my lien placed upon the Premises in violation of this Lease
‘within 20 days after any such lien or encumnbrance is filed against the Premises.

[H] Tenant shall fail o comply with amy provision of this Lease other thaa those specifically
referred lo m this Peragraph 23, and excepd as otherwise expressly provided hemcin, such defaull shall
continugs: for more than 30 days alter Landlord shall have given Tenaat written notice of such default (said
nnﬁnuhrinainllruul;ﬂm!nﬁﬁmh“mﬁumnimmhlmmmw
detainer or simiar action for posssssion of the Premises); however, if such fullure cannot be cused within
such 0-day peried (thus excluding. for example, Tenant's obligation to provide Lendlord evidence of
Tenast's insurance covemge) and Tenanl commenses to cure such feflure within such 30-day peniod and
thereafter diligenty pursues such cume to completion, then auch failure shall not be an Event of Defaul.

24, Landlord's Remedies. 1pon each oocurmence of an Evem of Default 204 o long s such Event
of Default shall be contimsing, Landlord may at eny time thereafier at its election: terminate this Lesse or Tensn's
right of possession, (but Tenant shall remain liable 4 heremafter provided) andfor pursoe any other remedies at lnw
arin exuity. Lipon the termination of this Lease or wrmination of Tensnf's right of possession, i shall be lawfil for
wﬁimfﬂuﬂdnudwmﬁuduyhnd_mmhmhymmm
procesdings or any ofher ection of proceeding suthonzad by law and 1o remove Tenmt and all persons snd property
thewefrom. Tf Landlord re-emters the Premises, Landlord shall have the right te keep in place end use, o rermove and
store, all of the fumiture, fixtares end equipment ot the Presises,

IF Landlord terminates this Lease, Landlord may recover from Terant the sum of all Bace Rent
wﬂlﬂhauwmmmdhﬂulﬂulolhimofmmwhmﬁe#ﬂmﬂh&ﬁhmhmm
aFmMyMRmMmththﬁMmlhiwm’mw“nuhpeuindof
lhlmrll;lhewﬂafmlﬂﬁuﬁﬂmewwplto{ﬁ!Pﬂni;:l.indudingﬁﬂmmﬁﬁmmhﬂpfﬂ
mmmmmmwumwmdmmmmmrmuuqm
GoCOpEnfs property. reparing, aliering, remodeling, or olherwise putting the Premises into coodition acceptable o &
new waan or tenents, and all reasonable expenses incwrred by Landiord in ing its jes, i ing
remsonalle snomeys’ foes and count coms; and the excess of the then present value of the Base Reet and other
mnsw&h]ubmimﬂ:rmi:Imumﬂdnmmhnqmmhﬁdmew
Landlord during the period following the tarmination of this Lease mensured from the date of such termination to
the expiration date sated in this Lease, over the present value of any miet emeunts which Tenent establishes Landlord
can reasonably expest o recover by reletting the Premives for such period, taking into conmderation the availability
of accepiable tenants and cther markel conditicns affecting leasing.  Such present values shall be calculsicd ot &
digcount rute cqual to the $0-dey 1.5, Treasury bill rate 8t the date of such termination

Irwmmersumwmmmmmmlwmw.mmh
under no obligation w, relet the Premises for the sccount of Tenant for such rent and mon such terms as shall be
m&mynm:rdwjmMﬁymhuiugmﬁunuyﬂwiﬁwhmuﬂulnddmm«m
of uny kind to Tensnt For the purpase of such releting Landlord is suthorized lo make any sepairs, changes,
elteraticns, or additions in of to the Premises as Landiond deermns bly v of desi If the Presroses
are pot feles, Suen Tenant shall pry 1o Landlord ar damages a sum quel 1o the emount of the rental reserved in this
Lease fior such perind or periods, plus the cost of recovering pesscasion of the Premises (including atiomeys’ fecs
Mmmofmil].ﬂmmrddsmkmududmmmmhuuﬂﬂnﬂlemﬂmudh
codis mcurred in eny stiempt by Landlord 1o relet the Premises. 17 the Premises are relet and & sufficient sum shall
nat be realized from such relettng [wfter firs deducting therefram, for retention by Landlord, the unpsid Base Rent
ﬂu&umumﬂhnﬂﬂuﬂnﬁnuﬁnﬁhﬂ.&mimlm{wumr
fees and costs of suit), all of the costs and expense of repairs, changes, alterstions, and additions, the expense of such
reletting (including without limitstion brokesage fecs and leasing commissioms) #nd the cost of collection of the rent
ttwi-‘ﬂl:rtlhm]tnmm'mmrnvdndfuilmiaLuumh:p-jd,ﬁmemlmtmdemﬂym
and pay sy such deficiency. Any such payments due Landlord shall be made upon demand therefor from ime to
umm'lﬂwwauul.-ﬂlmlmgNkmlmmwmmlwumumnlum
Notwithstanding ey such reletting without termination, Landlord may at any time thereafter clect in writing w0
terminate this Lense for such previeas breach.

Exercise by Landlord of any one or more remedies hereunder gramed or otherwise available shall
not be deemed 10 be an scceptance of surrender of the Premiscs andlor & wermination of this Lease by Landlord,
whether by agrcement or by operation of law, it being understood that such surrender andioe termination can be
offecied only by the written agreement of Landlord and Temant Any liw, usage, of custom to the contrary
notwithstanding, Landiord shall have the right a1 all times to enforee the provisions of this Lesss in strict sccondance
with the terms hereaf, and the fulure of Landlord al any time to enforce its rights under this Lease strietly in
nwdnuwﬁhﬂmshﬂmumunduh:ﬁngm:dawmmwmwmmmmum
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specific terms, provisions, and covenants of this Lease or as having modified the same. Tenat and Landlord further
e that forbearmnce or waiver by Landlord 1o enforee ils rights pursuant to this Lease of at baw or in equity, shail
not be s waiver of Landlord's right 1o enforee one of more of is rights in iom with any subscquent defaul. A
reseipt by Landlord of remt or cther payment with knowledge of the breach of any covensnt hereof shall not be
deemed & waiver of such breach, and no waiver by Landiord of any provision of this Lease shall be deemed to have
becn made wnless expressed in writing and signed by Landlord To the gresiest extent permitted by law, Tenant
waives the service of notice of Landloed's intention w0 re-enter as provided for in amy stabuie or 10 institule legal
proceedings o that end, and also weives all right of redomption in case Tenant shall he dispossessed by & judgment
o by warrant of any court or judge. The temms "entér,” "re-coler,” "entry” of "re-eniry,” as used in this Lease, are
noi restricied 1o cheir tech legnl ings. Amy ing of the Premmes shall be oo such terms and conditions
23 Landlond in its sole discretion may detsrmine (including without limitstion & term different than the remaining
Lease Term, rental concessions, aherations end repair of the Premises, lease of less than (he entire Premises to any
tenartt and leaging any or all other portions of the Project before reletting the Premises)  Landlord shall not be liahle
for, and Tenant's obligations heseunder shall not be diminished because of, Landlord's fisluze to relet the Premises or
collect rent due in respect of such releming.

25 Tenant's Remvedies/Limftation of Liability Landlord shall mot be in defach hereunder unless
Landlond fuils to perform ey of its cbligations hereunder within 30 days after written notice from Tenant specifying
such faihare (unless such performance will, due to the natuse of the obligation, require a period of time in excess of
30 duys, then after such period of time s is reasonably necessary). All obligations of Landlord bereunder shall be
omm-odumvmu.m:onﬁﬁmuuﬂ,mqnnmhemmwmmmﬁhmrm
mary mot terminate this Lease for breach of Landlord's obligations hereunder, Al obligations of Landlord under this
Lease will be binding upon Landlord saly duning the period of its ownership of the Premises and not thereafter. The
term “Landlosd” in this Lenss shall mean oaly the ownes, for the tims biing, of the Premises, and in the event of the
tranafer by such owner of its interest in the Premiscy, such owner shall thereupon be released and discharged from
ﬂlwlmmﬁmmmﬂummwﬁwmmhbindir:gduriuﬂul.menum
cach oew owner for the durstion of such owners ownership. Any hability of Landlord under this Lease shall be
limited solely tn its interest in the Project, and in no event shall any p } Fiability be d agmnst Landlord in
comnection with this Lease nor shall any recourse be had to ey other propery or assets of Landlard,

26, Landlord's Lisn/Security Interest. Tenant heseby grants Landlord & security inmterest, and this
Leas: conatitutes 8 se2usily mg 1, witkin the g of and p to the Uniform Commercial Code of the
sinde in which the Premises arc stuatod as 10 all of Tenant's property situated in, or upon, or wsed in connection with
the Prermises (except merchandise sold in the ardinery course of business) as security for all of Tenant's obligations
hereunder, including, without limitation, the cbligation w pay rent. Such personalty thus encurnbered includes
spocifically all trade and other focures for the purpose of this Pangraph and inventory, equipment, contract rights,
accounts recetvahle and the proceeds thereaf [n order to perfiecs such security interest, Tenant shall exscade such
ﬁnmirqmmﬁkmemuhunnmu&umwmihjﬁ:mcomimmng
offices e aften as Landlord in s discretion shall require; and Terant hereby imevocably appoints Landlord its agent
for the purpase of esecuting and filing such financing statements on Tenant's behalf as Landlord shall deem
necesmury. 52 long as no Event of Defaull has occurmed, Landlord will subordinate its statulory lien, a3 well &s the
security interest granted 4o it under this Section 26, to Tenant's lenders security inberest in the collatera] located
within the Presrises, and Landlord shall, si Tenant's expense (not to exceed $2,00000), execute Landlord's mundard
form of subardination documentation 10 evidenes such subordiaation.

27, Sobordinates. This Lirase and Termnr's inerest and rights hereunder are and shall be subject and
subordinate =1 all times to the lien of any fim morigage, now existing or hereafier crested on or againgt the Project
or the Premises, and all d . rencwals, difications, consolidetions, refinancing,
assignments and extentions. thereof, without the pecessity of any further instrumen? of act on the part of Tcnant
Tenan! agrees, at the election of the holder of any such mortgage, 1o stem to any such holder, Tenant agrees upon
demand to execute, acknowledge and deliver such instruments, coafirming such subardinabion snd swch instrumens.
of sttornment ux hall be requested by any such bokier. Netwithstanding the foregoing, &ny such holder may 21 any
:inumbudimciummMLnun.muan-ﬂmmbyminmunTm,mdnlem.wn
this Lease shall be deemed prior tn such morigage withou! regard 10 their respective dutes of execution, delivery or
recording and in that everd suth bolder shall have the same rights with respect to this Lease as though this Lease had
been executed privs 1o the execution, delivery and recording of such mongage and had been assigned 1o such holder,
The term "morigage” whenever used in this Lease shall be deemed 1 include deeds of s, sccurity assignments
wnd any other encumbrances, and any meference to the "bolder* of & mortgage shall be deemed to include the
benefieiary under 4 docd of trust Landlord shall obein a subordimation, non-distarbance and anomement sgreement

from the cument Landloed’ tgagee on the farm. hed hereto a8 Exhibut F, and Landlord shall use reasonable
efforts o obtain a subsedination, non-di and from amy future Landiord's mortgages,
in & form reasonsbly scocptable to Tenant and such [ 1 of gther institutional lenders, b

Landlord's failure o oblain such sgreement shall not constinate & defauli by Landlord herounder or prohibit the
mortgaging of the Building. and further provided that amy coste associsted with obiaining such subordination, non-
disturbance end arormment agreement shall be paid by Tenant within fifieen (15) days after Landlord's writen
request therefor,  The subordination of Tenant's nghts hereunder to ny fisure Landlord’s mongagee under
Section 27 shall be conditionsd upen such fiture Lendlord's mortgagee’s execution snd delivery of & nabordination,
nen-distortance and atiomment agreemen? in » form remsorably accepeable to Tenant and such Landlords
margage: of other institutional lenders.

8. Mechanic's Liens.  Tenant has no express or implied authosity 1o crewtc or place &y len or
encumbrance of any kind upon, or in amy manner to bind the interest of Landiord or Tensnt in, the Premises o to
chage the rentals payable hereunder for &y claim in faver of any pereon dealing with Tenant, including thase wha
miay fumish metenals or perform labor for any eonstruction or repairs, Tenant covenants and agrees that it will pay
of caunse o be paid 2] sums legally dus and payable by it on account of any labor performed or materials funished




in conaection with &my wiork performed oo the Premises and that it will save and bold Landlord harmiess from l]
lisis, comt or expense bascd on ar arising out of asserted claims o liens agains: the leasehold estate o1 againat the
imzrest of Landlord in the Premises or under this Leass, Tensnt shall give Landiord immedinte written notice of the
placing of any lien or encumbrunce against the Premises and camse such lien of L to be discharged
within tweaty (20) days of the filing or recording thereoll provided, however, Tenant may contest such liens or
encumbrmces a3 bong s such contest prevents foreclosure of the lien of encumbrance and Tenant causes such lien
or encumbrance i be bonded ov insured over i 8 mEnner satisfaciory o Landlord within such twenty (20) dey
pesiod.

2% Estoppel Certificates. Tenant egrocs, from time to time, within 10 deys afier request of
l.milmd,ummd:ﬁmwuﬂw.whﬂhd'addmww:uﬁﬁw=mwhmm,
snting that this Lease is in full force and effect, the dete to which rent has been paid, that Landlord is net in default
hereumdsr (or specifying in detadl the nature of Landlond's default), the termination date of this Lease snd such ather
mEters pemtaining o this Lese as may be reasonably requested by Landlord Tenant's obligation 1o furmish each
estappe] certificate in a timely fashion ic 8 material inducement for Landlords execution of this Lease Mo cue ar
groce period provided in this Lease shall apply to Tenant's obligations wo timely deliver an estoppe] certificate.

0. Enviroomental Requirements. Except for Hazardous Material contained in products used by
Tenant in de minimis quantities for ordinary cleaning and office purposes, and except for Haxardows Maierials
conmined in products spred and/or distributed during Teaant's normal course of busineas in their origingl, sealed,
and unopened conthincrs, Tenant shall not permit of cause any party to bring any Hazardous Material upos the
Bremises or tmasport, store, use, generste, manufactuse of release any Hazardous Muserial in or sbout the Premises
without Landlord’s prior writien consend  Tenar, at its sole com &nd expense, shall operaie its business in the
Premises i strict compliance with all Enviroamental Requi end shall disite in & manner satisfactory to
Lendlord any Humrdous Materials relessed en or from the Project by Tenant, its agents, ernployees, contractors,
subtemants or (nvitess. ?mﬂulmmmrymdmamnmummwumwmm
tire b0 Ume relating to Tenanrs transpartstion, storsge, we, grocrtion, manafacture or release of Hazardous
Materials on the Premnises.  The term “Envimnmental Requirements” meass all applicable present and fisture
smiites, regulstions, ordinances, rules, codes, judgments, orders or other similar eractments of any gavernmental
authority of agency regulaiing or relating to healih, safety, or snmvironmental conditions an, under, or sbowt the
Premises or the envir including without limstation, the the Comprehensive Environmeats)
Response, Compenestion eod Lisbility Act, the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act; and all size and Ineal
countevparts theneto, end any regulations or policies or usued th der. The term “Hazardous
Muteninls” means and includes woy submence, materinl, waste, polluant, o comaminent listsd or defined as
hazrdous or towie, under any Envirohments! Requirements, ash and petrobeum, i ing crude ofl o any
ﬁ-ﬁmhwf.mmnlgul'uqﬂd&Ihmdmﬂw.wwwnmmhﬁ:l(mmimmnfm.u
and such synthetic gas)  As defined in Enviroomentel Requirerents, Tenant is and shall be deemed to be the
“operator” of Tenant's “fasility” and the “"owner* of all Harardous Materials brought on the Premises by Tenant, its
agents, employees, contracton: of invitees, and the wastes, by-products, or resi g d, resulting, of producsd
therefrom.  No cune o grace peniod provided in ths Lease shall apply to Tenant cbligations W comply with the
terrns and conditions of this Paragraph 30,

Norwithslnding snything to the contrary in this Pamgraph 30, Tenant shall have no Lishility of sy
Iunim%ﬂummememwmwtu}mmuqmmm
conirackors or imvitess; or (b) any ofher tesanty in the Projoct of their agents, employees, contraciors, subtenants,
WSFIgNEeE OF invitees.

Tmmmﬁ_hwmm]ﬂhﬂmﬁmﬂwmmﬂﬂlm:
li.nﬂud.iu.w.iﬂnlI'I'n'ﬂ!imdiwmlinuinvdn:oﬂ}:hmmw&:Pmmndhuutmmhmﬂunﬂu
Project), cluims, demands, actions, swis, demages (inchiding, without limitation, punitive damages), expenacs
(inchuding, without Hmimtion, remedistion, removal, repadr, comettive sction, of cleanup cxpenses), srd costs
Aineluding, without limitation, ectusl aftomeys’ foes, consullant fees or expent foes and including, without |imitatian,
remgval of management of sty ashostos brought into the property or disturbed in breach of the requirements of this
Paragraph 30, dless of such of management is required by low) which are brought or
reotverable sgainst, or suffered or incurred by Lundlond as & result of any relesss of Harardous Materials for whick
TenlrlisnbliwnMuwﬁddMWmmh&Mthm-m;mmww
by Tenam, its agents, employess, contractors, sublenants, assignees or mvilces, regardless of whether Tenant hsd
knowiedge of such i The obligations of Tenant undes this Paragraph 30 shall survive amy termination
of this Lease,

Landlard shall have acoess to, and a night (o perform inspections mnd teste of, the Premuses to
determine Tenants compliance with Envir ) Reuirements, its obligadons usder this Paragraph 30, or the
covironmeatal condibion of the Premises. Access shall be granted to Landlord upon Landlond's prior notice to
Tenant and & wuch Hmes 80 a5 1o minimize, so far ss My be blc under the cincumst any disturbaner to
Tenant's operations. Such inspections and tests skall be conducted a1 Landlord's expense, unless such inspoctions or
tests reveal that Tenant has nol complicd with any Envi gL in which case Tenant shall
reimburse Landlord for the reaspnable post of such inspection snd tests, LandlonTs receipt of or sstisfaction with
any environmentsl assessment in 00 Wy waives kny nghts that Landlosd halds against Tenant

3. Rules and Regulations. Tenmnt shall, s &l limes during the Lease Term and any extension
:hawﬁumphmulmﬂcnﬂumdmmuwﬁmmmﬂmmﬁmmﬂwmhuﬂhﬁ
covening use of the Premises and the Projoct  The curmend Project nules ard regulations are sttachod heres as
Exhibie B. In the event of any conflict betweea said rules end regulations end other provisions of this Leass, the
other terms and provisions of this Lease shall control  Landlord shall net kave any lability or obligation for the
Teeach of wry rules or regutations by other tenants in the Frodect.
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a2 Security Service. Tmmﬂwmmmmmmumm
Landloed i3 ot providing any secunity services with respect to the Premises and that Landlord shall not be lisble o
Tenanl for, and Teomu waives eny clam sguinst Landlard with respect t0, any loss by cheft or any other damage
suffered or mcumed by Tenant in on with aay utharized entry mto the Premises or any other breach of
security with respect to the Premises.,

1. Force Majeure. Orher tin for Tenant's obligations under this Leass that can be performed by
ﬂtmm«m[:.;.mmunurltnMw&m—:cuﬁnmm].mmnpwmhhldmmme
hddqminﬂpnrumulmowaﬁmhﬂmnﬁummhywihns,luhwt,hhurmmmﬂ'
God, inability 10 obtain lsbor or maserisls or 1 ble bt therefor, govemmental mestrictions,
mmnmm;ﬁmmmls,ddqmmdmu.mwww
mcwmm:mn&ermm,wMMmmmmﬂnwmﬂum{'Fm
Mujeure™)

M Entire Agr of Reli on Represemtations. This Lease constitutes the
complete agreement of Landlord and Tenant with respect o the subjecl matier hereof. No represenutions,
i , promises or oral or wiitien, have been made by Landlord or Tenanl, or amyone acting on
hwfdwmm.uhdnmmmmmﬁwmmmmmﬁmm
rFepresentations are supersedsd by this Lesse. This Lease may not be amended except by an instrument in writing
signed by both panies henelo. Fach of the parties o this Lease has cxacuted this Leass relying solely on its ow
indplurtriﬂ:ﬂluwtfhmumammm&wn{mhﬁqdmﬂadwmw
MIdhmﬁmmmemLummmmﬁmmw-@
mammdhmmwmwursmmWWmmth
represendstion is expresily set forth in this Lease,

a5 Scverability. If any clause or provision of this Lenss is illegal, imvalid of unenforeeable under
present of futune laws, then and in that evest, it i% the intention of the pasties bereto thal (he remadnder of this Lease
shall not be affected therely. 10 is slso the intention of the parties 1o this Leess that in licu of each clause or
provision of this Lease that is illegal, invalid or unenforceabile, there be added, s & part of this Lease, & clsuse or
provision ay similer in terms 1o such illegal, invalid e I & clause or provision as may be and be
legal, valid end enforceable.

36 Broken. Tenart represents and warments that it has dealt with no broker, agent or otber person in
coencetion with this transaction other than Landlord's Broker and Tenant's Breker, and that no broker, sgent or
mmhmabmtkmmmmmw';mmhmum,m'rmwm
inderanify and hold Landlord harmiess from and against any claims by sny other broker, agent of other person
claiming a commission or other form of compeasation by virtue of having deaht with Tesant with regard o this
leasing transaction.

Ir Miscellameons.

(@) Any payments or charges due from Terant 1o Landlond hereunder shall be considerad rent for all
purposes of this Lease.

1] trmmmmmhm'rm'ummmmmumsmmn
person, firm or cosporation, each shall be joindly end sevenally lisble for the obligations of Tenant

[cy All notiess requined of permatted to be given under ths Louse shall be in writing and shall be sent
WWnrmmmmmﬂnm«hlwmewmﬂ;ﬁmm_w
prepaid, of by hand delivery addressed 1o Landlord mt c/o Holt Lunsford Commercisl, Atn- Property Manager, 5055
Keller Springs Road, Suitc 300, Addison, Texas 75001, Either party may by notice given aforesaid change its
H&mhdlmmmﬁmwmnlﬁﬁwmwhmﬁdmmmml. Extept where
wiberwisc cxpressly provided io the conmrary, notice shall be deemed given three (3) duys efier being depesited in the
Ll'nlhdsumrmilaMummwwwalmww:muimm;uhﬂn
-ddmeuiu-ddm:m%mﬁ:hanmhmhdtmummmmwmhmm
delivered in sccordance with this Pamgraph 37, whether or not actually accepied of received by the addresser

{d) Excepl as otherwise expressly provided in this Lease or as otherwise requined by law, [andlord
retains the absolute right to withhold amy consert or spproval

(e} At Landlords request from time w time Tenart shall furnish Landlond with trus and complete
capies of it most recent annual and quarterly financial statemients prepared by Tenamt or Tenants pecountants and
iy other financis! information or summaries that Tenant typcally provides 1o its kenders or shereholders.

n Herther this Leass nor 8 memorandum of lease shall be filed by or on behalf of Tenant in oy
public record. Landlord may prepare and file, and upon request by Landloed Tenant will execute, s memorandum of
lease,

] ﬂtmﬂnﬂndmmﬂnmﬂdﬂm;uﬂmﬂnmwhmlmwm
M-gmmmuwmwmmmamuumnmmmruwmmmm

(b The sbrrission by Landlord 1o Tersnt of this Lease shall have no binding force or effect, shall not
conslitule &n option for the leasing of the Premises, nor confer any night or impese gy obligations upan efther party
unitil execution of this Lease by both parties.




[0}] wwsornymmmmmgmhmmcmmmmmmm_
and wonds in the singults number shall be held to inchsde the plural, unless the coniext olberwise mquires. The
Hﬂimlun:ri.ndinﬁ!il.Lﬂmufwmumhuewﬂfmﬁnww&he,linﬁwmhmmm
or intent of this Lease, or any provision hereol, or in any way affect the interprewation. of this Lease

[1)] Amy amoumt net paid by Teasnt within five (5) buziness days after its due date in accordance with
:h:l:msofdh‘:l.unﬂnllburhumﬁmm&nummﬂpidinfmuﬂwhmufhwdmam
permitted by spplicable law or fifieen (15) percent per year. It is expressly the intent of Lindlord and Tenan: & il
11'me|mmﬁyvﬂﬂupﬂmmeiwmiuhmdmmwmﬂwmmonwh
conncetion with this Lease 17 spplicable law is. cver judically intzypreied 50 a8 to render usurious eny interest
called for under this Lease, or contracted fix, charged, taken, reserved, or received with respect to this Lease, then it
hmwrmm:mmmmmmmmwwhmmm
applicable obligation (oc, if the obligation has been or would thereby be paid in full, refimded 1o Tenant), and the
provisions of this Lease immediately shall be deemed reformad and the ameunts thereafter callectibile hercunder
Mmhuhmﬂydummﬁmmm.wuumlymhaumuﬁluln-.Inl
50 83 10 Pt the recovery of the fullest amount atherwise ealled for hercunder

(k) Construction and interpretation of this Lease shall be governad by the laws of the stalc in which
the Praject is located, excluding sny principles of conflicts of kaws

n !‘imu:ilnd'dzmnn&wﬂm:l?m‘awmnumimmmu
Lease.

{m) Mlmuiuwmmmm“mwwimmmmm|m
herect. In the event of amy conflict betwern sach exhibits o7 addenda and the terms of this Lesse, such exhibits or
ndddenda shall cartrol.

{n) mmm::.mmmiuiumlmmmmmmmumiuu,
the nof-previiling pary in such action shall reimburse the prevailing party for its rensormble atiorrey's fees, fiting
Fees, and court costs.

(o) Tenant agrees and understands thay Landlord shall have the right (provided that the exercise of
Lud.lod'lriu:l:dnumldm:hralﬁ:”mmmwmo!ﬂ-wmumqnmu
-ddium-lm:,ﬂmrwsmmpm:mum;mmq:mmmmﬂﬁm Building or
enleT into a lease fﬂlhmfﬁhﬂmmmmw;hmh\:lﬁ:righmmllnnniunmic
gererating sysem on the roof of the Building

®) This Lease may be exsouted in asy number of counterparts, sech of which shall be deemed 1o be
an original, and a&ll of such shall constitine one Lease, B ion copies of this Lesse may be delivencd
by Facsimile or email, and the partics hereto agree 10 accept and be bound by facsimile Signatures or scanncd
signatures iransmiticd vis email bereto, which signatures shall be eonsidered s origiral signEnres with the
twmnsmiticd Lease having the same binding effect as an original signature on an arigingl Lease Al the mquest of
either party, any facsimile d o d dacument transmitied vie email is 1o be re-execuied in original form
by the party who executed the ongmal facsimile docurment or scanned document Neither party may raise the use of
srm'hikmmhmo:nuddmw&ﬁuummuﬁunmmmmhmuh
fucsimile machine o ermail ax 8 defonse 10 the snforeement of this Lense,

38 Limitation of Lisbility of Trastees, Shareholders, sod Officers of Landlord. Any obligation
or kishility whatsoever of Landlord which may arise at sny imi under this Lease or any obligation or lisbility which
mazy B incurred by it purseant 1o sny other i L, or und g contemnplated bereby shall not be
pemonally binding upon, nar shall resort for the enforcement thereol be had 1o the property of, its trustces, directors,
sharehalders, officers, empleyers or agents, regardless of whether such obligation or liability is in the nature of
coniract, o, or atherwise,

39, WAIVER OF JURY TRIAL. TENANT AND LANDLORD WAIVE ANY RIGHT TO
TRIAL BY JURY OR TO HAVE A JURY PARTICIPATE IN RESOLVING ANY DISPUTE, WHETHER
SOUNDING IN CONTRACT, TORT, OR OTHERWISE, BETWEEN LANDLORD AND TENANT
ARISING OUT OF THIS LEASE OR ANY OTHER INSTRUMENT, DOCUMENT, OR AGREEMENT
EXECUTED OR DELIVERED IN CONNECTION HEREWITH OR THE TRANSACTIONS RELATED
HERETO.

40, Determination of Charges. Landlord and Tenent agree that each provision of this Lease for
mmmmmmﬁhnﬂmtwﬁ;wvﬁmmhumhm%m
of Taxes &ad Operating Expenses) is comemercially reasonshle and, as 1o each such charge of amount, consiitules a
sicmant of the smount of the chargs or & method by which the churge is 1o be computed for purposes af Section
93,012 of the Texas Property Code,

41, Frohibited Fersoms and T Tenant rep and ts 10 Landlord that Tenant
uunur.]ymnnmpliu-teuﬂh-dsluﬂunllﬁmnduimhLusznmmﬂingwmﬂmnn
rermain in compli with the regulati of the Office of Foreign Asset Control ("OFAC®) of the Department of
mﬂmmmmwmmmr-dmcmcsswmwumummmmjwm
statule, ive order (i mg the 5 i 24, 201, Exocutive Ovder Blocking Property and Prohibiting
mmwmmwmcmmmmmuurwrmlumwgﬁm
relating theretn
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41 Deceptive Trade Practices.  TENANT HEREBY WAIVES ALL ITS RIGHTS UNDER THE
DECEFTIVE TRADE PRACTICES - COMSUMER PROTECTION ACT, SECTION 1741 ET SEQ. OF THE
TEXAS BUSINESS AND COMMERCE CODE, A LAW THAT GIVES CONSUMERS SPECIAL RIGHTS AND
PROTECTIONS. AFTER COMSULTATION WITH AN ATTORNEY OF TENANTS OWN SELECTION,
TENANT VOLUNTARILY CONSENTS TO THIS WAIVER.

43, Geoerntor. Landiord grents to Tenant a license during the Lease Term (the “(engrator License™)
to install, operate, End maintain in = area mutually acceptable to Landlord and Tenan, which area shal] be agains:
the rear of the Building in the portion of the thack court serving the Premises (the *Generator Arca®), a2 Teranrs sole
cost and expense, & B00-| 000 kw generasor fazility, including the assacizted technology, swilchgear and enclosures
reluted thereto (colloctively, the "G ") The location of the Generator shall not i apd amy other tenant’s
use &f or nceess to jis premizes end shall comply with all Legal Requirements and matters of record Al references
to the Premises shall include the Generator Arca. The Generator License includes the right t sonneet to, sccess and
use the relevant electsic vtility facilitics st the Bullding The Generator License is subject 1o the following
condiaons:

(1] Installation of the Generstor is subject w0 the prier writlen upproval of Landlord (which
shall nort be unreasonably withbeld) of the type, size and height of the Generator as well s the manner of installation
of the Genersior (includmg the masner in which any cables are nun betwezn the Generstor and the Building)
Tenamt acknowledges thal Landlord will disspprove the installation of any Genertor (including the initial
installation) i Landlord determines, in its reasonable diseretion, that the installstion or operation of the Genermior
will adversely affect the openstion of any of the Building systcms or the operation of any other equipmment slsewhere
in the Building. Withou! limiting the forcgoing. Landlord may require Tenant to instal] rensonsble decarative
screening mnd fencing srume the Generator,

(b} Tenant shall bear all costs to install, maintin, operate, replace and repadr the Generslor in
compliance with all Legal Requinements, which costs inchude, withou! limitation, (i) any stractural modifications
required to suppont the Generatos, (i) wny screens of other improvements Landiord may reasoeably mequire to
pratect the aesthetic quality of the Building, (jif) any fences that [andlord may reasonshly require for safery reasons,
(v) wy encloswres of other safcty messures required by Legal Roquircments, and (v) the cost of all utilities
consumed in the operation of the Gencrator.

(3] Prior w of installstion, Tenart shell submil to Landlord and obin
Landlord's approval ﬂmmq’urnﬁmfuhumnw_mdwo&wmahnmmﬂhy
Landlord. Landlord's approval of Tenants plans and specifications shall not be deemed & Teprescntation by
Landlord thet the plans and specifications comply with Legal Requs or indunstry , nar is Landlond's
approval IMMNWLMMu[mm&mmmhimummmar&
Generator,

1] Priar 1o of insiallaticn, Termnl, at ils sole cost and expenise, shall obsin
all necessary governmental and regulatory spprovals for the insiallation and wse of the Generalor from each
gavermmenial agency having jurisdiction over the install or uec of the Generaior. Tenuat may not install or
wﬂnﬂmuwmﬁlehnh-'ududelHw!mmdw:ofdlwehummpmumd.
spprovals.

(e} Tenants use of the Generstor shall comply with all Legal Requirements, including
Environmerstal

i All utility lines must be routed, anchored, buried and/or anached in accordance with good
industry practices. The Generstor must be identified with permanently marked, weatherproof tags at the following
locations: (i) prominently on the exterior frame of each piece of the G (i) &t the ion line Building
entry point; and (§if) st the interior wall feed through or amy other wersmission line exit point

[1:4] Tenant shall:
(i) prompily repair, 19 Landiord's reasonably satisfacion, asy damage w the
Building or the adjacent mea caused by the instellation, we, or | of the Generator,
(i) keep and maintsin the G in pood conditicn and repair ot all times;

(i} operale the Generalor only for Tenan's e and beafit;

{iv) take ull necessary mction (including mstallation of addnional jnsulation) to
and sound d

prevent vik hance in the Bulding resulting from the operstion of the Generater: and

v} perform testing of the Genergtor only wpon Landlord's priar written approval
and afier normal business howrs; provided, if Tenant encloses the Generalor and the sourd generated during
the operstion of the Generator docs net disturh any other terant o cccupant of the Project, Tenant may
perform such testing without peior notice to Landlord and dusing normal besiness hows. [F Landlord
receives a notics from any othar tenant or occupant of the Project thal the openation of the Genersrar
disturbs such tenant’s or occupant's use of i premises, Tenant must comply with the limftations set forth
in the begirnimg of this subsection (v)




(k) The installation of the Generator, as wall as all repairs or ahemtions o the Generator, or
replacements of the Generstor, fust be performed by contractons epproved by Landiord in its reasonshbie discretion.

i) Landlord shall have na obligation 1o pravide any services, including, withoet |imitation,
eleetric eurrent, to the Generstor

i U;mﬂunpimmnwmthmﬂmumeuTmhw.
mwmmhEhmmﬂmﬂﬁﬂmtﬂwwﬂumlﬁlgmmmnmh)'
the removal

(k) Terumt has thoroughly inspected the Genemtor Arca end sccepts it in ity "AS-[S”
condition. Landlord makes no, and Tenant waives snd releases Landlerd from any, representations and warmanties
about the candition or suitability of the Generstor Arca or the Building for the installation and operation of the
Genersior,

m Within 30 deys after installation of the Genermior, Tenant, at its eost, shall deliver to
Landlord, either: (i) 2 reproducilble copies of “as-hutile” plars and specifications (1/8° scalel, or (if) “as-buili” plans
and specifications in electronic CAD format reasonably aceeptable to Landlond showing the location of the
(Generator and ali equipment installed in connection therewith,

(m) Provided that Tenso! encloses the Geoeralor and the sound peersted during the
operation of the Genersior doey not disnarh any other Enast or cocupant of the Project, Tenant may operate the
Gmmw:mu!mh‘mwmuhdwmmmm&mﬁhm‘hm
If Landlord 1eceives a notice from any other tenant or occupant of the Project that the operation of the Gencrator
l‘imrhﬂhu:m'ldncn.gml’:mofﬂlmmixgnnwmymlminiuriﬂmuﬂrﬁﬂu-hcﬁm[m]
and shall comply with the provisions of subsection (g)(v) shbove

44, Antenns. Provided that Tenant complies with the terms of this Section 44, Tenant may, at its risk and
expense, install an antenna and related wiring (colectively, the "Aztenna” | on the roof of the Building et 5 location
appraved by Landlord mimmuﬁmw-mm:mmfwnw[mm
lppmﬂlﬂ-lllbemLmdlwd‘:nleﬂiamﬁmlehmhmuﬂ‘:ﬂlh:ﬂulﬁng‘sm::whﬂdlﬂlq‘s
qm)plmndwﬁuﬁmntich(l)mrl&i:“hd&mlumﬁmmnﬂﬁqmoﬂnm
m:z;nmmdﬁwmmwmummwumm-wmwmmm
in sccordance with all Legal Roquirements. 1f Landlord approves of such plans, Tensnt shall ingall (in o pood and
-uhmﬂ:m}mdmmmnmmmmmmmmmmmwmm
permity required for the installetion and operation thereof. copies of all such permits must be submitted o Landiord
before Tenant beging o install the Anterna Tenant shall thereafier mantsin il permits necessary for the
maintenance and operation of the Amtenna while it is on the Building snd operase snd maintain the Anteens in such
& manner 50 as 1ot i ureksorebly interfere with amy other stellite, of other igpion facility on the
Buildimg's roaf or in the Puilding, Landiond may require that Tenant screen the Amtenna with a parapet wall or ather
sereening device acceptable to Landlord. Tenant shall mainiain the Antenna and the screening therefor in good
rephir and condition.  Tenant may only use the Antenms in connaction with Tenants busires Teman: shall oy
dhwwﬂﬁdmmmmqwmmhm.lmwmwum
Tm:hllLllhﬁwcm.mhmmmmmshmdmdm
following events: (A) the kermination of Tenant's right o passoss the Premises; (B) the termination of this Lexse; (€)
|heea:pdmi.mnl‘lhLeu:‘r:m.:rLD)Tm*:mﬁugmmHTmﬁdhudn»,Lmdmm
mummsmuﬁWoltinqummmmmmmmme
TtlllllﬂﬂllﬂmtmﬁfﬂtuniMWLmﬂhmﬂmmn:mq‘lw
Lamdlosd's reques? terefor, Tenant shall repalr any demepe 1o the Building caused by or relating o the Antenna,
including that which is csused by its installafion, mainicnence, use, or removel All work relating to the Antenne
shall, 1 Temant's experaz. be coordinated with Landlond's reofing contractor so a5 not 1o affect ary warrsnty for the
Busiding’s roof

45 Landscaping, Tenani, a1 its sole con and expense, may eiect 10 install sdditional Landscaping in the
existing flower beds bocated directly in froat of the Premiues If Tenam ehocts 1o exercise such right, Tenan! must
m&mnmurm;ummmhzmmummmsuim Landloed
lh]]hml:utlﬂ)hnhmdqsfdhﬁn;ﬂn&kaﬂndhd’:uuipufmmﬁumdunmuhr
Tenant's changes, which approval will nat be bly wit ditioned, or delayed. [ Landlord fadbs to
mpnudl'iﬁinmIﬂManMMWwﬂIRd@:ﬂuMWMmeﬁn Ir
Ludhd-ppmmuhwmhwmwmmﬂmmmhmrmrpdmmw
idectified in the landscaping plan &t its sole cost In addition 1o the cost of the installation of the landszaping
installed by Tenant, Tenant shall b responsible for all casts refated o the maimenance snd replacement of the sums,
If Landlond incurs eny sdditional costs rolaied to such {ineluding &y incresse in Operating Expenses),
Tmmw‘.llr&mmundmmwmwuimuwuumpmmmmmw.




IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Landlord and Teoast have executed this Lesse ay of the day and yesr first
writlen.

TENANT:
MANNATECH, INCORPORATED,
s A¥Yr¥{  coporation

By:
Name:

Tile:  4f_frgBaL RfBsuAlS
LANDLORD:

SC0 LAKESIDE COMMERCE CENTER, L.P.,
& Teoxas lirsited parmership

By:  SCG Dallas Core Industrial GF, LLC,
& Delwware Heited Hability company,

. Mt

ame:  Sel
Tile: oo President

=
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ADDENDUM 1
BASE RENT ADITSTMENTS
ATTACHED TO AND A PART OF THE LEASE AGREEMENT
DATED 2017, BETWEEN
SCG LARESIDE COMMERCE CENTER, L P.
&nd
MANNATECH, INCORPORATED

Bass Rent shall equal the following amoums for the respective pariods s=1 forth below.

Periodd Idorahly Base Remt

1 through ] 50,00

s tarough 16 $36,432.00
17 through 2 53734280
% themugh 40 $38,276.37
1 through 52 39,233 28
53 through 6 $40.214.11
&5 through % $41,219.45
7 through ] $42.249.95
& through 100 $43,306.20
101 through 2 544,388 86
] through 124 $45 498,58




ADDENTHM 2
HYAC MAINTENANCE CONTRACT

ATTACHED TO AND A PART OF THE LEASE AGREEMENT
DATED 2017, BETWEIN
506 LAKESIDE COMMERCE CENTER, L P.

and
MANNATECH. INCORPORATED
Pamgreph 11, captioned *TENANT REPAIRS,” is revised 1o include the following:

ﬁmuqnuhmwhm-ﬂmﬁnhmmﬁiuwmﬂﬁﬂumnmmmyﬁﬂuﬁ
prevenistive mainienance/service conwact for servicing all hot watcr, heating and air conditioning systems and
cquipment serving the Premises. Landiord requires a qualified HVAC perform this work. A first year
arnus] maintenancs agreement must be provided 1o the Landlord upon occupancy of the leassd Premises.

Thumummmmuhmmu&mwMﬁhm@umﬁpMnanJMuMuﬁmmmh
nﬂmdmawmmﬂmnImmﬂmmmtuhmumdMWMMuMm|¢m&“NE
COniractof i be asvured that these itema are ineludsd in the maintenance corrac

Adjust belt tension;

Lubricate all maving parts, s necessary,

Iospecs and udjust all tempemature end safety contols
Check refrigeration system for lsaks a5 operation;
Check reffigeration system for maisture;

Inzpact compressar oll leve! and crank case heasers,
Check head BUCHion | and gl
Inspe<t air filters and replace when necessary,
Check space conditions;

10 Cheek condensale drsins and drain pars and clean, il necessasy
15 Tnapect and adjist all valves;

12 Check and adjur dampers;

13 Run machine through complete eycle.

B e

v




ADDENDUM 3
MOVE-OUT CONDITIONS

ATTACHED TO AND A PART OF THE LEASE AGREEMENT
DATED . 2017, BETWEEN
SCG LAKESIDE COMMERCE CENTER, L F.
and

MANNATECH, INCORPORATED

With respeet to Paragraph 21 of the Lease, Tenam shall surrender the Premises in the same condibion a5 received,
ﬂ&ﬁymﬂm.mmm'swﬁmmuminm 12, mnd condemnaticn
covered by Parngmphs 15 and 16 excepted.

&mmhmmdﬂmumufmmmmmmuum
aherations or additions (o the Premises made by Tenant &5 may be specified for removal theseof, 1 Tensmt fails 1o
remove its Personal Property and fixtures upon the expination or carlier of this Lease, the same shall be
decmed abandoned and shall become the property of the Landlond The following list is designed to assist Tenact in
the move-out procedures bul is not intended to be all inclusive:

1. Lights-

Office, warehouse, emergency and exit lights will be fully
opcrational with all bulbs and ballasts functioning.

2 Dock Levelers, Service Doors
and Roll Uip Doors: Mmdm!s,nwmdwnlmlupmmmmh{s

operation.  All door panels which are replaced need to be

paioied to match the building stendand

3 Dock SealsDock Bumpers Free of tears and broken backboards repaired Al dock
banpers must be left in place and well secured,

4. Structural Colurmrs: All | steel col in the aeul office shall

be inspected for demage IF required, repaurs of this nature
should be pro-approved by Landlord prior to implementasion

5 Warehouse Floor: Free of wains and swept with no racking bols and other
protrusions lefl in floor Cracks resubting from the negligence
of the Tenant should be repaired with an epoxy or polymer 1o
match concrete color, All floer streping in the Premises shall
be removed with no residual swining or other indication that

& Tenani-Insalled
Equipment and Winng. Removed and space tumed w0 ordgioal condition when
wriginally leased  (Remove air lines, junction boxes, conduit,
cabling, security systema, eic.)

T Walls: Sheetreck (drywall) damage should be patched and fire-taped
50 that there ase no holés in either office or warchouse,

1. Carpet and Tile: The camet and vinyl tiles should be in a clean condition aad
thould not have eny holles or chips in them.  Landlord will
accept normal wear on these items provided they appear to be
in & medmaied condition.

9, Roof: Any Temant-installed equipment mun be remsoved and rool
I property repaired by leensed roofing contractor,
Active leaks related to any Tenant installed equipment or work
performed by Tenart must be fixed mnd luest Landlond
malrenance and repairs rocommendstion mist have been
followed. Tenant must check with Landiords property
manager 1o determine if specific roofing contractor is requEred

o perfarm work.
0. Signs: All exterior signs must be removed and hobes pasched and
paint fouched-up ss mecessary. Al window signs should
likewize be removed. .
11, Heating and Air
Conditioning System: Heating/air conditioning systems should be placed in good

working order, including the mecessary replacerent of ary
PaNS Lo retum. the unif to 8 well maintained condition. This
inchudes wirchouse heaters and exhaast fans, Upon move owt,

-0 -
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15.

Electrical & Plumbing;

Overall Cleanliness:

Upon Completion:

Lendlord will kave an exit inspection performed by a certified
mechanical comtrctor 1o detemmine the condition.

Al eloctrical and plumbing cquipment to be reumad in good
cordition and repair and coaformng 1o the code requinements
at the time of installaton  Tenant shall not be requited to
bring existing or current conditions up 5 the current code st
tme of iermination.

cmmwmmummw
remove amy and all debms from office asd wanshouse
Remove alli pallets and debwis from exterior of Premisss. Al
wade fiocures, dumpdters, mcking, trash, vending machines
#nd other personal property o be removed.

Contact Landlond's property ger 10 coondinete tuming in
of keys, wility changeover and obtaining of firal Landlord
irgpection of Premises which, in tam, will facilitate refind of
Seurity Deposit.
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EXHIBIT A

ATTACHED TO AND A PART OF THE LEASE AGREEMENT
DATED 2017, BETWEEN
SCG LAKESIDE COMMERCE CENTER, L P

and
MANNATECH, INCORPORATED

e




EXHIBIT B
PROJECT RULES AND REGULATIONS

ATTACHED TO AND A PART OF THE LEASE AGREEMENT

DATED 2017, BETWEEN
500 LAKESIDE COMMERCE CENTER, L.F,

and
MANNATECH, INCORPORATED
Rules and Regulgijons

Thie sidewalk, entries, and drivewiys of the Project shall not be chatracted by Tenant, or its agends, or wsed
by them for mmy purpose othes than ingress and egress to usd from the Premises.

Except as otherwise provided in the Lease, Tenant shall not place any ohjects, including antennas, eutdoor
fiumiture, etc., in the parking arcas, landscaped aneas or other areas outside of its Premises, or en the roof of
the Frojeet, provided that Tenant kas the right to establish » smolding srea as design by Landlord.

Except for seeing-cye dogs, no arimals shall be allowed in the cffices, halls, or corridors in the Project.

Tenant shall nol disturb the occupants of the Profect or adjoining buildings by the wse of ary radio or
musical instrument or by the making of loud or improper nodses

If Tenant desires telegraphic, telephonic or other electric ions in the Premdses, Landlord or its agent
will direct the electrician 3 1o where and bow the wires may be irtroduced; and, withou! such direction, no
baving or euting of wires will be permitted.  Amy such installstion or connection shall be made al Tenant's
ERpENSE.

Tenant shall not ingiall or cperate any stear or gas engine or boiler, or other mechanical apparatus in the
Premises, except a= specifically sppecwed m the Lease The use of oil, gas ar inflammable Liquids for
heating, lighting or any other purposs is expresly prohibited.  Baplosives or other artieles dsermed extra
bampricus shall not be Brought into the Project Tenam, for its reascusble e of lsb, mey also use
jwdimthWanﬁcddqu-ﬂmummhmd
sterilization of lsh squipment, which will be siored in spproved fire, acid, and or base cabineds.

Purking any type of recreational vehicles is specifically prohwbited on or sbaut the Project Fusther, paking
any type of trucks, trailers or other vehicles in the Building is specifically prohitited. 1n the even: thet &
vehiclo is disabled, it shall be removed within 48 hours. There shall be no “For Sale” or other advertising
wgns on or about ey parked vehicle. All vehucles shall be parked in the designated parking areas in
conformity with all signs and other markings. All parking will be open parking, and no reserved parking,
numbering or leltzrng of individusl spaces will be pormittad except as specified by Landlord or in the
Leaxe.

Tensnt shall maintain the Premises free from rodents, insects and other pests.

melhﬁmuuﬂm«mﬂfmhwmm'mmmﬁjwﬂ
Landlord, is intaxicated or under the influence of liquor or drugs or whe shall in amy manner do agy ac in
violation of the Rules and Regulstions of the Project

Tenani shall not cause amy unnecessary labor by reason of Tenanfs carclessness or indifference in the
preservation of good order and cleanliness. Landiord shall not be resporsible to Tenant for any loss of
mm&ﬂmﬁ;hmmmﬁwfmwhmhhhxﬂhﬁsdrmww
employes or other person, except ceused by Landbond's gross negligence or willful misconduct of thar of its
employees and agents.

Tenant shall give Landlord prompt notice of any defects in the water, lawn sprinkler, sewlge, gat pipes,
electrical lights and fixtures, heating apparatus, or any other service cquipmet affecting the Premises.

Tenunt shall not permit sorege cutside the Premises, or dumping of waste or refuss or permit any harmifl
matesials to be placed in any dreirage system or sanitary sysiem in or shout the Premises

ulmmm;mdwhm&wrmmummummm
trash enclosurs erews, if any, provided for thit purpose.

No auction, public or private, will be permined on the Premises or the Project.

Mo awnings shall be placed over the windows in the Promises except with the pricr written consent of
Landiord

msh'm-}nnmhundrurlnd.puﬂﬂnumtufuoEM|nunﬂmﬂ:m ot for any

immacsl of illegal purpises of for any purpose other than that spocified in the Lease. No gamirg cevices
shiall be opernzied in the Premises.
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Tnmﬂdlumﬁnﬁmmmmmmurm“wmhmamy be used
inmchmhes,mqimmkqﬂmdm-wmuhumhmwnmu
hmduhmmwmmmmmmmu. Landlord's consent 10 the
mmﬂmﬂmwlmmmﬂmhwmmhmmﬂmq
than such safe capacity,

Tenant as full responsibility for p tng the Prefees from thefl, robbery and pilferge.

Tenani shall not inviall or operate on the Premises sny machinery or mechamical deviges of a narwee ot
directly related o Tenant's ordinary use of the Preemises and shall keep all such muchinery free of wibmtion,
moise and adr wisves which may be trensmitted beyond the Premises.

Tenam shall not permit smoking i the office arcas of the Premiscs.

No rucking or storage shall occar within 12-inches of demnising wally, office and warehouse SEPATETION
walls, extenior walls, and columna,

No sign, placand, picture, adverisement, name or notice (collsctively referred 1o as "Signs") shall be
muunwmmq-pmdumauwmm“mummmwmxm
Landlord which consent shall be in Landiosd's sole discretion. All upproved Signs shall be printed, painied,
dfmdulnwhd-tﬁunﬁnpenubyapmma\uﬂwammdhuﬂm{ﬂdﬂulhurmuu
wimuTmrumwvuiv.NMrunx Landiard shall have the right to remove any
Sign instelled o displayed in violstion of this rube at Tenant's experme and withsut notice

Tenamt shall not permit any motor veliicles w be washed or mechanical work or maimenance of mator
wehicles 10 be performed on any portion of the Premises or pariing lot

-




EXHIBIT
FORM OF COMMENCEMENT DATE CERTIFICATE
ATTACHED TO AND A PART OF THE LEASE AGREEMENT
DATED — . 2017, BETWEEN
SCG LAKESIDE COMMERCE CENTER, LB
s
MANNATECH, INCORPORATED

Noice Comact Name:
Name

Notice Street Addiess

City, Stale Zip Code

RE: Lease dured Date between Customer & Owner for Premises Address

Deear Salwation Notice Contact Last Name:

Weleome to yous new facality. We would like to confirm the terms of the shove referenced lease sgreement:
Lease Commencement Dale: Daze

Lease Expirntion Date: Dae

Rental Commencement Date: Daic

We mre pleased to weloome you as & custormer and lock forward to working with you Please indicase your
agrecement with the above changes to your lease by signing and reteming the enclossd copy of this lotter to me. [f]
can be of service, please do not hesitbe 0 contact me,

Sincerety,

Property Mansger Name
Tite

Accepied by:  Accepied by Date:  Dabe

Title:




EXHIBIT D
WORK LETTER
ATTACHED TO AND A PART OF THE LEASE AGREEMENT
DATED 5 » M17, RETWEEN
5CG LAKESIDE COMMERCE CENTER, L.F.
and
MANNATECH, INCORPORATED

1 Acgepiance of Premises. Except as set forth in this Exhibit, Tenant sceepts the Premises in their
“AS-IS" condition on the dae that this Lease is entered iago

z Space Plans.

(8} Prepagvion and Delivery. On or before the tenth { 10%) business day following the date of
lhlLﬂu(ﬁ:'SpuaPhuDﬁqu'LTdediwnwupn:plmmbndnip
consul y scceptible to Landlord (the "Architect”) depicting imyp o be insulied in the
Premises (the “Space Plars®). Landlord approves Bensan Hlavaty Architects (Bha Architeets) as the Anchitect

{b) Approve! Process, Landlord shall notify Tenant whether it approves of the submitied
Space Plans witkn five business days after Tenant's subralssion thereaf. I Landlord disapproves of such Space
nm.nmt,ummmmrmmrmzmmmwmmrummmm
w’hil:hm'rmdnll.wl:biu!‘mhlﬁnﬂsdwlmmmﬁ.nvmmsmﬁnhmm
Landlord's objections and submit to Landlord for its review and approval Landloed shall notify Tenant in wriling
whhimmdmmmwmmthﬁwhuimduuﬂnhmﬁnﬂﬂw{ This process
shull be repeated untl the Space Plans have bean finally spproved by Landiord and Tenant If Landlosd fily i
mofify Tenant tha: it disapproves of the initia] Space Plare within five business diys {or, in the case of resubminsd
Space Placs, within five busioess deys) after e submission thereof, then Landlord shall be deemed to bave
approved the Space Plans in question

3. Workle Drewinn

(®  Preomeson snd Delivery  On or befors the aincticth (%0%) day following the dre on
m&smmﬂwmmw;wwamuﬂ:"wmmm
mwmwmmeMlmuLﬂwdhinw&Lwﬁummhh
Architeet, of all improvemens that Tenent proposes to install in the Premises; such working drawings shall include
ﬂ:w‘h’ﬁmIu)'ml.cﬁliuhuhﬂﬂlmkﬁﬂmﬁh&hmmmmwmqumﬁmu
the mechamical and plumbi of the Build and detailed plans and specifications for the construstion of
mwmmmrmﬁsMMhWﬁmmwiemmmm

(k) Approval Procesy Landlord shall notify Tenant whether it approves of the suberitted
working drawings within ten business days after Tensnts submission thereof. If Landlond disepproves of sach
working drawings, then Landlord shall notify Tenant thereof specifying in reasonable detxil the reasens for such
d:'nppl-mll.inmmm'rmmmﬁmeMlmﬂnﬂMMwmmumm
socordance with Landlord's objections and submil the revised warking drawangs in Landlord for its review and
approval  Landlord shall notify Teoant in writing whether it spproves. of the resubimi warking drawings within
five business duys afier its receipt thereof, Mpmahﬂlbemaduﬁlhwmrgdrnivhlum
firally approved by Tenant and Landlond. Ifmﬂfﬁhhmfrlmumnﬁmmdﬂnimidwrﬂu
drawings within ton business days (or, in the case of resubminied working drawings, within five business days) afier
1l|ctulmiuiuﬂwﬁmmﬂmlhdﬂmnhﬁmmvdu:miqtlﬁmmm

(c) W IF ey of Tenenfs proposed construction
wwkwilllﬁﬂhhﬁldiu’imamm'ﬁflmmhuﬂmwmﬁum
i be appeaved by the Building's engineer of record, Landlord’s apprevel of sech working drawings shall not be
uﬂlﬂmﬂjh&&lﬂ_mﬂdﬂﬂ[l}mmMqllmwmﬂjhwmmﬂ
lbtmnhmdmﬂrn&nﬁnlmwmﬁmﬁrmﬂﬂsmmhww
m(mh@hhﬂ&nﬂmumﬂ-ﬂﬂm}n&mﬁmwoﬂhmwmuh
appoarmnce of the Buldings common areas, (3)such working drawings s sufficiently detailed to allow
mﬁﬂimhlwﬂmhzmrm{l}mimmdm
cocfiorm to the rules and regulations promulgated from time fo time by Landlord for the construction of tenast
imperovemenss (& copy of which has besn delivered to Tenant) As used herein, "Working Drawings” means the
ﬁrﬂmmdnmmmbyLﬂlmnmmmmﬁnhmupmwﬂwmw
'Waﬂr‘ﬂmﬂl:mmwhwhmﬁmlndqmﬁmndmmwmmwian
wMlhI.Ijlm&mﬂdwmmﬁulnhﬂnﬂemmwﬁmﬂﬁjwudmhﬁ
the improvements indicated by the Working Drawinga. Landlord's approval of the Working Drwings shall not be &
m:mdwumm&pmmueﬁrwmwmhuiﬁwugﬂ
Requircments, but shall merely be the consert of Lendlord therets, Tenant shall, at Landlord's request, sign the
Warking Drawings to evidence its review and approval thereof. Afer the Waorking Drewings bsve been approved,
TwiMmthmtwhpdmndhmmﬁmmtwuﬁqus. In eddition, upen
Landloed's wmurduwm;m-immmmmmmmnruwmrmmw
remove upon the expiration or earlier termination of this | ease.
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wmmhm-mmmummmm-uym. Certificates of sueh inswance must be
received by Landlond before the Work i commenced, The Wiork shall e performed in & good and workmaslike
mﬁuaﬂermﬂulmmmuw«auw-ﬂmhmmm-m
and ot such times a5 and not io interfere with or delay L s other %, the ion. of the Building,
and the occupancy thereof by ather fenants, MW&kMIhmMmmlud.m,bnmc
I'u-umuﬁguwmwﬁu&wmmbmﬁﬁmuﬁmmmmhmwm
MM|umﬁuﬂemmmmanmmhqmnrm.mmrw
sk P g work m on with the Building's structure, the Bulding's roof, or the fire and life
safety sysicms serving the Building

(a) Tenanfs Cenernd Coniracsor.  Temant shall enter into & construchion comtract with o
mmwgumdmtmmmwmmmwsmmhmwmm
conditioned of delayed if such contracior complies with Landlord's i in a fiorm ]
TmmmmutfwuwWuﬁs,whxhduﬂmh-mmnmﬁiﬂmnﬂmwimimdwﬁcfw.
mgdhuﬂnnp,{l]amquwfwﬂmwmtmuwmfmcmh

arvta o in lisbitiry § nlmhﬁmlmﬁmdswchm:ulﬂ.ﬂ]ﬂ.mm
Landlerd, L 5 property company, Landlord's siset menagement compeny, Landlonds
merigagee, Tenant, and each of their respective affiliates as addits i ds; (3) 4 req wnl that the o
wfumlﬂ:WﬂwmmmﬂnSmHm-ﬂthﬁngmmem;wud
wirkmanlike manner, (4) 2 requi thit the contraclor is responsible for daily clesnup work and final clean up
Undnﬁtwuﬂ'd:hil&:w{ﬂmimhﬂhwi{b}(ﬁﬂkﬂﬂmh'ﬁmﬂﬂrﬁ'}.
Allw:q"kinvdwdhmcmmmﬂmd‘hw«tmhmmh?m':mmd:r
d:mludimuwnmeinm-plincw{ﬂu]tmililsnhﬂ lations and Logal Reqgud od in
um-mmumm{l}muwimmuim“dhmbhnanmmwmﬁmﬂ
lhal'rqjeubymmsjnmmwuwmdwmamwsmgrmﬁlﬂdiq'urm. Tenant
ﬂullnauinﬁnmiuwmmnd;pm-hdemIaﬂlﬂdllaardm-ﬂmmmm«mmiu
cannection with any portion of the Wosk prior o commencement of the Work Tenant shall be responsible o enmane
Mm%wwﬁmm“&ﬁmurhw«*mﬂnmwllhﬂ:ll.q:lllq-’mn.inchding
wupmmwmawmqrwmqwujmmﬂmwm
respect to, such Work

{b) All Construction Contracts, Unhnmlwdiuwriﬁnshrl-mdhdldTm_
mﬂhw:mmummmid:a hedule snd af ion activities and
wmmywemm,mumummmmmmuwm
(3) require the ar and each sub 0 name Landlord, Landlond's properly maragement compary,
Lendlond's asst maragement company, and Tenant sa wokdicional insured on such conractor's insurance mamntained
in ion with the | ncrll}mwm-k,{l-]bnmﬁmmlwi\guﬁv:mnlﬂtﬂhltby']‘uuiuadu
H:Luuhwﬂdndhdmwmm[!)mnm-wmlhnllwhnmd\i;:
and materials

& Chamge Opdepy  Tenam may initiate changes in the Work. Each such changs must receive the
mwﬁmmmorlﬂm.mmﬂmthhm}rﬁdﬂwh canditioned or delayed,
hm-w:r.Jmhmwmmwmehmmdjmwfmwnﬂh
Buildings structure or the Buildings systerms [inchuding the Building's restrooms o7 mechanical rooms), (b) the
exiernn appearance of the Huimw(cjhmmurw&ilﬁ'&mmmwmdm wilhhold
its vonsent in ita sale and absalule discretion. Tenant shall, upon completion of the Wark, furmish Landlord with an
mn-.l-uimurﬂ'&bmlt'{u—hjudﬂ:bed:ﬁmdu-mmbﬂuuwwnImum]ph
armwm-mmmmmhmmm:mmwmmmmmm If
Tenant requests sy changes 1o the Work described in the Space Plans or the Working Drewings, then such
hmdmﬂw%ﬂhmm@dhmhﬂtmmmdmmhm
shalll be added 10 the Total Constreciion Costs,

7 Defloitions.  As used hercin “Substantia) Completion,” "Substntially Cosrp d," and eny
derivations thereo! mean the Work in the Premises is sub ndly pleied (as ibiy by the
Architect) in stzordance with the Working Dmwings. Subsuantial Completion shall have occurred even though
ﬁmmhdmmmMnHmnhmwwmmmmmhmm

3 Excess Costy. Tenant mey apply the Construction Allowssee (bereinafler defined) agains the
Twﬂmmmmcmwaﬁﬂ]hmﬁmihmﬁmdmm The Total
(‘mmhmmﬂmm Allpwance shall be pasd by Tenanl Llpunwanfﬂ!_\ﬁ'ming

drawings ard itemizes the Total Construction Costs and sets forth the Construstion Allgwance The term “Toal
Congtruction Costs™ means the total cost of performing the Work, including design of and tpace planning for the
Werk and preparation of the Working Drawings snd the final "as-buili® plan of the Work. costs of construction labos
and materials, project management services, Landiond's conmruction mansgement fee payable pursuam o Scction
11, moving expenses (not o exceed $15,000.00), cabling and security systems, additional janitonal services, genem!
tenant signage, related taxes end insurance costs, licenses, permits, certifications, swrveys and other approvals
required by Legal Requirements.
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5, Walk-Through; Punchilst When Tenant considers the Wtk in the Premiscs to be Subscansially
Completed, Tenant will potify Landlond and within five business days thereafier, Landlord's repesentative and
rm-mmm.mu-mﬂwmmm“mm_m
repairs and minor completion iterns that are necsssary for final completion of the Woek  Neither Landlords
representative nor Tenart's repr ive shall y withwld hig or her agreement on punchlist fems,
Tenani shall usc reasonable effors to cause the contrackor performing the Work o complete all panchlist items
within 30 days after agreement thereon.

10 Allowange

{z) Constroction Allgwanee. Landlond shall provide to Tenant a construction allowance of
!-lsonpumlﬂ:qum&mhﬂth“[h'mmhmjwkwﬁﬁnmnrm
Censtroction Costs, as adyusted for any changes to the Wark. Landlord shall pay 1o Tonent or the Tenant's general
contractar the C Al i rdriple disb ts (bt not more than ence in any calendar month)
follawing the receipt by Landlond of the following items: (&) & request for payment, (b) final or partial lien waivers,
aﬂummhmdlmmm“mwfmmfwkwm,ﬁmy
execued, ecknowledped and in recondable form, and () the Architects centification tha the Work for which
mmwmwummmm,m(ﬁmmummwnﬁnm
plmmmlﬂmmliilimmmwmrm«mﬁ&mwwmm:mﬂm
mw&ﬁﬁwdhm%dhmﬂh«mmhmmﬁﬁn&ﬁ
ucwpn-ymm‘lhehmtz}Tmmihhmmu)aelmofH:Mim a5
wlfmmnmumm;uﬂrw&-m}hhdwamwﬁuwﬁm[mrm
mlu(J}mmﬂmﬁmmmmmumumlwm
feasonably request (collectively, 2 “Completsd Applicaion for Paymert™), Landiord shall pey the amount requested
hhwmtmndhwinimhh:mwrmefmnmmmwuimjnm:hg-;
following Tenant's submission of the Completed Application for Puyment. If, hewever, the Completed A pplication
mmmnmmummmmmmmmﬁmﬁwmmnrw:wm
nflhcimnmpku[:uq:hudﬁgﬁkﬁmh?mﬂhﬂmﬂ‘:wﬂmﬁmﬂdﬂlhm
wﬁliSMsMWm;ﬂﬁhwamnmhMM Following applicstion of the
wammmquMMMrm(www:m
WNW}hmwwﬂmTﬂmmmmmdMWm
Allowance, Hﬂﬂmm»m:mm-ﬂiuMMLMMMmhwmm
maket any dhisk of the C ion Allowance during the pendency of any of the following: (4) Landlord
hass received writicn notice of amy unpaid claims relating w0 any portion of the Work or materials in connection
mmm:mwnmuw&mﬁnﬁmmhmmumhmwm
outstanding against the Bullding or the Premises or Tenst's interest therein by reason of work done, or claimed 1o
lncb-a-mdnhe.wmiﬂusmﬂbﬂwq«ﬁcﬂ&h&iﬂcﬁkﬂmhhmmﬂnﬁummﬂy
[Ibdu!ﬂd,IﬂnrrurTMorrdn?rmi:u.:C}uh:wudﬁnmmhdmdhmmumhwmnm
satisfied, or ([3) an Event of Default by Teoant cxists, The Constnction Allowance mus: be used (that is, the Work
mhmumwmmcﬂmmtwmmmmmmmmmmh
cmmthuwmn:mmnuuhmmmmqmmmmmm

(L] Adgjvionsl Allowance. I the cost of the Work exceeds the Consruction Allowsnce, then
T-:n-uw.pduummnfthtmmuLmdhmmhcﬂ-mmmmb,u
lnmulalﬂumm.uplnmummol'ﬂz.sopumleqmwmuhmmmmmmh
imcrease being the "Additional Allewance”) If Terant timely reg the in the Construction All !
mmmmwmnmmammummwmwhuummﬁ. Lasdlord
shall prepare, and Landlord and Tenant shall proreptly excecute and iver, i amendment o this Lease increasing
the Base Rent by the amount peeded 1o ize the Additi Al over the Lease Term st 8% per annum,
with the i d payméents cor ing with the first Base Rem payment due under this Lease

1. Chervight and Coordisation Landlord or its affiliste or agent shall supervise the Work and
coordinale the relstionship between the Work, the Building and the Building’s sysems. In comsiderstion for
Landlend's corstruction supervision unh;?mmhnnmlmm;mnﬁnnmiuﬂmmm
pemcent (1) of the total amount of the construction contract between Tenant and its general contractor should
Tenant elesct b hire Jones Lang LaSalle to handle constrction mANSEEmEn! in connection with the Wrk, and, if
Tenant does not elect to hire Jones Lang LaSalle to perform such construction maragement services, Tenant shall
pay to Lendlord a supervision fee equal to three percent (3%) of the total amount of the comstuction commast
between Tenant and its gener! contractor,

12 Langlord's Work Landlord, a1 its sole cost and expense, will (8) deliver the mechanica),
:bcuinll,plmmde\'nCmmul}:hmimhpdnvltingud:ruﬁ[b}cmn\ﬂwmn
be construcicd & demising wall 10 demise the Premises from the inder of the Building. wsing Building.
materials.




EXHIBIT E
RENEWAL OFTION

ATTACHED TO AND A PART OF THE LEASE AGREEMENT
DATED - 2017, BETWEEN
506G LAKESIDE COMMERCE CENTER, L P.
and

MANNATECH, INCORPORATED

WMEdelmmmrmawmwmrmﬂumurm
armnn.Tmmqmwmmﬁrmuﬁnlmﬂﬁuwymwm“mmmh
tmm'.l:ﬂuld'ml.mdlul‘-'lﬂmlhmmlﬂilllmhwhﬂmﬁkmmmumm
of the Lease Term. mmmmhmmmum“mmmﬂmmnmm
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mnmmummmmmmqnunmuinmu:numu
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(a) Base Rent shall be adjusted to the Prevailing Reatal Raie,

1] Tenant shall have o further remawal option unless expressly granted by Landloed in

(3] Luﬂhdsulhmurmmhmmmmmﬁmudlmﬂw
ah.l]nmpmmwmmmmm;‘mmﬂhm,mﬁmﬂm“wm}
or other tenent inducements, pm,wmuhwumunnlmimummmmm
Pmﬂmwm.mmmmwmmummmm

If Tenami rejects Landlord's determination of the FPrevaaling Rental Rate, or fails o timely notify Lendlord in
wiiting that Tenant accepts or rejects Landlosd's desermination of the Prevailing Rents) Rate, time bemng of the essence
with respect theretn, Tenants rights under this Exhibit shall tenmimsie and Tecsnt shall have no right to renew this
Leme.

Tenanfs rights under this Exhibit shall wrminace if (1) tis Leuste or Tenanfs right to possession of the
Mmhmmemnrﬂﬂlhmhu&Immm;m portion of the Prermises, or
{3)Tenani falls o timely exervise ity option under this ExlsbiL, tire being of the ewence with respect 10 Tenant's
exercise thereaf

«29.




EXHIBITF
FORM OF SNDA
ATTACHED TO AND A PART OF THE LEASE AGREEMENT
DATED .. 2017, BETWEEN
SCG6 LAKESIDE COMMERCE CENTER, L P

and
MANNATECH, INCORPORATED
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EXHIBIT G
FLAG AREA
ATTACHED TO AND A PART OF THE LEASE AGREEMENT
DATED 2017, BETWEEN
SCG LAKESIDE COMMERCE CENTER, LP
and
MANNATECH, INCORPORATED

/O
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EXHIBITH
TRUCK COURT
ATTACHED TO AND A PART OF THE LEASE AGREEMENT
DATED . 2017, BETWEEN
$CG LAKFSIDE COMMERCE CENTER, L P.

end
MANNATECH, INCORPORATED

|

i L]
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List of Subsidiaries

The Company has these wholly-owned subsidiaries located throughout the world, as follows:

1.Mannatech Australia Pty Limited

2 Mannatech Japan, G.K.

3 Mannatech Korea, Ltd.

4 Mannatech Limited (a New Zealand Company)
5.Mannatech Limited (a UK Company)
6.Mannatech Taiwan Corporation

7.Mannatech Payment Services Incorporated
8.Mannatech Products Company Inc.

9.Internet Health Group, Inc.

10.Mannatech (International) Limited
11.Mannatech, Incorporated Malaysia Sdn. Bhd.
12.Mannatech Singapore Pte. Ltd.
13.Mannatech Canada Corporation
14.Mannatech South Africa (Pty) Ltd
15.Mannatech Bermuda Holdings Limited
16.Mannatech Denmark ApS

17.Mannatech (Gibraltar) Holdings Limited
18.Mannatech Swiss Holdings GmbH
19.Mannatech Swiss International GmbH
20.Mannatech Malaysia Trading Co. Sdn. Bhd.
21.Mannatech Norge A/S

22 Mannatech Sverige AB

23 MTEX Mexico SRL CV

24 MTEX Mexico Services SRL CV

25 .Mannatech Cyprus Limited

26.Mannatech Ukraine LLC

27.MTEX Hong Kong Limited

28.Mannatech Colombia SAS

29 .Mannatech RUS Ltd.

30.Meitai Daily Necessity & Health Products Co., Ltd.
31.Meitai Daily Necessity & Health Products Co., Ltd. Guangzhou Branch

Exhibit 21



Exhibit 23.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Mannatech, Incorporated
Flower Mound, Texas

We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements on Form S8 (Nos. 333-72767, 333-77227, 333-94519, 333-47752, 333-

113975, 333-153199, 333-182676, 333-197400 and 33-220539) and Form S-3 (No. 333-169774) of Mannatech, Incorporated and Subsidiaries of our report
dated March 26,2018, relating to the consolidated financial statements and financial statement schedule, which appears in this Form 10-K.

BDO USA, LLP
Dallas, TX

March 26,2018



Exhibit31.1

CERTIFICATION
PURSUANT TO 17 CFR 240.13a-14
PROMULGATED UNDER
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Alfredo Bala, certify that:

1. Thave reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Mannatech, Incorporated;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(¢) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-
15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision,
to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within
those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely
to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: March 26,2018

/s/ Alfredo Bala

Alfredo Bala

Chief Executive Officer
(principal executive officer)




Exhibit31.2

CERTIFICATION
PURSUANT TO 17 CFR 240.13a-14
PROMULGATED UNDER
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, David A. Johnson, certify that:

1. Thave reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Mannatech, Incorporated;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-
15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision,
to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within
those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely
to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: March 26,2018

/s/ David A. Johnson
David A. Johnson

Chief Financial Officer
(principal financial officer)




Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Mannatech, Incorporated (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the period ending December 31,2017 as filed with

the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Alfredo Bala, Chief Executive Officer of the Company, hereby certify, pursuant
to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act 02002, that:

1.

The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
2.

The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date: March 26,2018

/s/ Alfiredo Bala
Alfredo Bala
Chief Executive Officer

(principal executive officer)

A SIGNED ORIGINAL OF THIS WRITTEN STATEMENT REQUIRED BY SECTION 906 HAS BEEN PROVIDED TO MANNATECH, INCORPORATED
AND FURNISHED TO THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION OR ITS STAFF UPON REQUEST.



Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Mannatech, Incorporated (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the period ending December 31,2017 as filed with

the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, David A. Johnson, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, hereby certify,
pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act 0£2002, that:

1.
2.

The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date: March 26,2018

/s/ David A. Johnson
David A. Johnson
Chief Financial Officer

(principal financial officer)

A SIGNED ORIGINAL OF THIS WRITTEN STATEMENT REQUIRED BY SECTION 906 HAS BEEN PROVIDED TO MANNATECH, INCORPORATED
AND FURNISHED TO THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION OR ITS STAFF UPON REQUEST.



MANNATECH, INCORPORATED AND SUBSIDIARIES
SCHEDULE II — VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS

(in thousands)

Exhibit 99.1

Additions
Balance at Charged to Charged to
Beginning of Costs and other Balance at
Year Expenses Accounts Deductions End of Year
Year Ended December 31,2016
Deducted from asset accounts:
Allowance for doubtful accounts $ 261 562 — 360) § 463
Allowance for obsolete inventories $ 1,265 343 — 1,227) % 381
Valuation allowance for deferred tax assets $ 9,028 463 — (1,033) $ 8,458
Included in accrued expenses:
Reserve for sales returns $ 147 1,334 — (1,352) § 129
Year Ended December 31,2017
Deducted from asset accounts:
Allowance for doubtful accounts $ 463 351 — (232) § 582
Allowance for obsolete inventories $ 381 714 — (529) § 566
Valuation allowance for deferred tax assets $ 8,458 3,549 — 571) % 11,436
Included in accrued expenses:
Reserve for sales returns $ 129 1,277 — (1,289) §$ 117
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